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SCOPE AND BOUNDARY
The integrated annual report (report) for 2020 includes the oper-
ations of Spanjaard Limited and its subsidiaries (the Company, 
the Group or Spanjaard). The information in this report covers 
the financial and non-financial performance of the Company for 
the year ended 29 February 2020, and where it is relevant, to  
include information post year-end, this has been incorporated 
and noted.

Spanjaard has endeavoured to improve on its disclosures in this 
report and to provide meaningful, accurate, complete, transpar-
ent and balanced information to stakeholders.

The Board of Directors (the Board) and sub-committees of the 
Board (Board Committees) were actively involved in financial dis-
closures made in this report.

This report was prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
the South African Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008, as amended 
(Companies Act), the Listings Requirements of the Johannesburg 
Stock Exchange Limited (JSE) (Listings Requirements), the princi-
ples of the King IV Report on Corporate Governance for South 
Africa 2016 (King IV), International <IR> Framework, International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), Financial Reporting Guides 
as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council, Report-
ing Guidelines of the Global Reporting Initiative as well as the 
Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation (MOI).

The Group’s external auditors, Nexia SAB&T, have provided an 
external audit opinion on the annual financial statements in  
accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act. These 
annual financial statements were prepared by Sandeep Vassan 
Makan CA(SA), Financial Director (also refer to the independent 
auditor’s report on page 40). No external assurance was given on 
the integrated annual report (refer to the corporate governance 
report on page 22).

The requirement for sustainability assurance is at this stage not 
deemed necessary. This will be reviewed annually. This report con-
tains the most material issues of concern to all our stakeholders. 
For additional information visit our website: www.spanjaard.biz.

MATERIALITY
Materiality is determined with consideration to the International 
<IR> Framework, King IV and internal Company policies. The  
organisation defines material issues as those matters having the 
potential to affect the Company’s strategy, business model, sus-
tainability or one or more of the capitals over the short, medium 
and long term taking into account the likelihood and conse-
quence of the issues.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
The statements made within the integrated annual report may 
contain forward-looking information including statements  
regarding the Company’s intent, belief or current expectations 
with respect to Spanjaard’s operations, market conditions,  
results of operation and financial condition, capital adequacy, 
specific provisions and risk management practices.

Stakeholders are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these 
forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are 
based on Spanjaard’s current expectations and involve risks and 
uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially 
from those expressed or implied in such forward-looking state-
ments. These statements are based on a number of assumptions 
that are subject to change. The integrated annual report speaks 
only as of this date and the period reported on. Spanjaard dis-
claims any duty to update the information herein.

BOARD RESPONSIBILITY
The Board acknowledges its responsibility to ensure the integrity 
of the integrated annual report. The Board has accordingly  
applied its mind, collectively and individually, to the integrated 
annual report and, in its opinion, the report addresses all material 
issues, and fairly presents the integrated performance of the  
organisation and its impacts. The integrated annual report has 
been prepared with consideration to the recommendations of 
King IV. The Board authorised the integrated annual report for  
release on 7 July 2020.

Herman Kocks 
Non-executive Director
7 July 2020 

Tracy Spanjaard
Acting Chief Executive Officer
7 July 2020 

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE  
BY COMPANY SECRETARY 
We confirm that the Company has lodged with the Companies and 
Intellectual Property Commission all such returns as are required 
to be lodged by a public company in terms of section 88(2)(e) of 
the Companies Act, as amended, and that all such returns are true, 
correct and up to date as at 29 February 2020.

Levitt Kirson Business Services Proprietary Limited
Company Secretary

ABOUT  
THIS REPORT
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Established in 1960, we are a leading and proudly South African 
manufacturer of special lubricants and allied chemical products. 
Since our listing on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange (JSE) in 
1987, we have successfully grown our international footprint 
and have an established presence on five continents and in more 
than 35 countries across the globe.

From our head office in Sandton, Gauteng, South Africa, our passionate team of 
specialists continue to innovate and delight our customers with exceptional ser-
vice and the delivery of our trusted high-quality product range, which is catego-
rised below.

At Spanjaard, our products are synonymous with quality. This is supported by our 
ISO 9001 Quality Management certification, our Food Safety Assessment (FSA)  
certification, as well as our registration, evaluation and restriction of chemicals 
(REACH) compliance, as required by European Union regulations. More recently, we 
introduced our National Sanitation Foundation (NSF) certified range of food grade 
lubricants for use in food and beverage processing facilities as well as pharmaceuti-
cal production facilities and other clean-room environments.

Our technically proficient in-house research and development team continues to 
produce a superior range of products and solutions that provide complete peace of 
mind in meeting the specialised, high-performance requirements of both leading 
industry experts and everyday consumers alike.

In addition to our core business, we have a highly regarded and dedicated food aer-
osol production facility, making Spanjaard the supplier of choice for a variety of trust-
ed and well-known household food brands to the local and international markets.

We continue to partner with these brands, successfully delivering on numerous  
ongoing contracts while growing our food business.

We are Spanjaard — a leading manufacturer and global supplier of superior quality 
products, with a proven track record of delivering excellence and exceeding expec-
tations, since 1960.

SALES REVENUE BY  
GEOGRAPHICAL MARKET (%)

2020/2019

SALES REVENUE BY  
OPERATING SEGMENT (%)

2020/2019

 INDUSTRIAL

38/35
 SOUTH AFRICA

83/80
 AFRICA

6/7
 REST OF THE WORLD

0/0

  CONSUMER GOODS

20/21
 HEAD OFFICE AND OTHER

0/0

 AUTOMOTIVE

29/29
 ASIA

6/9
 EUROPE

5/4
 EXPORTS *

13/15
*  Revenue by geographical markets outside of South Africa will not reconcile 

back to the Exports operating segment due to the fact that revenue from 
certain export markets are allocated to the Industrial and Automotive oper-
ating segments.
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Europe
Azores
Belgium
Cyprus
Czech Republic
Germany
Greece
Italy
Netherlands
Portugal
Spain
United 
Kingdom (UK) 

Africa
Angola
Botswana 
Democratic 
Republic of 
Congo (DRC)
Eritrea
Kenya
Lesotho
Malawi
Mauritius
Mozambique
Namibia
South Africa
eSwatini

Tanzania

Zambia
Zimbabwe

Asia
Hong Kong
Israel
Macau
Malaysia
People’s 
Republic  
of China (PRC)
Philippines
Saudi Arabia
Singapore
South Korea
Sri Lanka
Taiwan
United Arab 
Emirates (UAE)
Vietnam

Americas
Peru
United States  
of America 
(USA)

KEY MARKET  
SEGMENTS

Our extensive range of automo-
tive products is the choice of 
motorsport professionals and 
automotive experts. Products 
include cleaners and degreas-
ers, as well as emergency 
products and multi-purpose 
lubricants, specially formulated 
to care for vehicles from the 
engine and combustion cham-
ber to tyres and windscreen.

AUTOMOTIVE 

We manufacture a range of 
household products including, 
but not limited to: multi-pur-
pose lubricants, heat-resistant 
paints, leather treatment as well 
as cleaners and hand cleaners.

HOUSEHOLD  INDUSTRIAL  
AND MINING
From the construction industry 
to manufacturing and mining, 
our tried and tested products 
are used in the maintenance 
and preventative mainte-
nance of large equipment and 
machinery, delivering superior 
quality and results.

OUTDOOR  
AND LEISURE
Our range of products is ideal 
for use in outdoor and leisure. 
Whether you enjoy barbe-
cues, fishing, outdoor adven-
ture, cycling or road-tripping, 
we have a product suited to 
your needs. Our products 
range from: puncture repair, 
fishing tackle protector and 
multi-purpose lubricants to 
cleaners, heat resistant paints 
and much more.

MARINE 

These products are formu-
lated for the maintenance and 
preventative maintenance of 
machinery and equipment 
used in the marine industry. 
Our range is listed in a number 
of leading international marine 
catalogues including ShipServ, 
ISSA and IMPA.

NON-FLAMMABLE 
AEROSOLS

Formulated to ensure optimum 
performance and maintenance, 
our motorcycle range includes 
air filter oil and spray, mousse 
lubricant, fork oils, cleaners 
and multi-purpose lubricants.

MOTORCYCLE 

Our wide range of non-flamma-
ble aerosols is well known and 
used in the automotive, indus-
trial, mining and marine sectors.

FOOD  
GRADE
The products in this range are 
widely used in the food manu-
facturing sector, and include 
NSF-H1 certified products that 
offer safe and non-toxic lubri-
cants for use in food and drink 
processing facilities.
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SPANJAARD

GOVERNANCE

SALESFINANCE

HUMAN  
RESOURCES MARKETING

OPERATIONS

KEY PILLARS AND FOCUS 
AREAS OF OUR BUSINESS
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4   

FINANCIAL  
FLEXIBILITY

5    

INVEST IN IDEAS  
AND EQUIPMENT

6   

DIVERSIFIED  
INCOME STREAMS

Efficient use of resources

Pricing strategy freedom

Healthy cash flow 

Secure long-term  
funding facilities

New products and markets

Proactively respond  
to market demand

Product research  
and development

Technology and expertise

Expansion of plant capacity

Maintenance of plant  
and equipment

Capital expenditure

Maintain strategic customers  
in existing markets

New customer offerings

Digital platforms

Enhance existing products

Expanding global footprint — 
better representation in local 
and international markets

1   

MANAGEMENT  
FOR TOMORROW

2   

MARKETING AND  
BRAND DEVELOPMENT

3   

COMPLY  
TO COMPETE

Motivated, committed  
and effective workforce

Talent attraction and retention

Skills development and training

Succession planning

Market research and analysis

Marketing communications

Build customer loyalty

Brand positioning

Product sponsorships

Good corporate governance

Improve/enhance B-BBEE  
and employment equity

Regulatory, legislative and 
accreditation compliance

Environmentally conscious
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TO REDUCE THE RISK OF 
CORONAVIRUS INFECTION:

1   FREQUENTLY CLEAN HANDS BY 
USING ALCOHOL-BASED HAND 
SANITISER OR SOAP AND WATER

2   WHEN COUGHING AND 
SNEEZING COVER MOUTH AND 
NOSE WITH FLEXED ELBOW 
OR TISSUE – THROW TISSUE 
AWAY IMMEDIATELY AND 
WASH HANDS

3   AVOID CLOSE CONTACT  
WITH ANYONE THAT HAS  
FEVER AND COUGH

Source: World Health Organization –  
coronavirus/COVID-19 guidelines
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Our approach to risk management is to accurately identify and 
assess the probability and potential impact of material risks 
in the context of achieving our objectives as a business. Risks 
are identified by means of a risk register and are continuously 
monitored with respective mitigation actions allocated to each 
risk. Identified material risks are rated individually in terms of 
their magnitude and likelihood, with the understanding that 
ratings may change during the year in the course of business 
activities within the greater operating environment.

As a function of good corporate governance, risk management plays a critical 
role in formulating our business strategy, and in setting objectives to deliver on 
our strategy. By correctly identifying and managing risk, we can create improved 
certainty and confidence in the sustainability of the business for our employees, 
shareholders and investors, customers, suppliers and other stakeholders.

Our risks are classified as either strategic or operational. Strategic risks refer to 
possible sources of loss that may occur during the process of executing our 
strategy. Operational risks may lead to loss due to variables including input 
costs, demand or management. Our largest risks broadly fall into the below areas 
set out below:

1  COVID-19 — CORONAVIRUS PANDEMIC
The current pandemic engulfing the whole world poses a significant risk to all 
businesses around the world. Many countries have enforced rigid lockdown 
regulations to curb the spread of the virus which has resulted in unprecedented 
social and economic turmoil. Management identified key risks that would impact 
the business due to the lockdown and put measures in place to manage the risk 
and allow the business to remain a going concern. The impact on the business 
at the date of this report cannot be quantified but we anticipate that our 
envisaged revenue targets will not be met. Spanjaard, however, continues to 
trade at a reduced production capacity during the lockdown period, producing 
essential products such as food and sanitiser.

Primary concerns were related to staff and the risk of infection on staff and the 
impact on the business. This remains a key concern and policies have since been 
implemented to mitigate this risk. While COVID-19 still remains a threat, we con-
tinue to operate but with caution and staff have been placed on rotation particu-
larly in the factory to mitigate risk. Staff who are able to work from home continue 
to do so. The risks associated with COVID-19, together with government regula-
tions, are constantly addressed to ensure business continuity while taking the 
necessary precautions.

2  INSURANCE
We have made a concerted effort to ensure that maximum insurance cover is 
obtained and that ongoing consultation with risk analysts takes place in order to 
reduce identified risks. We implemented an outsourcing agreement with a lead-
ing warehousing a distribution partner in the prior year whereby our finished 
goods are stored and distributed from a fully compliant, best practice, world class 
warehousing and distribution facility. This in turn has decreased the risk of loss 
both in terms of inventory and fire risk. We are also in the process of upgrading 
our own facilities in order to store more flammable raw materials while complying 
to international best practices and standards and satisfying the requirements of 
our insurers.

RISK  
MANAGEMENT
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RISK MANAGEMENT

3  REGULATORY COMPLIANCE
The South African and global environments are becoming  
increasingly regulated in terms of environmental, governance, 
privacy, financial and corporate legislation. Therefore, our man-
agement has spent a great deal of time and resources comply-
ing with international and local requirements. We will continue 
to systematically work through all relevant legislations and  
regulations, under the auspices of our respective Board Com-
mittees. Focus has been on regulatory and legislative compli-
ance, particularly with respect to: health and safety, globally 
harmonised systems of classification and labelling of chemical  
requirements, protection of personal information, registration 
evaluation authorisation and restriction of chemicals, transport 
regulations, compliance with the Companies Act and JSE Regu-
latory and Listings Requirements as well as the Consumer Pro-
tection Act.

4   BROAD-BASED BLACK  
ECONOMIC EMPOWERMENT

Our historically inadequate B-BBEE scorecard rating has impacted 
on our ability to generate revenue growth. During the year, black 
representation on the Board and Executive Committee (EXCO) 
level have increased from 14% and 22% to 29% and 50% respec-
tively over the year. Spanjaard has also embraced women empow-
erment by appointing a female as the Acting Chief Executive 
Officer (CEO), which is a rarity among JSE listed entities. We  
remain fully committed to the transformation of the South African 
economy and are executing a B-BBEE implementation plan with 
specific focus on our key elements, namely skills development, 
preferential procurement and enterprise development. To this  
extent we have implemented new procurement policies, skills 
programmes including the appointment of a human resources 
(HR) practitioner, enterprise and supplier development agree-
ments and maintained our bursary programme for black high 
school students.

5  WORKING CAPITAL
Our manufacturing operations are capital intensive, requiring 
significant investment in maintaining our production lines and 
procuring of raw materials, and ultimately necessitating intense 
management of our finance facilities. We face a risk of not being 
able to raise finance facilities for purchasing capital equipment. 
Due to this the management of working capital remains a key 
focus for management, as improved performance over time will 
mitigate the risk.

6   SUCCESSION PLANNING  
AND RETENTION OF KEY STAFF

Our Board was restructured during the year which resulted in 
improved governance, compliance and independence. Due to 
significant changes at management level, we were compelled 
to address a need for succession planning to ensure business 
continuity should key individuals exit the business. The EXCO 
was critical in ensuring minimal disruption at operational level 
and supported executives placed in key roles over this period.

In order to address unnecessary disruptions to the business 
should the Company experience changes in management, 
measures have been taken to ensure that key business knowl-
edge is protected and accessible should the need arise. The 
EXCO has adopted a strategic approach to medium- and long-
term objectives which includes the integration of segments 
within the Company and this allows for better integration of 
knowledge and intellectual property. Staff retention is also a key 
consideration in mitigating the risk of loss of knowledge and expe-
rience and policies are being formulated to address these areas. 
These include loyalty incentives and measures to continue to con-
sult with staff after retirement age has been reached.

7   PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT
Innovation is a key component in gaining a competitive advantage 
and remaining relevant. As a specialty manufacturer, we are able 
to develop custom solutions for our partners and customers 
which strengthens relationships and adds significant value. 
Product development is a key strategic focus, particularly with 
the evolving needs of the industries we service. An example of 
our prompt response to a need in the market was the develop-
ment of hand sanitiser, initiated as a solution for staff to ensure 
adequate precautions were taken in response to the COVID-19 
outbreak. As a result of the demand in the market, we were able 
to fulfil some of the demand and continue to do so with the on-
going manufacture of sanitiser.

We constantly evaluate the performance of all our product lines 
(through independent laboratory testing and adherence to inter-
national quality standards) to identify shortcomings and improve-
ments that need to be made, whether in packaging or performance. 
In this regard, we continue to focus on research and product 
development and have new product launches planned for the 
2021 financial year.



INTRODUCTION 

Our stakeholders are people, groups and institutions that affect, or are affected by our daily business 
activities and processes to varying extents and in different ways. Our key stakeholders are our employees, 
customers, shareholders, financiers and bankers, suppliers, communities, trade unions, and government.
We, the Board of Directors of Spanjaard Limited, interact with, or engage, our stakeholders in a variety of ways, from formalised, structured 
channels of engagement, to everyday informal methods that are less structured. Our engagements can either be frequent or infrequent, as 
determined by the respective requirements of each stakeholder group.

SHAREHOLDERS
Engaging with our shareholders is important 
and takes place in person and formally at our 
annual general meetings. We avail ourselves  
to shareholders’ questions or concerns where 
relevant.

EMPLOYEES
We acknowledge that our employees are criti-
cal stakeholders in the organisation and collec-
tively contribute to the success of the business 
from concept to execution and delivery of our 
products to the end user. Staff welfare, morale 
and retention are key focus areas, and manage-
ment regularly engages to ensure that these 
areas are addressed. We have endeavoured to 
ensure that regular communication with staff 
takes place in the form of face-to-face meet-
ings (in groups or individually), via electronic/ 
digital communication, notice boards, training 
sessions and through consultations.

At year-end, our total staff complement was 92 
employees, which is expected to increase 
slightly in the new financial year due to the iden-
tification of core skills required, as well as meas-
ures taken to address succession planning.

TRADE UNIONS
Currently, approximately 30% (thirty percent) 
of our employees are members of the Chemi-
cal, Energy, Paper, Printing, Wood and Allied 
Workers’ Union (CEPPWAWU), but not part of a 
bargaining council. Our relationship with the 
union is stable, and we have a formal agree-
ment in place. During the year under review, 
we conducted face-to-face, annual union  
negotiations with CEPPWAWU which were 
concluded without incident.

During the year, after negotiation with CEP-
PWAWU, employees were afforded the oppor-
tunity to join the CEPPWAWU Provident Fund 
(CINPF). Employees can now choose to con-
tribute towards their retirement between the 
Company’s two funds. 

GOVERNMENT
We continue to ensure that our cooperation 
with the South African Government is satisfac-
tory and that prudent relationships with rele-
vant government departments are maintained. 
Where required, management will engage 
government departments through their formal 
established structures.

SPONSORSHIPS 
We have supported motorsport since inception 
and continue to embrace our passion for mot-
orsport through numerous product sponsor-
ships. Spanning decades, Spanjaard continues 
to be the brand of choice for many profession-
als in the international and global motor racing 
arena. We have a longstanding relationship 
with Toyota Motorsport as a Specialist Official 
Supplier and Technical Partner for the Toyota 
Gazoo Racing South Africa team (2019 Dakar 
champions and 2020 Dakar runner-up).

These partnerships are a significant testament 
to the quality and performance of Spanjaard’s 
wide range of automotive products. Products 
are also continuously developed and tested in 
partnership with professionals that compete at 
the highest levels in local and international mo-
torsport. We are proud to be associated with 
the many professionals who rely on and trust 
the Spanjaard brand.

CUSTOMERS
As an established and trusted brand, we as 
Spanjaard acknowledge the significance of 
the relationships we have with our custom-
ers. Some of these relationships have been 
built up over decades while others are matur-
ing, and new partnerships are being formed. 
Our core route to market is via distributors 
and our focus is on improving service deliv-
ery and support to distributors particularly  
at trade level. Constant engagement with  
distributors is critical as well as cooperation 
with respect to developing new products and  
improving on existing products. Engaging 
with end users has also become a focal point 
while digital and social media platforms are 
harnessed to inform and educate, and valua-
ble feedback is simultaneously collected.
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R’000 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Revenue  123 731  126 244  117 678  120 055  125 825 

Profit/(loss) from operations  2 022  5 312  (4 300)  607  8 191 

Finance cost  (928)  (1 470)  (1 131)  (564)  (1 941)

Interest expense — net  (852)  (1 197)  (1 029)  (871)  (1 287)

(Profit)/loss on foreign exchange  (76)  (273)  (102)  307  (654)

Profit/(loss) before tax  1 094  3 842  (5 431)  43  6 250 

Income tax (expense)/income 1 031  (1 340)  897  370  (1 244)

Profit/(loss) from continuing operations  2 125  2 502  (4 534)  413  5 006 

Dividend declared — — — —  (1 303)

Profit/(loss) after dividend  2 125  2 502  (4 534)  413  3 703 

Total earnings/(loss) and diluted earnings/(loss) per ordinary share (cents) 26,1  30,7  (55,7) 5,1 61,5

Total headline earnings/(loss) and diluted headline earnings/(loss) per  
ordinary share (cents) 27,5  31,6  (54,1) 6,2 62,1

Net asset value per ordinary share (cents) 582,8 544,0  502,7  558,6  540,8 

Dividend declared per ordinary share (cents)

— interim/dividend relating to prior periods — — — — —

— final — — — —  16,0

 Spanjaard Integrated Annual Report 2020 11

FIVE-YEAR 
REVIEW



 Audit Committee

 Remuneration Committee

 Social and Ethics Committee

John Siddall (66)   
Independent Non-executive Chairman
Appointment date: Aug 2019
Committee membership: Audit Committee, 
Remuneration Committee

John is a conscientious, professional and seasoned 
company director with extensive experience in 
administration, communications, marketing, 
advertising and corporate governance. 

John has over 15 years’ sales and marketing  
experience having held senior managerial  
and executive positions at Unilever, Imperial and 
Tiger Brands.

John founded Underline Advertising and Promo-
tions (Pty) Ltd in 1989 and was Managing Director 
of the Company for 24 years where he strategised 
and implemented various communication and 
advertising campaigns for blue-chip entities. 
john’s vast experience and knowledge in sales 
and marketing and the successful development 
of his own company is valuable to the Spanjaard 
leadership team.

Tracy Spanjaard (37) 
Acting Chief Executive Officer
Qualifications: BA (Marketing 
Communications) (Hons)
Appointment date: Oct 2017
Committee membership: Social and Ethics 
Committee (Chairperson)

Tracy has 14 years’ experience in marketing, 
media and research-related fields and has served 
in management positions for a number of compa-
nies. Her experience also includes independent 
consulting, specialising in marketing strategy 
and implementation. Tracy was an independent 
marketing consultant for Spanjaard from March 
2016 and joined the Company full time in Octo-
ber 2017 and was simultaneously appointed as 
Marketing Director. She has an honours degree 
in Marketing Communications.

Tracy was appointed as Acting CEO in September 
2019.

Sandeepkumar (Sandeep)  
Vassan Makan (41)
Financial Director
Qualifications: CA(SA), CGMA, BACC (Wits)
Appointment date: Feb 2020

Sandeep qualified as a Chartered Accountant in 
2004 and as a Chartered Management Global 
Accountant in 2019. 

He joined Spanjaard in December 2019 as Chief 
Financial Officer, having gained more than 
15 years’ post articles experience in various 
leading finance roles within the mining, medical, 
manufacturing and entertainment industries.

He was appointed to the Spanjaard Board in 
February 2020.

He is a member of SAICA and CIMA.
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Graham Cort (44)
Executive Director — 
International Operations
Appointment date: Feb 2006

Graham joined Spanjaard’s Cons- 
umer/Automotive division as a 
sales representative in 1996. He 
was then assigned to Spanjaard’s 
Industrial/Marine division, also in 
a sales capacity. He was promoted 
to National Sales Manager for the 
Industrial/Marine division before 
becoming Spanjaard’s National 
Sales Manager.

In January 2006, Graham was 
appointed to lead the International 
Sales and Logistics division and 
promoted to Executive Director in 
February 2006.

He is a member of the Institute of 
Directors.

Sifiso Zikalala (39)   
Independent  
Non-executive Director
Qualifications: CA(SA),  
BCompt (Hons)
Appointment date: Aug 2019
Committee membership: Audit 
Committee (Chairperson),  
Social and Ethics Committee, 
Remuneration Committee

Sifiso Zikalala has over a decade 
of audit and accounting exper-
tise and more recently franchise 
development experience. He kick-
started his career as an accountant 
at consulting firm PwC, after which 
he served as the Chief Financial 
Officer for the Umbono Group. He 
was subsequently appointed as the 
Chief Operating Officer at Mosiame 
Business Consulting. 

Sifiso founded Smakade Holdings 
in 2014 and currently serves as 
Managing Director of the Company, 
which in just two years, he success-
fully grew to be one of the biggest 
franchisees of Taste Holdings in the 
Gauteng Province. With his robust 
financial and accounting expertise, 
together with being adept at raising 
capital, he adds significant value to 
the Spanjaard executive team.

Clinton Palmer (49) 
Executive Director —  
Operations and Technical
Qualifications: BSc,  
MSc (Biotechnology), MBA
Appointment date: Oct 2008
Committee membership: Social 
and Ethics Committee

Clinton has over 20 years’ experi-
ence in a variety of technical posi-
tions within the chemical sector. 
He is currently head of Spanjaard’s 
technical operations, including 
manufacturing operations, all new 
and existing product developments 
and enhancements, as well as the 
Company’s QA and QC functions. 

He is a member of the Institute of 
Directors.

Masliah (Masly)  
Notrica (70)   
Independent  
Non-executive Director
Appointment date: Aug 2019
Committee membership: 
Remuneration Committee 
(Chairperson), Audit Committee

Masly Notrica is a distinguished 
leader in business, with 43 years’ 
experience in the FMCG indus-
try. His professional contribution 
includes expertise in quality assur-
ance, logistics and warehousing, 
procurement, sales management, 
finance and administration. 

He began his career by dedicating 
nine years to his family’s business 
in the Democratic Republic of 
Congo, which taught him from the 
start to identify opportunities for 
growth. This skill has earned him 
achievements and accolades such 
as establishing the J Melnick & Co 
Johannesburg branch, receiving 
the Best Performance Prize from 
Bel France in 2006 and multiple 
acknowledgements from Bidvest 
for delivering Excellent and Distin-
guished Service. Masly’s imports 
experience and vast knowledge in 
the marketing and logistics sphere 
is invaluable to the Spanjaard lead-
ership team.
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Tracy Spanjaard (37) 
Acting Chief Executive Officer
Qualifications: BA (Marketing 
Communications) (Hons)
Appointment date: Oct 2017

Tracy has 14 years’ experience in 
marketing, media and research-re-
lated fields and has served in 
management positions for a number 
of companies. Her experience also 
includes independent consulting, 
specialising in marketing strategy 
and implementation. Tracy was an 
independent marketing consultant 
for Spanjaard from March 2016 and 
joined the Company full time in 
October 2017 and was simultane-
ously appointed as Marketing Direc-
tor. She has an honours degree in 
Marketing Communications.

Tracy was appointed as Acting CEO 
in September 2019.

Clinton Palmer (49) 
Executive Director —  
Operations and Technical
Qualifications: BSc,  
MSc (Biotechnology), MBA
Appointment date: Oct 2008

Clinton has over 20 years’ experi-
ence in a variety of technical posi-
tions within the chemical sector. 
He is currently head of Spanjaard’s 
technical operations, including 
manufacturing operations, all new 
and existing product developments 
and enhancements, as well as the 
Company’s QA and QC functions. 

He is a member of the Institute 
of Directors.

Sandeepkumar (Sandeep)  
Vassan Makan (41)
Financial Director
Qualifications: CA(SA),  
CGMA, BACC (Wits)
Appointment date: Feb 2020

Sandeep qualified as a Chartered 
Accountant in 2004 and as a Char-
tered Management Global Account-
ant in 2019. 

He joined Spanjaard in December 
2019 as Chief Financial Officer, 
having gained more than 15 years’ 
post articles experience in various 
leading finance roles within the 
mining, medical, manufacturing and 
entertainment industries.

He is a member of SAICA and CIMA.

Graham Cort (44)
Executive Director — 
International Operations
Appointment date: Feb 2006

Graham joined Spanjaard’s Con- 
sumer/Automotive division as a 
sales representative in 1996. He 
was then assigned to Spanjaard’s 
Industrial/Marine division, also in 
a sales capacity. He was promoted 
to National Sales Manager for the 
Industrial/Marine division before 
becoming Spanjaard’s National 
Sales Manager.

In January 2006, Graham was 
appointed to lead the International 
Sales and Logistics division and 
promoted to Executive Director in 
February 2006.

He is a member of the Institute 
of Directors.
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Bradley Wilkins (47)
National Sales  
Manager
Appointment date: May 2016

Julliet Naidoo (54)
Human Resources  
Manager
Appointment date: Mar 2020

Julliet has over 20 years’ experience 
in the HR profession, including  
17 years at Astral Foods. 

Julliet’s exceptional competen-
cies in people management and 
development, with proven abilities 
and results in strategic planning, 
improving efficiencies and imple-
menting innovative solutions 
to historical trends, will provide 
Spanjaard with valuable contribu-
tions going forward.

Mpendulo Setuse (41)
Production and  
Operations Manager
Appointment date: Sep 2018

Mpendulo has over 15 years’ work 
experience in the production oper-
ations of Premier Foods, Buhler 
and African Explosives. His last 
role, prior to joining Spanjaard, was 
the Operations Manager at Tiger 
Brands. 

Mpendulo’s experience managing 
large staff numbers and optimising 
operations in the manufacturing 
environment is significantly valu-
able to Spanjaard.

Shaun Chetty (33)
General Manager — 
International Operations
Appointment date: Jun 2008

Shaun began his career in 2004 at 
GLV Freight followed by tenures at 
Swiftair International and Turners 
Shipping prior to joining Spanjaard. 

He is responsible for the manage-
ment of all international inbound 
and outbound logistics including 
managing the customs process 
regarding imports and exports 
and settlement of accounts with 
customers and suppliers.

Bradley has over 20 years’ work 
experience initially as a lecturer in 
the short-term insurance business, 
followed by heading the division 
and subsequently employed as an 
investment consultant.

Prior to joining Spanjaard, Bradley 
spent over 10 years at Glasfit where 
he progressed from Junior Account 
Manager to National Sales Manager.
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“ MAINTAINING 
REVENUE IN  
TOUGH CONDITIONS”

2020 is a landmark year for Spanjaard, as we celebrate 60 years 
since the Company was established, with 33 of those years as 
a listed entity on the JSE. This significant milestone has also 
provided an opportunity to reflect on a long and proud tradition 
of consistently delivering product and service excellence to 
our customers and the market.

In these trying times, we can report that we have maintained our levels of reve-
nue despite market volatility and tough, recessionary economic conditions. In a 
commendable performance for the year, we also overcame the pressures of 
higher costs due to once-off distribution and administrative expenses. For the 
year under review, we can report that progress was made regarding our product 
development activities. These efforts illustrate our response to meet the evolv-
ing needs of the market, specifically with regard to manufacturing in the food, 
beverage and pharmaceutical environments.

We also made headway in product development within the industrial sector, 
where there has been growing demand for alternate product options that are 
more friendly to the environment.

Another key strategic focus area for the year was on improving the stability of 
the business with the aim of achieving longer-term sustainability and growth 
for Spanjaard.

Furthermore, we made positive strides in our drive to strengthen relationships 
with all stakeholders, particularly our employees, and in developing strategic 
partnerships with our customers.

In this review, we discuss these and other matters of importance that transpired 
during the year.

BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT
In South Africa, the highly challenging trading environment has been well doc-
umented over the past number of years. Conditions declined further during the 
year as the local economy experienced a technical recession, with high rates of 
unemployment, retrenchments and indebted consumers having to prioritise 
household spending.

Tracy Spanjaard
Acting Chief Executive Officer 

REVENUE (R’000)

123 731
126 244

117 678
120 055
125 825

2020

2019

2018

2017

2016
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Instability in local and international markets create uncertainty which can affect 
our business, specifically in terms of fluctuating exchange rates. Indeed, the 
poorly performing local currency had dual effects on our business during the 
year, as weaker exchange rates boosted sales but impacted negatively on  
import costs.

In addition, the environment became increasingly competitive, as a greater 
number of new, alternative products entered the market, often at competitive 
prices. Combined, these factors applied pressure on the volumes of Spanjaard 
products being ordered by our customers. Under these and other current eco-
nomic conditions, it is also proving difficult for the business to obtain funding 
from financial institutions at reasonable interest rates, which in turn affects our 
ability to create value in the short to medium term.

Evolutionary changes have been taking place in the automotive industry, with 
developments that include new electric technology becoming more prevalent 
in motor vehicles and related manufacturing activities. These events have 
prompted us to work closely with customers to ensure that our product offering 
remains relevant while adapting to the changing needs of the market.

In the global environment, certain unforeseeable events can affect our ability to 
execute on strategy and deliver value for our stakeholders. This was demon-
strated with the advent of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) towards the end of the 
financial year. This unprecedented event led to lengthy lockdowns of economic 
sectors and populations around the world, as well as the closure of ports and 
businesses which stalled imports and exports. The COVID-19 pandemic is still 
unfolding and therefore its impact on our business for the foreseeable future 
cannot be quantified. For Spanjaard, the pandemic has led to new product  
development of in-demand hand and surface sanitiser, contributing to business 
continuity under lockdown. To read more about the events surrounding COVID-
19 and how the pandemic affects our business, refer to page 85 of this review.

On the eve of being placed under lockdown, South Africa sustained another  
unwelcome blow as the country’s sovereign credit rating was downgraded by 
ratings agency Moody’s to sub-investment or junk status. This turn of events will 
effectively see major capital outflows from the economy in the short to medium 
term, as investors reallocate their funds into investment grade economies.

During the year under review, the drawn-out Brexit saga came to a head as Brit-
ain formally withdrew from the European Union on 31 January 2020. This brought 
a degree of closure after years of uncertainty from the unresolved move, but the 
economic and social effects will take time to play out.

The trade war between the United States and China continued during the year, 
with the Trump administration achieving short-term gains from tariffs, record 
low unemployment and market strength before the onset of the COVID-19 pan-
demic, which brought the economy to a standstill in the first quarter of 2020. 
Markets across the world continue to stagnate as lockdowns persist and econo-
mies stand idle.

Sandeepkumar  
Vassan Makan
Financial Director

PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS (R’000)

1 946
5 039

(4 300)
607

8 191

2020

2019

2018

2017

2016

NAV PER ORDINARY SHARE (CENTS)

5,83
5,44
5,03
5,59
5,41

2020

2019

2018

2017

2016
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PERFORMANCE
Our financial performance for the year was commendable in the 
face of significant headwinds that made achieving growth elusive. 
Sales were slightly lower year on year, but stable at R123,73 million 
(2019: R126,24 million).

Revenue generation and our production capabilities were una-
voidably impacted after a major gas supplier declared a force 
majeure in July 2019. The reduced supply of input gas hampered 
our manufacturing activities, which in turn led to delays in fulfill-
ing customer orders.

We maintained our gross profit and operating expenses notwith-
standing unexpected once-off expenses being incurred. These 
expenses, which amounted to R2 million for the year, were attrib-
utable to various unforeseen administrative and distribution 
costs. In addition, other income was impacted by lower profit on 
foreign exchange. Positively, finance costs decreased year on 
year, which was in line with a reduction in the overdraft.

“ INDUSTRIAL SEGMENT SALES INCREASED 
BY 6,5% TO R47,06 MILLION”

Industrial segment sales increased by 6,5% to R47,06 million 
(2019: R44,19 million), despite the closures and lay-offs within 
the mining and manufacturing sectors of the economy. There 
are, however, improved prospects in selected mining markets in 
Africa, which could stimulate sales in the Industrial segment dur-
ing the coming year.

Sales in our Exports segment reduced to R15,47 million during 
the year (2019: R19,39 million). Export orders were delayed and 
severely affected due to the lack of available gas. Despite the 
challenges, Export segment sales helped to diversify our reve-
nue streams and going forward, our aim is to grow our sales and 
expand our presence into these export economies.

Sales in our Consumer Goods segment reduced to R24,67 million 
(2019: R26,16 million), largely attributable to the limited supply 
of gas.

Automotive segment sales were flat year on year at R36,54 million. 
Sales were maintained despite the difficult economic conditions 
that prevailed during the year in the automotive environment.

“ CASH GENERATED FROM OUR  
OPERATIONS SIGNIFICANTLY  
ENHANCED OUR CASH POSITION”

Positively, cash generated from our operations improved mean-
ingfully during the year, which significantly enhanced our cash 
position at year-end, notwithstanding the once-off expenses 
incurred, as discussed above.

We continued our strict cost management during the year, main-
taining our good cash collections and keeping bad debts at low 
levels. This positive financial performance was supported by our 
stringent customer vetting process as well as services provided 
by Credit Guarantee.

OUR STRATEGY FOR GROWTH

FOCUS AREAS

During the year, management focused on Spanjaard’s growth 
and sustainability, defining a set of performance indicators  
to help achieve our short-, medium- and long-term objectives.  
To this end, we have placed a renewed emphasis on operations 
to stimulate growth and performance. Our aim is to achieve this 
by building on our significant experience, knowledge and intel-
lectual property that we as a business have accumulated over 
many years. Please refer to page 06 to read more about our strat-
egy for growth.

“ OUR CUSTOMER-CENTRIC APPROACH  
HAS HELPED TO BUILD LASTING,  
VALUE-ADDING RELATIONSHIPS”

Management’s focus areas for the business include escalating 
product development and identifying local and international  
opportunities for growth. Locally, we are focusing on opportuni-
ties in mainstream distribution channels, including but not limited 
to products in the food and household markets. Internationally, 
we are looking to unlock the value of new markets, while strategi-
cally growing our presence in traditional or existing markets.

As a long-established chemicals business, we understand that 
innovation is strategically important, and pivotal to gain a com-
petitive advantage and remain relevant in the market. Being a 
speciality manufacturer, we are experienced in developing solu-
tions that meet the unique needs of our partners and customers. 
Our customer-centric, tailor-made approach to service has 
helped us build lasting, value-adding relationships over decades 
of operation. Furthermore, through our ongoing activities in 
product development, we are adaptable and able to respond 
with agility to the needs of the market.

PRODUCT QUALITY

With a proud heritage, the Spanjaard name is associated with 
innovative, quality products and services. Through our estab-
lished brand, we leverage our position of strength in the market 
through locally produced products that deliver trusted quality 
and reliability, making them a first choice for professionals.

We have local and international representation as manufacturers 
of special lubricants and allied chemical products, which are 
specialised solutions for the Automotive, Industrial, and Consumer 
Goods market segments.

The quality of our brand and products is underpinned by top  
accreditations, certifications and memberships, including the 
South African Bureau of Standards (SABS), Food Safety Assess-
ment (FSA), National Sanitation Foundation (NSF), Aerosol Manu-
facturers Association (AMA), as well as other local and international 
accreditations. These are also discussed on page 30 of this review.

Unfortunately, as a consequence of producing quality products, 
imitators are also attracted by our speciality offerings. These 
unscrupulous businesses attempt to replicate and market coun-
terfeit goods under the guise of our established brands. As a 
global brand, we take extensive measures to protect our 
intellectual property, but the risk of counterfeiting remains.
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MARKETING INITIATIVES

The marketing function plays an important role in enhancing 
sales through effective communications with our customers, dis-
tributors and other key stakeholders. To this end, we have refined 
and evolved our marketing and sales approach to fulfil the needs 
of the increasingly demanding and competitive markets in which 
we operate.

We have focused our marketing efforts on partnering with exist-
ing distributors and improving aspects of our service delivery 
and support. We are maintaining and growing our existing cus-
tomer relationships through open communications and ongoing 
engagement to boost our supply chain and product develop-
ment activities. Management is also concentrating on identifying 
business opportunities and developing new relationships with 
our distributors and partners.

To maintain our position, our marketing strategy is aimed at cre-
ating awareness and supporting our distributors, as well as edu-
cating and informing end users about our products. We have 
made effective use of digital and social media platforms in order 
to educate customers on the many uses of our products. We 
have enhanced our level of engagement with customers and 
potential customers through the use of these platforms, and we 
are exploring digital channels as a means to facilitate sales.

“ THROUGH OUR PARTNERSHIPS WITH 
MOTORSPORT PROFESSIONALS, WE 
BENEFIT FROM MARKETING EXPOSURE 
AND ENHANCED CREDIBILITY”

PRODUCT SPONSORSHIPS

In the competitive world of professional motorsport, our proud 
history of product sponsorship has helped to grow the presence 
of the Spanjaard brand. Through our partnerships with motor-
sport professionals, we benefit from marketing exposure and 
enhanced credibility. As a brand, Spanjaard is well suited to the 
passion of motorsport, where high performance is a prerequisite 
and our products and technical support have an opportunity to 
excel on the local and international circuits and events.

For many professionals in motorsport, we as Spanjaard are both 
sponsor and brand of choice. Over many years, we have built a 
strong relationship with Toyota Motorsport as a Specialist Offi-
cial Supplier and Technical Partner for the Toyota Gazoo Racing 
South Africa team. 

MANAGING RISKS AND OPPORTUNITIES

As an established business, we are rather circumspect when  
it comes to taking serious risks that could threaten the sustaina-
bility of Spanjaard. Management engages with all relevant  
stakeholders on a regular basis to identify material risks as well  
as potential risks that face the business both internally and  
externally. Identified risks are then communicated to the Audit 
and Risk Committee and to the Board of Directors, and where 
possible, mitigating actions are put in place to reduce the impact 
of risks or potential risks. For more information, refer to the risk 
management section, commencing on page 08 of this report.

On 30 January 2020, the World Health Organization declared the 
COVID-19 outbreak a Public Health Emergency. The global  
response had led to travel and import and export restrictions 
which began to affect Spanjaard in the weeks that followed. In 
response to COVID-19, the South African Government first  
declared a National Disaster followed by a national lockdown.

Management acted swiftly, identifying risks to the business and 
developing a continuity plan to allow Spanjaard to operate, albeit 
at a significantly reduced capacity by producing a hand and sur-
face sanitiser to mitigate health risks presented by COVID-19. We 
initially sought to produce the sanitiser to protect the health and 
safety of our employees. However, with the outbreak of COVID-19 
and on the advice of health experts, alcohol-based sanitiser  
instantly became a highly sought-after product in the market as 
an effective means of preventing the spread of the virus and this 
has resulted in opportunities for the business going forward. The 
product was soon made available to essential service providers in 
order to meet some of the country’s critical demand.

For our business as a manufacturer of chemical products, access 
to a reliable supply of electricity is crucial for uninterrupted  
production. With planned and unplanned disruptions to power  
utility Eskom’s supply, the economy continued to be significantly 
impacted during the year. While our operations were also 
affected, we have backup generators in place as an alternative 
source of energy. The generators minimise disruption of supply 
but come with cost implications and the resulting emissions 
impact the environment.

As mentioned, severe gas shortages impacted the business after 
a key industry supplier declared a force majeure, resulting in 
stock shortages and delayed customer order deliveries. The 
business was impacted after incurring additional costs through 
sourcing gas from alternate suppliers, which was necessary to 
increase capacity and meet the demand of the market. The force 
majeure was lifted in March 2020. In order to ensure the security 
of supply, we are engaging with key suppliers and taking precau-
tionary measures.

“ NEW TECHNOLOGY HAS NOTABLY 
IMPROVED OUR SUPPLY CHAIN 
EFFICIENCY”

We at Spanjaard understand that certain technological advance-
ments can benefit our business. To this end, we invested in the 
upgrade of our IT infrastructure and accounting system package 
during the year. The new technology has been integrated into 
the business, notably improving our supply chain efficiency. In 
addition, we participated in a test programme that saw distribu-
tors move to digital and e-commerce platforms, and we now plan 
to develop similar platforms for our own customer base. We are 
also seeking alternatives to move to a digital environment and 
reduce our consumption of paper.

 Spanjaard Integrated Annual Report 2020 19

EXECUTIVE REVIEW



EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT

JOB GRADING AND PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT

The job grading exercise, which commenced in the prior year, was 
completed at the beginning of the year under review. This formed 
the basis on which we are able to not only identify areas where 
development is required but also to remunerate our staff fairly.

In addition, job grading has given management the ability to 
determine key positions in the functioning of the business and 
facilitate the development of a retention policy.

Going forward, our intention is to implement a formalised perfor-
mance management system whereby each employee is given 
fair, measurable key performance indicators with which to evalu-
ate their performance as individuals.

SKILLS DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

As ever, we are committed to skills development with a focus on 
staff training. We understand that having a diversified and skilled 
workforce is key to the sustainability and success of the busi-
ness. To ensure the continuous growth of our skills base and the 
development of our staff, we have submitted our workplace skills 
plan to the Chemical Industries Education and Training Authority.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
At Spanjaard, we are guided in our daily conduct and business 
activities by the King IV requirements for good corporate govern-
ance. Our Board Charter and Board Committees’ Terms of Refer-
ence are regularly reviewed and amended where necessary or 
appropriate.

Our aim for the year under review was to strengthen the compo-
sition of our Board of Directors. To this end, the Board was signif-
icantly restructured during the year, which resulted in improved 
levels of governance, compliance and independence. Please 
refer to the corporate governance report commencing on 
page 22 of this report for further details.

COMPLIANCE AND ACCREDITATION

We consistently produce quality products at Spanjaard, as 
backed by our memberships, affiliations and compliance with a 
number of internationally accredited certifications. These include 
our ISO 9001 Quality Management certification, our FSA certifi-
cation, as well as our REACH compliance, which is a mandatory 
requirement to trade in the European Union, and we meet with 
similar standards for exports into other countries.

“ WE HAVE INTRODUCED OUR NEW NSF 
CERTIFIED RANGE OF FOOD GRADE 
LUBRICANTS”

We have also introduced our NSF certified range of food grade 
lubricants, which are used in food and beverage processing  
facilities as well as in pharmaceutical production facilities and 
other clean room environments.

Our aim is to ensure that our business adheres to local and inter-
national standards in order to deliver reliable and quality 
products. We are also conscious of the environmental impact 
that the Company may have and make a concerted effort to 
ensure that products are disposed of appropriately and in the 
most effective manner possible. As the demand for environmen-
tally friendly products has been on the rise, we have placed fur-
ther emphasis on developing appropriate solutions for sale 
particularly into the industrial segments. In addition, we have 
added “greener” alternatives to solvent-based products as part 
of our wide range of offerings.

Locally, we continue to focus our efforts on complying with B-BBEE 
and employment equity legislation, with a view to embrace trans-
formation and empower from within.

Certain areas for improvement as identified by our internal health 
and safety reviews, are being addressed by management. As 
required by law, all mandatory health and safety training has 
been completed.

While Spanjaard has been a listed entity for 33 years, the regula-
tory framework in which we operate has onerous cost implica-
tions for the business, most notably those pertaining to our listing 
on the JSE. Unlike larger enterprises, a disproportionate amount 
of our resources is directed towards ensuring compliance. Unfor-
tunately, this can lead to management’s focus being diverted 
away from the day-to-day operational running of the business.

TRANSFORMATION
We at Spanjaard understand the important role that transforma-
tion plays in addressing the longstanding inequality that still ex-
ists in our country. Management could not dedicate sufficient 
time or resources to improving Spanjaard’s B-BBEE compliance 
level during the year under review. This was largely due to  
resources allocated to stabilise the day-to-day operations amid 
the significant changes that were made at Board and manage-
ment level during the year.

We did, however, improve on our procurement allocations as 
well as on employment equity representation at various manage-
ment levels, despite the limitations of our current B-BBEE compli-
ance levels. Going forward, B-BBEE remains a key focus for 
Spanjaard to ensure compliance and consistent improvements 
in performance. In order to meet our transformation objectives 
in the year ahead, executive management has established a 
B-BBEE plan. For further reading on these and other matters, 
please refer to the Social and Ethics Committee report, com-
mencing on page 36.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
During the year under review, R2,7 million in funding was 
obtained to finance the acquisitions of new assets to ensure that 
our plant capacity and systems are maintained. As mentioned, 
we also invested in an upgrade to our IT infrastructure.

SPANJAARD UK CLOSURE
With a view to focus on our core operating businesses within the 
Group, a decision was reached to wind up the UK operations, 
effective in March 2019.
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POST YEAR-END EVENTS
As alluded to in this review, the unavoidable impact of COVID-19 
on our export markets has already affected Spanjaard’s revenue 
over the course of the lockdown period, which saw economic 
activity come to a virtual standstill in markets across the world. 
Conversely, we expect to continue generating revenue from the 
development, manufacture and sale of hand sanitiser, the  
demand for which was necessitated by the pandemic. We have 
also seen increasing demand for the manufacture of consumer 
goods, which has also contributed positively during this time. 
Furthermore, we anticipate certain ongoing delays in importing 
raw materials and packaging, as well as increased costs due to 
local currency fluctuations.

CHANGES TO THE BOARD
As mentioned in this review, the reconstitution of the Board resulted 
in improved governance, compliance and independence.

At Spanjaard’s AGM on 8 August 2019, Prof DP van der Nest, Mr 
K Welgemoed and Mr I Saunders were not returned to office and 
Ms S Hari resigned from the Board on the same date.

On 20 August 2019, Mr MJ Siddall, Mr M Notrica and Mr S Zikalala 
were appointed to the Board as independent non-executive  
directors, with Mr MJ Siddall elected as Chairman of the Board,  
Mr S Zikalala as Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee,  
Ms TN Spanjaard as Chairperson of the Social and Ethics Commit-
tee and Mr M Notrica as Chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

Ms TN Spanjaard was appointed as Acting CEO on 6 September 
2019 and Mr S Vassan Makan was appointed as Financial Director 
on 10 February 2020.

Post year-end, Mr MJ Siddall resigned, and the Company has 
since filled this vacancy, with the appointment of Mr HF Kocks 
effective 25 May. Refer to pages 12 and 13 for the individual  
biographies of all directors.

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS
South Africa represents a tough operating environment for  
Spanjaard, with the economy already in recession and with the 
country’s sovereign credit rating having been downgraded to 
sub-investment grade.

Moreover, the effects of COVID-19 are still unfolding as the coun-
try slowly emerges from lockdown in a phased approach based 
on similar international practices, as announced by the South 
African Government. The true impact of the lockdown on the 
South African and global economies are unknown. However, a 
possible outcome could be reverse globalisation, which could 
see a shift to procurement from local suppliers.

Despite the unprecedented headwinds, the potential of the  
export market remains fairly good and the upside of the depreci-
ating local currency could see the Company benefit by way  
of increased sales to export markets. To this end, we will pursue 
all attractive opportunities to grow our export market and main-
tain our focus on identifying and building relationships with 
new  distributors.

“ OUR STRATEGY IS REALISING POTENTIAL 
MARKETS SUCH AS THE PRODUCTION  
OF HAND SANITISERS”

Our strategy for the growth and sustainability of the business is 
to boost revenue and profits through new and innovative solu-
tions, by exploring the viability of new markets, and by seizing 
opportunities such as the production of hand sanitiser. Our aim 
is to realise the potential of our presence in the consumer goods 
market, which can be achieved despite the challenges.

In the year ahead, we will continue using our backup generator, 
when necessary, to mitigate the unpredictable supply of elec-
tricity and the effects this has on our production capabilities. In 
addition, any further rate increases for electricity will impact on 
our operational costs. We will also continue to closely manage 
our administrative and distribution costs, which will help to  
reduce any unnecessary expenses.

We are heartened that while Spanjaard has undergone major  
internal changes and having faced uncertainty and disruptions 
to the macroeconomic environment that directly impact our 
business, we have performed reasonably well.
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ETHICAL LEADERSHIP AND GOVERNANCE

The Board of Directors and management are committed to 
applying the principles of good governance as contained in 
the King IV Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa 
2016 (King IV). Under the stewardship of the Board, an open 
governance process is managed through which stakeholders 
may derive assurance that the Group is being managed in an 
ethical and disciplined manner according to risk parameters 
based on the principles of transparency, accountability, 
responsibility and fairness.

The Board must:

 — Act as the focal point for, and custodian of, corporate governance by man-
aging its relationship with management, the shareholders and other stake-
holders of the Company along sound corporate governance principles.

 — Appreciate that strategy, risk, performance and sustainability are inseparable 
and evaluates this by:
 – contributing to and approving the strategy.
 – satisfying itself that the strategy and business plans do not give rise to risks 

that have not been thoroughly assessed by management.
 – identifying key performance and risk areas.
 – ensuring that the strategy will result in sustainable outcomes.
 – considering sustainability as a business opportunity that guides strategy 

formulation.

 — Provide effective leadership on an ethical foundation.
 — Ensure that the Company is and is seen to be a responsible corporate citizen 

by having regard to not only the financial aspects of the business of the 
Company but also the impact that business operations have on the envi-
ronment and the society within which it operates.

 — Ensure that the Company’s ethics are managed effectively.
 — Ensure that the Company has an effective and independent Audit and Risk 

Committee.
 — Be responsible for the governance of risk.
 — Be responsible for information technology (IT) governance.
 — Ensure that the Company complies with applicable laws and considers  

adherence to non-binding rules and standards.
 — Ensure that there is an effective risk-based internal audit.
 — Appreciate that stakeholders’ perceptions affect the Company’s reputation.
 — Ensure the integrity of the Company’s integrated annual report.
 — Act in the best interests of the Company by ensuring that individual directors:

 – adhere to legal standards of conduct.
 – are permitted to take independent advice in connection with their duties 

following an agreed procedure.
 – disclose real or perceived conflicts to the Board and deal with them accordingly.
 – deal in securities only in accordance with the policy adopted by the Board.

 — Consideration of commencement of business rescue proceedings should 
the Company find itself in financial distress as defined in the Companies Act.

 — Evaluate the performance of the CEO.

“ SPANJAARD IS TO 
REVIEW THE KEY 
ISSUES FACING THE 
GROUP AND SET 
OUT THE STRATEGY 
FOR DRIVING 
SUSTAINABLE 
GROWTH.”
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The Board and the Company’s employees conduct the business 
of the Company with integrity and every effort is made to create 
a culture and value system that directors, employees and all 
stakeholders are proud to be associated with.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

COMPOSITION, INDEPENDENCE AND DIVERSITY

The Board of Directors is based on a unitary structure and due to 
the relatively small size of the Company the Board consists of four 
executive directors and three independent non-executive direc-
tors, which is in line with best practice. The Group has a policy to 
ensure a clear balance of power and authority at Board level, so 
that no one director has unfettered powers of decision making.

As at year-end the Board comprised the following members:

 — MJ Siddall (Independent Non-executive Chairman)
 — TN Spanjaard (Acting CEO)
 — S Vassan Makan (Financial Director)
 — GF Cort (Executive Director — International Operations)
 — CKT Palmer (Executive Director — Technical and Operations)
 — M Notrica (Independent Non-executive Director)
 — S Zikalala (Independent Non-executive Director)

Biographies of the abovementioned directors can be found on 
pages 12 and 13 of this report.

The Board continuously assesses the independence of its non- 
executive directors by monitoring the Company’s shareholding, 
interest in contracts and the declaration of conflicts of interest.

GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

Social and  
Ethics  

Committee

DEPARTMENT HEADS

Executive  
Committee

BOARD OF  
DIRECTORS

Audit and Risk  
Committee

Remuneration  
Committee

International 
operations

Sales and 
marketing

Finance and  
procurement

Technical, 
production 
and local 
logistics

Human  
resources
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2020 BOARD MEETING ATTENDANCE
During the year directors attended Board meetings as follows:

27 May 2019 28 Aug 2019 23 Oct 2019 10 Feb 2020
Total 

meetings
Total 

attended
% meetings

 attended

Directors

DP van der Nest
Independent Non-executive Chairman * Yes — — — 1 1 100

K Welgemoed 
Chief Executive Officer * Yes — — — 1 1 100

I Saunders
Financial Director * Yes — — — 1 1 100

GF Cort
Executive Yes Yes Yes Yes 4 4 100

CKT Palmer
Executive Yes Yes Yes Yes 4 4 100

TN Spanjaard
Marketing Director/Acting Chief Executive Officer ^ Yes Yes Yes Yes 4 4 100

S Vassan Makan
Financial Director ~ — — — Yes 1 1 100

S Hari
Independent Non-executive Director ** Yes — — — 1 1 100

MJ Siddall 
Independent Non-executive Chairman *** — Yes Yes Yes 3 3 100

M Notrica 
Independent Non-executive Director *** — Yes Yes Yes 3 3 100

S Zikalala 
Independent Non-executive Director *** — Yes Yes Yes 3 3 100

* Not returned to office at AGM on 8 August 2019.
** Resigned 8 August 2019.
*** Appointed 20 August 2019.
^ Appointed Acting Chief Executive Officer on 6 September 2019.
~ Appointed Financial Director on 10 February 2020 and joined meeting post appointment.

Spanjaard supports the objective of gender and race diversity at 
Board level. When the Board considers the appointment of new 
directors, cognisance of the Company’s policy relating to gender 
and race diversity is taken. Special attention is given to recruiting 
women as well as representatives from designated groups as  
envisaged in the Employment Equity Act with the necessary skills 
and competence as required by the Board as and when changes in 
the directorate are made. The Board has determined a voluntary 
target for female representatives at Board level of 20% (twenty 
percent) representation, which it has not met due to the resigna-
tion of Ms S Hari. The Board has, however, appointed a female as 
the Acting CEO. The Board continues to endeavour to meet the 
race and gender Board representation targets should further  
opportunities present themselves. The Board has also set the vol-
untary target of appointing representatives from designated 
groups to the Board at 20% (twenty percent) representation. Span-
jaard has exceeded this target with a representation of 29% (twen-
ty nine percent) and will continue striving to enhance the diversity 
of its Board composition.

The Board is satisfied with the mix of skills, knowledge, experi-
ence, diversity and independence of its members.

APPOINTMENT, ROTATION AND ELECTION

New directors appointed to the Board follow a formal and trans-
parent process. The Board considers its composition as critical 
for the success of the Company and it acknowledges that said 
composition could and does vary from time to time depending 
on the circumstances of the Company.

The total number of directors is determined by the Board in  
accordance with the Memorandum of Incorporation (MOI) of the 
Company which is ultimately the purview of the shareholders in 
general meeting. The Board considers the necessary skills and 
experience required in order for it to fulfil its duties based on the 
demands made by the scale and complexity of the Company’s 
operations. The present such circumstances have led the Board 
to determine that it is impractical to appoint a Nomination Com-
mittee. Accordingly, the full Board assumes responsibility for the 
selection and appointment of directors. Currently the Board con-
sists of four executive directors and three independent non- 
executive directors. The Board is considering appointing an  
additional independent non-executive director(s) in the new fi-
nancial year.
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Whether filling a vacancy or expanding the Board, the procedures 
applied by the Board, which are subject to the prescription of the 
MOI, include the selection of a panel of nominees. In selecting the 
panel of nominees, the Board draws on advice from external con-
sultants and internal industry experience, when necessary.

Potential directors are approached by the Chairman of the Board 
and their interest in joining the Board, together with the respon-
sibilities such an appointment entails, are discussed. Terms and 
conditions of the appointment, including the level of remunera-
tion, are also communicated to the nominees and reduced to 
writing regulated by appropriate contractual terms.

If the nominee is acceptable, the Board appoints the new direc-
tor(s) during the year, and that appointment is then subject to 
ratification by shareholders at the next annual general meeting 
(AGM). Shareholders are provided with relevant information on 
the candidates for election.

In terms of the Company’s MOI and its rotation policy one third of 
the non-executive directors are required to retire at each AGM. 
Such a retiring director is not precluded from offering themself/
themselves for re-election. No non-executive director will be eligi-
ble to retire. The Financial Director and non-executive directors’ 
appointments will require ratification from the shareholders at the 
next AGM.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORATE

At the AGM held on 8 August 2019 the shareholders elected not to 
return Prof DP van der Nest, Mr K Welgemoed, and Mr I Saunders 
to office. Ms S Hari resigned on the same date.

On 20 August 2019, Mr MJ Siddall, Mr M Notrica and Mr S Zikalala 
were appointed as independent non-executive directors of the 
Board, with Mr MJ Siddall elected as Chairperson.

Ms TN Spanjaard was appointed as Acting CEO on 6 September 
2019.

Mr S Vassan Makan was appointed to the Board as Financial Direc-
tor on 10 February 2020.

Post year-end Mr MJ Siddall resigned from the Board with effect 
from 31 March 2020 and Mr M Notrica was elected as interim 
Chairman of the Board. The Board has already begun and  
advanced the process of appointing Mr HF Kocks on 25 May 2020 
in accordance with the polices and approaches set out above.

CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD

The Chairman of the Board is an independent non-executive 
member with a separate role and set of responsibilities to the 
CEO. The Chairman serves a three-year term from the date of 
appointment and is eligible for re-election. The Chairman is  
required to maximise the value of the Board, act as the link  
between the Company and the shareholders, represent the 
Board and act on the Board’s behalf between meetings.

The Chairman presides over all meetings of the Board, provides 
overall leadership and ensures that Board decisions are executed. 
In order to fulfil their duties, the Chairman ensures that Board 
members receive accurate, timely and clear information to per-
form effectively. The ethical tone of the Board is set by the Chair-
man who also manages conflicts of interest of his fellow members 
of the Board. The Chairman plays an active role in the selection 
process of Board members.

CEO

The Board delegates authority to the CEO who is in turn account-
able to the Board for the development and successful implemen-
tation of the Group’s strategy and the overall management and 
performance of the Company. The CEO provides executive lead-
ership and is charged with the effective management of all opera-
tions of the Company. The CEO may delegate or sub-delegate any 
operational matter not reserved for the Board or shareholders.

MEETINGS AND PROCEDURES

The Board met four times during the year under review. The table 
on page 24 references the attendance of Board meetings. Mem-
bers of senior management, assurance providers and profes-
sional advisors attend meetings by invitation only. The Company 
Secretary is the secretary to the Board. If the nominated Chair-
man of the Board is absent from a meeting, the members present 
must elect one of the directors present to act as Chairman.

The Chairman of the Board has access to the CEO and the Financial 
Director as well as the Company Secretary prior to Board meetings 
to discuss matters of importance and to agree on the agenda.

The Board establishes an annual work plan to ensure that all rele-
vant matters are covered by the agendas of the meetings planned 
for the year. The annual plan must ensure proper coverage of the 
matters laid out in the Board charter. More critical matters are 
attended to each year while other matters are dealt with on a  
rotation basis over a three-year period.

A detailed agenda together with supporting documentation is 
circulated at least one week prior to each meeting to the mem-
bers of the Board and other invitees. Board members are obliged 
to be fully prepared for Board meetings in order to provide  
appropriate and constructive input on matters for discussion. 
The minutes are completed as soon as possible after the meeting 
and circulated to the Chairman and members of the Board for 
review thereof. The minutes are formally approved by the Board 
at its next scheduled meeting.
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BOARD’S KEY FOCUS AREAS OF 2020

During the year under review, the Board underwent a process  
of reconstitution after the outcomes of the 2019 AGM. A new set 
of independent non-executive directors was appointed within 
three (3) weeks and a new Acting CEO and Financial Director 
were subsequently appointed as noted in the directorate 
changes above.

The key focus of the newly constituted Board was to establish gov-
ernance compliance and ensure stability of the operations post 
the 2019 AGM. These included:

 — Appointing a new CEO and Financial Director;
 — Ensuring the Board Committees are properly constituted  

and quorate;
 — Navigating the exit of the erstwhile CEO and Financial 

Director;
 — Mitigation of staff despondency and anxiety;
 — Complying with JSE reporting requirements; and
 — That the business continues operating.

Other key focus areas included cementing of cash facilities to 
ensure liquidity of the operations and investigate new funding 
opportunities in order to procure necessary capital equipment. 
The Board is also in the process of reviewing the MOI and the 
various Board Committee charters.

BOARD PROCESSES

COMPANY SECRETARY

Shane Rothquel (43), the Company’s representative from Levitt 
Kirson Business Services Proprietary Limited (Levitt Kirson), holds 
an LLB and is currently in his final year of coursework for his LLM 
(Corporate Law) at UNISA. Shane is currently focused on a short 
dissertation with a research focus area in Officers’ Liability (specif-
ically Auditors’ Liability).

He has been a corporate secretarial consultant for 4,5 years, 
after a long career in legal and related practice. He also spent six 
years at Group Five assisting both the Group Legal and Compli-
ance Director, and the Group Commercial Director.

The Board of Directors is satisfied that Levitt Kirson and 
Shane Rothquel have all the necessary qualifications and is an 
independent body to act appropriately as Company Secretary.

The Company Secretary is a juristic firm and the Board assessed  
and considered the firm as a whole and the individual assigned to  
Spanjaard. Accordingly, it is concluded that an arm’s length relation-
ship with the Board and its Company Secretary is maintained.

BOARD AND COMMITTEE EFFECTIVENESS

The Board and its Committees conducts self-assessments from 
time to time to ensure the Board’s effectiveness.

DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY —  
BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board delegates certain functions to its well-structured 
Audit and Risk, Remuneration, and Social and Ethics Committees 
without abdicating its own responsibilities. Delegation is formal 
and involves the following:

 — Formal terms of reference are established and approved for 
each committee of the Board.

 — The committees’ terms of reference are only required to be  
reviewed once every three years although the review frequency 
has been increased as a result of the enhanced governance 
approach adopted by the Board and are presently reviewed 
once a year.

 — The committees are appropriately constituted with due regard 
to the skills required by each committee.

 — The Board establishes a framework for the delegation of authority 
to management.

For more information on the Audit and Risk, Remuneration, and 
Social and Ethics Committees refer to pages 28, 32 and 36  
respectively.

EXCO

While retaining overall accountability, the Board has delegated 
to the CEO the authority to run the day-to-day affairs of the 
Group. The EXCO aids the CEO in this task. The EXCO, which 
consists of all executive directors as well as other members of 
the operational management team, meets monthly to address all 
operational and financial matters of the Group.

As at year-end the EXCO comprised the following members:

 — TN Spanjaard (Acting CEO)
 — S Vassan Makan (Financial Director)
 — GF Cort (Executive Director — International Operations)
 — CKT Palmer (Executive Director — Technical and Operations)
 — BJ Wilkin (National Sales Manager)
 — M Setuse (Operations and Production Manager)
 — S Chetty (General Manager — International Operations)
 — J Naidoo (Human Resources Manager) — commenced  

March 2020
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EXCO’S KEY FOCUS AREAS OF 2020

The key focus area of 2020 was to continuously develop the 
Company’s customer base, consider new growth opportuni-
ties, increase revenue and achieve planned budgeted targets. 
The Company continued to work with its distribution partner to 
ensure delivery of its products to customers occur within the 
agreed targets as per the service level agreement. The produc-
tion, although negatively affected due to a force majeure event 
announced in July 2019 by the Company’s major gas supplier, 
was continuously optimised to meet pending orders. Although 
capital raising for the purchase of capital equipment was a 
challenge in the current year specifically due to the borrowing 
rates provided by lenders, the Company managed to finance 
important capital needs.

The executive directors and EXCO focused on the following areas:

 — Restructuring of sales departments:
 – The different South African Region sales divisions were 

consolidated and managed under one National Sales Manager.
 – The international market was identified as a high growth 

environment and Mr Cort remains tasked with the responsi-
bility of growing that market significantly.

 — New product development
 – The Company continually engages all relevant stakeholders 

to determine their needs, and where relevant and viable, 
develop solutions.

 — Policies and procedures
 – The policies and procedure work that was commenced in 

the prior year has continued in the current year and will 
remain an ongoing exercise.

BOARD AND COMMITTEE EVALUATIONS
During the year, improvements were made especially in areas of 
good governance where King IV has guided the Board in improv-
ing governance matters which included many policies and pro-
cedures which were informal in the past and are now in the 
process of being formalised. Structural changes to the Board 
and its committees have also been made as indicated above.

DIRECTORS’ DEALINGS
Directors are free to purchase securities on the open market 
after obtaining approval and advance clearance from the Chair-
man of the Board in terms of paragraph 3.66 of the JSE Listings 
Requirements. The Chairman in turn must receive clearance 
from the CEO prior to the purchase of shares. A Director may not 
deal in the Company’s shares when privy to price sensitive infor-
mation and during closed periods.

TECHNOLOGY AND  
INFORMATION GOVERNANCE
The Board is of the opinion that an effective governance struc-
ture is in place. Executive management is mandated to improve 
the overall status of information technology governance within 
the Group.

LEGAL AND REGULATORY COMPLIANCE
The Group’s compliance with legislative and regulatory require-
ments including the Companies Act, the King IV recommenda-
tions, the JSE Listings Requirements and other applicable 
legislation, is monitored by the Audit and Risk Committee and 
remains a standing agenda item for such committee meetings.

Focused attention was paid to corporate governance compli-
ance post the 2019 AGM.

The Company’s health and safety continues to be an area of focus.

The Company’s roadmap to broad-based black economic empow-
erment implementation commenced in the prior financial year. 
However, due to the major changes at Board level and executive 
level during the year, this area was not given adequate focus during 
the year. This is a priority for the 2021 financial year. 
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The Audit and Risk Committee (the Committee) 
is constituted as a statutory committee of the 
Company in respect of the statutory duties of 
section 94(7) of the Companies Act and is a 
committee of the Board in all other duties assigned 
to it by the Board.

Except with respect to the appointment, fees and terms of  
engagement of the independent external auditor, the decisions 
of the Committee do not reduce the individual and collective  
responsibilities of Board members regarding their fiduciary  
duties and responsibilities.

COMMITTEE COMPOSITION
The Committee is appointed annually by the shareholders and 
comprises three independent non-executive directors: During 
the year under review Prof DP van der Nest was not returned to 
office at the AGM and Ms S Hari resigned from the Board and all 
sub-committees. New independent non-executive directors were 
appointed and the Audit and Risk Committee comprised the fol-
lowing members at 29 February 2020.

 — Mr S Zikalala CA(SA) (Chairman)
 — Mr M Notrica
 — Mr MJ Siddall

All members of the Committee have general financial knowledge 
and relevant financial experience. Collectively, the Committee 
has an understanding of all matters that are integral to the Com-
pany’s integrated annual report.

The Committee members have considered and are of the opin-
ion that they are adequately independent from the Company and 
Group, and management thereof, within the spirit of the Code of 
Corporate Practices and Conduct.

The external auditors of the Group, Nexia SAB&T, have unrestricted 
access to the Committee.

COMMITTEE CHARTER
The Committee is governed by a written charter which is subject 
to the provisions of the Companies Act and the Company’s MOI, 
as well as any other applicable law or regulatory provision.

The primary purpose of the Committee is assisting the Board in:

 — Ensuring the continued independence of the independent  
auditor.

 — Overseeing the external audit process.
 — Overseeing integrated reporting.
 — Applying the combined assurance model to ensure a coordi-

nated approach to all assurance activities.
 — Reviewing the expertise, resources and experience of the  

finance function.
 — Considering the appropriateness of the expertise and expe-

rience of the Financial Director.
 — Appointing, if required, and overseeing the internal audit 

function.
 — Overseeing of internal controls and financial reporting.
 — Risk assessment and oversight.

MEETINGS
Three Committee meetings were held during the year under  
review, and meeting attendance is referenced in the table below. 
The CEO and the Financial Director are invited to attend for all or 
part of any meeting as and when considered appropriate by the 
Committee. The external auditors are invited to attend meetings 
of the Committee on a regular basis. The Committee proposed 
all decisions of the meetings to the Board of Directors, which 
then authorised any decisions made.

THE COMMITTEE’S KEY FOCUS AREAS OF 2020
The following actions were taken by the Committee during the 
year under review:

 — The financial statements for 2019 were discussed at Com-
mittee meetings and recommended to the Board for approval.

 — The Committee in striving to conform to its regulatory framework, 
has reappointed an external service provider to assist in the pub-
lishing of the integrated annual report and will ensure that the 
King IV requirements are met.

 — The Committee approved the unaudited interim financial  
results for the six months ended 31 August 2019.

 — The Committee approved the External Audit Report and Man-
agement letter for the 2019 financial year.

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE MEETING ATTENDANCE

27 May 2019 23 Oct 2019 7 Feb 2020
Total 

meetings
Total 

attended
% meetings 

attended

Members

S Hari * Yes — — 1 1 100

DP van der Nest ** Yes — — 1 1 100

S Zikalala*** — Yes Yes 2 2 100

M Notrica *** — Yes Yes 2 2 100

MJ Siddall *** — Yes Yes 2 2 100

* Resigned 8 August 2019.
** Not returned to office as Board member at AGM on 8 August 2019.
*** Appointed 20 August 2019.
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 — The Committee ensured compliance with IFRS and the JSE 
Listings Requirements.

 — The Committee assessed the Company’s five-year review.
 — The Committee assessed the existing policies and procedures.
 — The Committee conducted a tender process to appoint new 

auditors and recommended Nexia SAB&T to be appointed 
as auditors.

 — The audit plan for the year ended 29 February 2020 was  
addressed and approved. This was subject to the timeline  
discussed with management and external auditors and taking 
into account the lockdown that was announced in South 
Africa in March 2020.

 — The Committee also reviewed the qualifications and expe-
rience of the Financial Director before proposing appointment 
to be made by the Board.

 — The Committee highlighted and discussed any instances of 
actual, suspected or alleged fraud risks reported by man-
agement that might be affecting the Company on a regular basis.

 — The review of the operational and strategic risk registers.
 — The Committee considered all communications and directives 

issued by the JSE including the proactive monitoring of the  
financial statements with the specific focus on the new  
financial instruments (IFRS 9) and revenue standards (IFRS 15).

 — The Committee discussed and reviewed the management  
accounts which included reviews on a monthly basis as pro-
vided by management.

 — The Committee monitored the whistleblowing platforms

THE COMMITTEE’S FUTURE FOCUS AREAS
Going forward, the Committee will be focused on the following:

 — Ongoing reviews of the Company’s financial performance.
 — The 2020 financial statements will be discussed at Committee 

meetings.
 — The external audit report and management letter for the 2020 

financial year will be reviewed.
 — Continued compliance with IFRS and the JSE Listings Require-

ments.
 — The 2021 budget and business plan will be reviewed.
 — Approval of unaudited interim financial results for the six 

months ended 31 August 2020.
 — The risk register will be a standing item on the agenda to 

ensure that strategic and operational risks are being moni-
tored and that effective controls are in place. Addressing the 
risks identified in the risk register and the mitigation strat-
egies of minimising this to an acceptable risk appetite.

 — The Committee will continuously identify any ad hoc internal 
audit assignments to ensure internal controls are effective and 
assign these to an external service provider where appropriate.

INDEPENDENT EXTERNAL AUDITORS

APPOINTMENT AND INDEPENDENCE

The Committee considers and makes recommendations to the 
Board, to be put to shareholders for approval at the annual gen-
eral meetings of the Company, in relation to the appointment, 
re-appointment and removal of the Company’s independent  
auditors. The Committee oversees the selection process for new 
auditors and if an auditor resigns the Committee investigates the 
issues leading to this and decides whether any action is required.

The Committee oversees the relationship with the independent 
auditors which includes:

 — determining their remuneration, whether fees for audit or 
non-audit services;

 — approving their terms of engagement, including any  
engagement letter issued at the start of each audit and the 
scope of the audit;

 — assessing their independence and objectivity annually, taking 
into account relevant professional and regulatory require-
ments and the relationship with the auditor as a whole,  
including the provision of any non-audit services;

 — satisfying itself that there are no relationships (such as family, 
employment, investment, financial or business) between the 
auditors and the Company (other than in the ordinary course 
of business);

 — agreeing with the Board a policy on the employment of former 
employees of the Company’s auditors, then monitoring the 
implementation of this policy;

 — monitoring the auditors’ compliance with relevant ethical and 
professional guidance on the rotation of audit partners, the 
level of fees paid by the Company compared to the overall fee 
income of the firm, office and partner and other related  
requirements; 

 — assessing annually their qualifications, expertise and resources 
and the effectiveness of the audit process which shall include 
a report from the independent auditors on their own internal 
quality procedures; and

 — considering the risk of the withdrawal of the Company’s audi-
tors from the market.

The Committee ensures that the appointment of the auditor 
complies with the Companies Act, the Auditing Profession Act 
and other relevant legislation. The Committee approved the  
reappointment of PwC as the external auditors of the Company. 
In December 2019, PwC resigned as external auditors of the 
Company. The Audit Committee engaged with PwC to determine 
reasons for the resignation. The Committee initiated a tender 
process for a new auditor and recommended to the Board that 
Nexia SAB&T be appointed as external auditors of the Company.

The Committee meets regularly with the independent auditors, 
including once at the planning stage before the audit and once 
after the audit at the reporting stage. The Committee meets the 
independent auditors, without management being present, to 
discuss their remit and any issues arising from the audit.
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It is the duty of the Committee to review and approve the annual 
audit plan and ensure that it is consistent with the scope of the 
audit engagement and it reviews the findings of the audit with 
the independent auditors. This shall include but not be limited to, 
the following:

 — a discussion of any major issues which arose during the audit;
 — a discussion and review of any problems or difficulties with 

management’s response to audit issues, and overseeing any 
disagreements between management and the auditors if 
they arise;

 — any accounting and audit judgements; and
 — levels of errors identified during the audit.

The Committee has considered the independence requirements 
of the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors and carried 
out procedures as considered necessary to satisfy itself that the 
auditors of Spanjaard Limited were independent as defined by 
the Companies Act of South Africa.

NON-AUDIT SERVICES PROVIDED  
BY THE EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The Committee must distinguish between audit and non-audit 
services and has developed and implemented a policy on the 
supply of non-audit services by the independent auditors, taking 
into account any relevant ethical guidance on the matter. There 
were no non-audit services provided by the external auditors 
during the Financial Year.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
AND ACCOUNTING PRACTICES
The Committee monitors the integrity of the financial statements 
of the Company, including its annual and half-yearly reports, pre-
liminary results announcements and any other formal announce-
ment relating to its financial performance, reviewing significant 
financial reporting issues and judgements which they contain.

The Committee is obliged to review the summary financial state-
ments, significant financial returns to regulators and any finan-
cial information contained in certain other documents, such as 
announcements of a price sensitive nature, provided that such 
monitoring and review is not inconsistent with any requirement 
for prompt reporting under the JSE Listings Requirements.

The Committee assesses whether any major issues exist regarding 
accounting principles and financial statement presentations,  
including any significant changes in the Company’s selection or 
application of accounting principles; major issues as to the ade-
quacy of the Company’s internal controls; and any special audit 
steps adopted in light of material control deficiencies. This was 
done in conjunction with reviewing the analyses prepared by man-
agement, the independent auditor setting forth financial reporting 
issues and judgments made in connection with the preparation of 
the financial statements. No such issues were identified.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND INTERNAL AUDIT
The responsibility for the operation of these systems of internal 
controls lies with the executive directors who review them regularly 
to be satisfied that they are appropriate to provide reasonable  
assurance against material misstatement or loss. Because of this 
compensating control and the small size of the Group, it is the view 
of the Board that internal audit engagements will be conducted 
from time to time as the Committee deems necessary.

The control systems include established policies and procedures, 
limits of authority, delegation and detailed reporting mechanisms, 
with comparisons against expectations and budgets. These con-
trol systems are communicated throughout the organisation and 
are relied upon to provide reasonable and not absolute assurance.

Since 1 November 2004 the Company has implemented ISO 9001 
as an additional system to complement its internal controls. The 
SABS renewed the certification ISO 9001:2015 on 7 August 2018 
without major non-compliances. The Company’s current certifi-
cate is valid until 1 November 2021.

The Committee understands the scope of the internal and inde-
pendent auditor’s review of internal control over financial reporting 
and obtains reports on significant findings and recommendations, 
together with management responses.

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for the Group’s 
systems of internal financial controls which have been estab-
lished in order to provide reasonable assurance for the safe-
guarding of assets against unauthorised use or disposal and the 
maintenance of proper and reliable accounting records and  
financial information. These controls have been effective in the 
current financial year and remain effective on 7 July 2020.

The Committee confirms that the system of internal control  
applied by the Company over financial management is effective, 
efficient and transparent.

Due to the size of the Company being small, the Committee and 
Board have the discretion to request an internal audit be performed 
if they deem it necessary. During the current year no internal audit 
was conducted by the Company.

The Committee continuously reviews the Company’s arrange-
ments for its employees to raise concerns, in confidence, about 
possible wrongdoing in financial reporting or other matters and 
ensures that these arrangements allow proportionate and inde-
pendent investigation of such matters and appropriate follow-up 
action. It must also review the Company’s procedures for detect-
ing and preventing fraud and bribery and receiving reports on 
non-compliance. The Company has also established an anony-
mous whistleblowing platform (that is independently and regu-
larly monitored) that enables internal or external stakeholders to 
report any unethical behaviour, theft, fraud or related activity 
within the Company.

A process is in place allowing the Committee to be informed of any 
reportable irregularities (as identified in the Auditing Profession 
Act, 2005) identified and reported by the independent auditors.

Refer to page 22 of the corporate governance report for more 
information on ethical leadership and governance.
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GOING CONCERN
The Board has formally considered the going concern assump-
tion for Spanjaard and its subsidiaries. The Board, in assessing 
the going concern, considered the impact that the COVID-19 
virus has had on the business, and has no reason to believe that 
the Company and Group will not operate as a going concern in 
the foreseeable future. Please refer to note 33 on page 85 of the 
annual financial statements for the going concern assessment.

OVERSIGHT OF RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group’s focus of risk management is on identifying, assessing, 
managing and monitoring all known categories of risk across the 
Group. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the Group 
endeavours to reduce it by ensuring that the appropriate infra-
structure, controls, systems and ethical behaviours are applied and 
managed within predetermined procedures and constraints.

The Committee plays an oversight role in matters related to risk as 
well as financial and internal controls. Refer to page 08 of this inte-
grated annual report for more information on risk management.

COMBINED ASSURANCE
It is a duty of this Committee to ensure that a combined assur-
ance model is applied to provide a coordinated approach to all 
assurance activities, and that the combined assurance received 
is appropriate to address all the significant risks facing the Com-
pany, while actively monitoring the relationship between the  
external assurance providers and the Company.

EVALUATION OF FINANCIAL DIRECTOR, 
FINANCE FUNCTION AND THE COMMITTEE
The Committee has satisfied itself, that the Financial Director, 
S Vassan Makan, has the appropriate expertise and experience, 
and it has considered and satisfied itself of the appropriateness 
of the expertise, experience and adequacy of resources of the 
Company’s finance function.

The Committee likewise conducts self assessments from time to 
time to determine its effectiveness.

INTEGRATED REPORTING
The Committee has reviewed the integrated annual report for the 
2020 financial year to ensure that it is consistent with operation-
al, financial and other information made available to the Commit-
tee. The Committee has satisfied itself of the integrity of the  
integrated annual report, ensuring that the report is prepared 
using appropriate reporting standards, which conform to the  
requirements of King IV and the JSE Listings Requirements. The 
Committee has recommended the 2020 integrated annual re-
port to the Board for approval, based on the processes and as-
surances obtained.

In light of the above, the Committee confirms that it:

 — has reviewed and discussed the audited annual financial 
statements to be included in the integrated annual report;

 — has reviewed the external auditor’s report;
 — has reviewed and is satisfied with the level of expertise and 

experience of the Financial Director and the finance function;
 — has reviewed the Company’s compliance with legal and regu-

latory provisions;
 — has noted that all adjustments resulting from the audit were 

implemented and that no material unadjusted audit differ-
ences remained; and

 — concurs with and accepts the external auditor’s report on the 
annual financial statements.

Sifiso Zikalala
Chairperson of the Audit Committee

7 July 2020
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INTRODUCTION FROM THE CHAIRMAN  
OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
In accordance with the reporting requirements of King IV,  
we present our remuneration report for the year ended 
29  February  2020. The report comprises three sections 
namely: the background statement, the remuneration policy 
and concluding with the implementation report.

As required by King IV, shareholders will be asked to vote, by way 
of a non-binding advisory vote, on the remuneration policy as 
well as the implementation report at the AGM, taking place on 
15  September 2020. As required by the Companies Act, non- 
executive remuneration for the coming year will also be put to 
shareholders by way of a special resolution.

We require 75% affirmative vote for both the remuneration policy 
as well as the implementation report. Should we fail to achieve 
the required majority vote, we will outline the process and timing 
of our proposed engagement with shareholders at the same time 
that we announce the results of our AGM.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING —  
VOTING ON REMUNERATION
In terms of the Companies Act, fees for non-executive directors 
for their services as directors must be submitted for approval by 
special resolution by shareholders within the two years preced-
ing payment. Additionally, a resolution to cast a non-binding  
advisory vote in respect of the remuneration policy is presented 
to shareholders.

RESULTS OF THE 2019 ANNUAL  
GENERAL MEETING
At the AGM held on 8 August 2019, the resolutions that were pre-
sented to shareholders and voted on are set out below:

6 450 587 out of 8 142 500 (79%) eligible shares attended the 
meeting and voted as follows:

SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 3

Approval of the remuneration of non-executive 
directors for services as directors for the following year
Votes in favour: 92,63%
Votes against: 0,07%
Abstentions: 7,30%

NON-BINDING ADVISORY VOTE

Remuneration policy
Votes in favour: 6,32%
Votes Against: 91,20%
Abstentions: 2,48%

SECTION 1: BACKGROUND
The Remuneration Committee (the Committee) was reconstituted 
during the financial year. Due to the existing policy being voted 
against at the AGM a new remuneration policy is in the process of 
being developed for approval by the Board for implementation 
and subsequent approval by the shareholders at the next AGM. 

This report is based on the existing policy approved by the Board.

Due to the Board changes that occurred in August 2019, the  
Remuneration Committee (the Committee) was reconstituted 
later during the year. The Committee comprises of Mr M Notrica 
(Chairperson) as well as Mr MJ Siddall, both Independent non- 
executive directors. Due to the size of the Board, reconstruction 
of the Board and the limited complexity of the Group, it was  
decided that two independent non-executive directors making 
up the Committee is sufficient to discharge all duties required of 
the Committee.

The Committee has an independent role, overseeing and making 
recommendations to the Board for its consideration and final  
approval. The Committee does not assume the functions of man-
agement.

The role of the Committee is to assist the Board to ensure that:

 — The directors, executives and prescribed officers are remu-
nerated fairly and responsibly with the long-term interests of 
the Company in mind;

 — The remuneration report and disclosure of director and other 
executive remuneration is simple to read and understand,  
accurate and complete; and

 — An effective remuneration policy is in place, aligned with the 
Company’s strategy, and is applied consistently throughout 
the entity at all employee levels.

The Committee must perform all the functions necessary to fulfil 
its role as stated above and includes the following:

(i)  Overseeing the establishment and maintenance of a remu-
neration philosophy and policy that will promote the 
achievement of the strategic objectives and performance 
in line with Board objectives;

(ii)  Overseeing the preparation and recommendation to the 
Board of the remuneration report, to be included in the 
integrated annual report;

(iii)  Managing the stakeholder relations with investors and  
other stakeholders deemed appropriate on remuneration 
matters at the AGM and throughout the year;

(iv)  Ensuring that the remuneration policy is put to a non-binding 
advisory vote at the AGM of shareholders;

(v)  Reviewing the effectiveness of the implementation of the 
remuneration policy so as to establish whether the Board’s 
set objectives are being met;

(vi)  Ensuring that the structure and mix of fixed and variable 
pay, in cash, shares and other elements, meets the Board’s 
objectives;

(vii)  Overseeing the setting of remuneration quanta and terms 
and conditions for fixed and variable pay at all levels in the 
Company, but especially at senior executive, prescribed 
officer and Board level. This includes recommending the 
mandate to the Board for union negotiations;

(viii)  Satisfying itself as to the accuracy of recorded performance 
measures that govern the vesting of incentives;

(ix)  Ensuring that all benefits, including retirement benefits and 
other financial arrangements, are justified and appropriately 
valued;
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(x)  Liaising with the Board on the succession plans of senior 
management;

(xi)  Liaising with other Board Committees, including the Audit 
and Risk Committee and the Social and Ethics Committee, 
on remuneration affairs in the broader context of risk,  
disclosure and social responsibility matters;

(xii)  Ensuring an appropriate comparator group is selected 
when comparing remuneration levels;

(xiii)  Ensuring that fixed and variable pay are compared against 
relevant market comparators on a regular basis to establish 
compliance with the remuneration policy and strategy;

(xiv)  Formulating and recommending to the Board the remuner-
ation of non-executive directors for final approval by the 
shareholders; and

(xv)  Ensuring that the Chair of the Committee, or in his/her  
absence an appointed deputy, attends the annual general 
meeting or similar forums to answer questions about remu-
neration.

The attendance at the Committee meeting during the year is  
as follows:

Name 27 May 2019
S Hari (Chairperson) Attended

DP van der Nest Attended

The CEO attended the meeting on 27 May 2019 by invitation.

A meeting scheduled on 17 February 2020 could not take place 
due to sudden non-availability of Mr MJ Siddall, and the meeting 
was subsequently held on 19 March 2020.

FACTORS INFLUENCING REMUNERATION

South Africa’s stagnating economy, together with lower inflation 
during 2019 influenced the quantum of increases that were able 
to be afforded to the Group’s staff. Around one third of the Com-
pany’s staff are members of the Chemical, Energy, Paper, Print-
ing, Wood and Allied Workers Union (CEPPWAWU). The Group has 
a good working relationship with the union and salary increases 
and other working conditions were agreed to in June 2019 with-
out incident. The Company is currently busy with negotiations 
with CEPPWAWU for increases for the new financial year.

For executives, remuneration was recommended by the CEO and 
ratified by the Remuneration Committee and thereafter the 
Board. Although the Group is not a member of any bargaining 
councils at present, it does monitor the substantive agreements 
signed with members of the chemical industry and ensure that 
remuneration levels and practices are kept in line with indus-
try standards.

The Committee will review and assess the impact of the outbreak 
of the Coronavirus and subsequent lockdown in South Africa  
announced in March 2020 post the lockdown in order to deter-
mine salary increases for the upcoming financial year.

KEY FOCUS AREAS AND DECISIONS  
TAKEN BY THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

A new remuneration policy was drafted and approved by the 
Board for implementation during the 2019 financial year. However, 
the policy was voted against by the shareholders at the following 
AGM. The key area of focus during the upcoming year will be to 
develop a new remuneration policy for approval by the Board  
followed by shareholder approval at the next AGM.

A job grading exercise was undertaken during March and April 
2019 and this was used when making the salary adjustments in 
July 2019. Future projects will include the design and implemen-
tation of a performance measurement and management system.

USE OF REMUNERATION CONSULTANTS

An external consultant was utilised to assist with the job grading 
process completed in April 2019.

The Committee has requested that an independent external con-
sultant be used to benchmark the executive directors’ current 
packages against market and company related equivalents in 
order to assist the Committee in determining remuneration 
packages for the executive directors for the 2020/2021 finan-
cial year.

SECTION 2: REMUNERATION POLICY

INTRODUCTION

The below remuneration policy was adopted by the Board for the 
2019 financial year, prior to the AGM and replaces the informal 
remuneration policy that preceded it.

The remuneration policy addresses remuneration of Spanjaard 
employees throughout the business. The remuneration policy is 
intended to support the key strategic objectives of the business 
by ensuring that the Group remunerates fairly, responsibly and 
transparently. This should result in the Group achieving positive 
short-, medium- and long-term outcomes. The intended out-
comes of the Group’s remuneration policy are that the Company 
can retain and attract the best people for the job, as well as to 
ensure that executive remuneration is fair and responsible in the 
context of overall employee remuneration in the Group. The  
remuneration policy should also promote an ethical and respon-
sible corporate citizenship.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for setting and  
reviewing the remuneration policy and strategy which the Board 
must approve.

REMUNERATION PHILOSOPHY

The Company aims to be able to recruit, reward, maintain and  
motivate staff members in all operations of the business. For this to 
be effective remuneration should be and be seen to be fair across 
the broad spectrum of employees. Although fairness can be seen 
to be subjective, it can be achieved by remuneration being free 
from discrimination, self-interest, prejudice and favouritism.

Remuneration should be as objective as possible with the princi-
ple of equal work for equal pay being applied as best as possible 
taking other factors such as length of service and performance 
into account.

The Company benchmarks all positions against other employees 
both within the Company and against similar companies in 
the sector.
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The Company also acknowledges that all workers should receive 
a minimum level of remuneration that enables them to partici-
pate in the economy and therefore enforces a Company-wide 
minimum salary significantly larger than the proposed national 
minimum wage.

REMUNERATION STRUCTURE

All employees including management and executive directors are 
employed on a total guaranteed package (TGP) basis. Guaranteed 
package levels are discussed with relevant managers and then 
recommended by the CEO after taking all market benchmarks,  
individual experience, current performance, future career pro-
gression and resource availability into account.

On 1 March usually every year, an adjustment is made to all  
employees’ salaries considering guidance from supervisors and 
executive management. Negotiations with unions are also con-
ducted before adjustments are made. Once discussed at an 
EXCO level, proposed salaries are presented to the Remunera-
tion Committee for final approval.

TGP (applicable to all staff) is made up of a cash component, car 
allowance (if applicable), provident fund contribution as well as risk 
benefits. Staff members have various options of benefit categories 
to choose from, with retirement contribution percentages chang-
ing as well as the inclusion or exclusion of certain risk benefits.

SHORT-TERM INCENTIVES (STIS)

STIs are applicable in various formats. The STI Programme for 
top management (EXCO) is cash-based awards determined by 
Company and individual performance.

 — Before any incentive payments are considered, the financial 
performance of the group is considered.

 — An overarching requirement — a certain level of group profit 
after tax is considered before any STI becomes applicable.

 — 70% of the STI is based on the outperformance of the 
Company over the minimum level of profit after tax.

 — 30% of the STI is based on individual performance measures 
according to the KPIs set by the Remuneration Committee 
and the Board.

 — It is the Company’s philosophy that as the executives all work 
as a team in most aspects of the business, the overarching  
financial success of the Company is attributed to the team 
at large.

 — Individual performance measures can also include various  
financial measures applicable to individual’s responsibilities 
for example, export sales growth, reduction in wastage,  
improved quality metrics, new product introduction and per-
formance, safety targets, etc.

 — The financial targets are approved by the Remuneration Com-
mittee and are ratified by the main Board on an annual basis 
and take into account specifically, HEPS growth, cash flow, 
and operating profit. The Committee has the power to make 
adjustments to the proposed STIs as deemed necessary,  
taking all circumstances into account.

All other staff may be awarded STIs based on exceptional perfor-
mance outside the boundaries of their general duties (not “busi-
ness-as-usual”) at management’s discretion.

The underlying need of the business to invest capital back into 
the business should be considered before any incentives are  
approved for payment.

Cash STIs, if applicable, will be paid in the month following the 
publication of the Group’s audited financial statements.

All specifics regarding the implementation of the policy includ-
ing specific KPIs and financial targets are agreed with the execu-
tives annually and form part of their employment contracts.

The Committee has taken care in setting the targets and will con-
tinue to make sure that sufficient controls are in place to prevent 
behaviour contrary to the Group’s risk management approach 
and does not drive unethical or unnecessarily risky behaviour in 
order to achieve incentive targets.

If at any stage, financial performance indicators are restated in 
future years for whatever reason, the Company will recover any 
incentives already paid that would not have been applicable 
should the correct indicators have been published at the time.

LONG-TERM INCENTIVES (LTIS)

The Company does not currently have any LTI programme in 
place due to the following reasons:

 — The Company’s shares are fairly illiquid and do not trade reg-
ularly on the JSE.

 — The share price does not reflect the net asset value of the 
Company and it does not move in line with the performance 
of the Company.

 — Due to this volatility none of the traditional LTI structures, 
such as share plans and appreciation rights schemes, make 
sense for the Company to implement.

 — The Remuneration Committee will continue to investigate if 
and how best to implement LTIs over the coming financial 
year but believes that STIs are the most appropriate way to 
reward performance at this stage.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Non-executive directors are paid a fixed monthly retainer for their 
services. The non-executive remuneration is benchmarked using 
surveys provided by the Institute of Directors of South Africa or 
other relevant surveys available at the time. Due to the small size 
and nature of the Spanjaard Board, this is considered appropri-
ate for the Company. Non-executive directors do not participate 
in LTI or STI plans.

The Board recommends the fees payable to the Chairman and 
non-executive directors for approval by the shareholders.
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The following tables disclose the total remuneration received 
and receivable by non-executive directors:

Non-executive director remuneration

R’000 2020 2019 %

 DP van der Nest **

Basic fees 86 195

Total remuneration 86 195 (56)

S Hari ***

Basic fees 86 195

Total remuneration 86 195 (56)

BL Montgomery  *

Basic fees — 98

Total remuneration — 98 (100)

MJ Siddall ~

Basic fees 104 —

Total remuneration 104 — 100

M Notrica ~

Basic fees 104 —

Total remuneration 104 — 100

S Zikalala ~

Basic fees 104 —

Total remuneration 104 — 100

*  Resigned 31 August 2018.
**  Not returned to office at AGM on 8 August 2019.
***  Resigned 8 August 2019.
~  Appointed 20 August 2019.

SECTION 3: IMPLEMENTATION REPORT
The following tables disclose the total remuneration received 
and receivable by executive directors whilst being directors of 
the Company:

Executive director remuneration

R’000 2020 2019 %

K Welgemoed  1, 5

Basic salary 1 448 1 588

Retirement funding 170 229

Guaranteed package 1 618 1 817 (11,0)

Short-term incentives — —

Other 4 346 —

Total remuneration 1 964 1 817 8,1

R’000 2020 2019 %

I Saunders 1, 5

Basic salary 873 978

Retirement funding 79 104

Guaranteed package 952 1 082 (12,0)

Short-term incentives — —

Other 4 200 — —

Total remuneration 1 152 1 082 6,5

TN Spanjaard 2

Basic salary 952 823

Retirement funding 33 31

Guaranteed package 1 002 854 17,3

Short-term incentives — —

Total remuneration 1002 854 17,3

GF Cort
Basic salary 1 373 1 307

Retirement funding 155 148

Guaranteed package 1 528 1 455 5,0

Short-term incentives — —

Total remuneration 1 528 1 455 5,0

CKT Palmer
Basic salary 967 921

Retirement funding 152 145

Guaranteed package 1 119 1 066 5,0

Short-term incentives — —

Total remuneration 1 119 1 066 5,0

S Vassan Makan 3

Basic salary 66 —

Retirement funding — —

Guaranteed package 66 — 100

Short-term incentives — —

Total remuneration 66 — 100

1 Not returned to office at AGM on 8 August 2019.
2  Appointed Acting CEO on 6 September 2019. Ms Spanjaard’s salary was increased by 33% on 

6 September 2019 due to being appointed Acting CEO.
3  Appointed as Financial Director 10 February 2020.
4 Other consists of outstanding leave paid out and ex-gratia payment.
5  Mr Welgemoed and Mr Saunders resigned as employees from the Company on 31 December 2019 

and 15 December 2019 respectively.

Sifiso Zikalala 
(Committee Member) on behalf of the Chairman Masliah Notrica

7 July 2020
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SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE
The Social and Ethics Committee (the Committee) was formed in 
2012 to assist the Board with the oversight of social and ethics 
matters around sustainability, corporate governance, legislation 
and prevailing codes of best practice relating to the Company.

The Committee promotes responsibility, accountability, fairness 
and transparency that promotes and sustains:

 — social and economic development; 
 — good corporate citizenship;
 — environmental responsibility;
 — fair labour practices; and
 — good consumer relations.

As at year-end the Committee comprised:

 — Ms TN Spanjaard (Chairperson)
 — Mr S Zikalala (Independent Non-executive Director)
 — Mr CKT Palmer

Biographies of the abovementioned directors can be found on 
pages 12 and 13 of this report.

MEETING ATTENDANCE

The Committee is mandated by its charter to meet at least four 
times a year. During the current financial year only two meetings 
were held by the Committee due to changes in the Board that 
had to be addressed post the AGM. The Committee has ad-
dressed all relevant items in line with its terms of reference and 
reported accordingly to the Board and its shareholders at the 
Company’s AGM.

As per its mandate and terms of reference, the Committee is  
required to conduct an annual self-assessment which is yet to take 
place as a result of the changes to the Board and subsequently the 
Committee. As a result of a reconstituted Board following the Com-
pany’s AGM, the Committee was subsequently reconstituted in 
line with good governance and a solid ethical foundation.

The Committee evaluates and effectively manages the Compa-
ny’s operational, health and safety matters, and analyses any 
shortcomings previously identified. The Company appointed an 
Employment Equity Manager in the prior year to lead the Employ-
ment Equity and Skills Committee comprising employees who 
were nominated as members and has an approved employment 
equity plan.

The Committee reports to the Board on environmental concerns 
that could affect the business of the Company on a local and  
international scale. Compliance with local and international quality 
and regulatory standards are consistently monitored and updated 
to ensure that the Company maintains a high standard and is  
successfully positioned to compete in the international arena.

In meeting the challenges of an ever-changing world, mitigating 
environmental risks and preserving natural resources, Spanjaard 
monitors its carbon usage and the effects it has on the environ-
ment. We have established that Spanjaard is below the taxable 
and reporting threshold of National GHG Emissions Reporting 
Regulations, but the Committee continues to monitor the Com-
pany’s carbon usage and impact on the environment.

Radical economic transformation remains a crucial challenge for 
the Company and in striving to continuously promote an environ-
ment of socio-economic equity, the Company endeavours to 
align itself with this regulatory framework around B-BBEE. Atten-
tion will be given to skills development and training and the Com-
pany is also working towards partnering with local small and 
micro-enterprises. The Committee is addressing all elements of 
the scorecard to guide the organisation towards improving com-
pliance and enhancing its annual contributor rating.

The Committee is addressing and formulating policies that will 
form the basis and guidelines to ensure compliance with legisla-
tion and good business practice.

The Committee’s responsibilities remain clear and in support of the 
Company’s mandate on good corporate governance. It ensures 
that an ethical foundation exists upon which the Company oper-
ates and transacts with integrity for the benefit of its stakeholders.

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
Sustainability reporting is an ongoing process for setting organ-
isational strategy, implementing action plans and assessing  
outcomes. It lends support to continuous improvement in per-
formance over time.

SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE MEETING ATTENDANCE

Members 23 May 2019 7 Feb 2020
Total

meetings
Total

attended
% meetings

attended

S Hari * Yes — 1 1 100

TN Spanjaard Yes Yes 2 2 100

CKT Palmer Yes Yes 2 2 100

S Zikalala ~ — Yes 1 1 100

* Resigned 8 August 2019.
~ Appointed 20 August 2019.
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The Company’s approach to sustainability recognises the following:

 — realising a positive return on shareholders’ investment;
 — the importance of customers, suppliers, service providers 

and other key stakeholders; and
 — maintaining staff relationships.

LABOUR RELATIONS

Approximately 30% of Spanjaard’s employees are members of 
the Chemical, Energy, Paper, Printing, Wood and Allied Workers 
Union (CEPPWAWU) and the Company has maintained a good 
working relationship with the union.

Apart from continuously working towards better working condi-
tions in the workplace, we are also determined to address the 
skills development and training efforts that will ultimately benefit 
the quality of life of all our employees.

We are very proud of the fact that many of our employees have 
displayed their loyalty to the business by serving with us for more 
than a decade and we generally have a very low staff turnover rate.

B-BBEE

In recognising the risk of a non-compliant B-BBEE scorecard, we 
are focusing on achieving a compliant status during the 2021  
financial year by addressing the shortcomings found. Attention 
will be given to skills development and training and we are work-
ing towards partnering with local small and micro-enterprises. 
This process is being monitored under the auspices of the Social 
and Ethics Committee.

EMPLOYMENT EQUITY

In order to be compliant with the Employment Equity Act, various 
measures have been implemented in the workplace to ensure 
that the objectives of the Act are attained. Spanjaard continues 
to engage with the Department of Labour to ensure compliance 
with regard to all provisions of this Act.

We have continued to focus on increasing awareness of equita-
ble and fair treatment among our workforce in order to eliminate 
any possible unfair discrimination. We have implemented affirm-
ative action measures to redress the disadvantages in employ-
ment experienced by designated groups and women and people 
with disabilities. To this extent the Board’s employment equity 
representation increased from 14% in the prior year to 29%. Sim-
ilarly, the employment equity representation at EXCO has risen 
from 22% in the prior year to 43% at year-end and to 50% post 
year-end. At year-end, 80% of the staff complement were desig-
nated as employment equity

We have also performed annual staff evaluations in order to  
address the employment equity challenges. Staff skills develop-
ment and training initiatives are being put in place to provide 
more opportunities for staff to grow within the organisation 
which enhances staff loyalty.

WOMEN EMPOWERMENT

Spanjaard embraces women empowerment and strives to  
increase women participation across all levels. At year-end 39% of 
the workforce comprised women. The Company also appointed a 
woman as the Acting CEO and female representation at EXCO 
level has increased from 11% to 25%.

HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENT

Continued emphasis is being placed on providing a safe operat-
ing environment for our employees and conserving our environ-
ment and natural resources. In an effort to continue to improve 
on health and safety matters, a comprehensive review of our cur-
rent policies and procedures will be carried out in the 2021 finan-
cial year to identify areas of improvement.

We have adopted a more inclusive approach with respect to staff 
communication to ensure that staff are regularly included in and 
educated about Company activities. Staff input is encouraged 
and any complaints are addressed by management. There are 
multiple channels through which employees are able to commu-
nicate including an anonymous whistleblowing facility that was 
recently established.

EMPLOYEE HEALTH AND BENEFITS

Our employees play an integral part in the success and future 
growth of the Company. The Group continues to provide  
employee benefits to its workforce including:

 — provident fund;
 — medical aid;
 — disability, death and funeral cover; and
 — skills development and training.

EMPLOYEE SAFETY

The safety of our employees is a core priority. Through our estab-
lished Occupational Health and Safety Committee which meets 
quarterly to assess any risk areas and required actions to mitigate 
them, we promote and maintain a safe operating environment.  
It is the goal of the Committee to provide training in respect of 
fire and first aid, and to develop systems and standards through-
out our operations. The Committee devises the necessary emer-
gency and recovery plans and ensures that precautions are taken 
to prevent injuries and incidents.

With the emergence of the Coronavirus pandemic at beginning 
of January 2020 and the subsequent rapid spread of the virus 
throughout the world, we have since and continue to implement 
the necessary preventative regulations as required by the World 
Health Organization to aid in the prevention of employees from 
being infected. This involves practising hygiene by sanitising the 
workplace more frequently, allowing for remote work, social dis-
tancing at the workplace and conforming to local and interna-
tional guidelines and regulations. We have also implemented a 
standard operating procedure highlighting the practices to be 
implemented during the pandemic.

ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT

We acknowledge the effects that the Group’s operational and 
other activities have on the environment. The Committee has  
reiterated that responsible and practical ways of improving  
efforts to address the Company’s environmental impact is  
reviewed regularly by management. An effort to increase con-
sciousness amongst employees and to develop procedures and 
policies to deal with environmental initiatives has also been iden-
tified. The Committee acknowledges the efforts to develop more 
environmentally friendly products in a sustainable and commer-
cially viable way. We are committed to developing methods  
to reduce our environmental impact and risks associated with  
climate change systematically over time.
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Most of the total carbon emissions we generate relate to the use 
of our current propellant in our manufacturing operations and 
are within reasonable bounds of carbon usage. Although our 
greenhouse gas emissions are within (or are excluded from) the 
acceptable thresholds according to the Department of Environ-
mental Affairs’ National Greenhouse Gas Emission Reporting 
Regulations, we continually aim to find alternative, less harmful 
propellants to reduce the impact. We are committed to monitor-
ing our carbon usage and assessing not only its impact on the 
environment but also the punitive measures that are being con-
sidered by the proposed imposition of stringent tax rules.

We continue with our efforts to reduce waste generated in pro-
duction through chemical recycling and good waste disposal 
practices. Waste initiatives involve the recycling of materials such 
as cardboard, paper, plastic and aerosol cans as well as incorpo-
rating a grease sump trap to prevent pollution of water systems.

As we do not envisage a significant movement (over the short to 
medium term) to products differentiated on ethical or environ-
mental criteria within our sector, our Group business strategy 
has deliberately focused on prioritising governance, optimisa-
tion and efficiency initiatives, employee awareness and supply 
chain issues, over product-related or “green branding” initia-
tives, which has currently received a lesser emphasis.

We continue to implement more systematic approaches for 
measuring key environmental performance data, with a long-
term view to setting quantitative performance targets.

SKILLS DEVELOPMENT

We remain committed to skills development, focusing on staff 
training and believe that a diversified and skilled workforce is 
paramount to the sustainability and success of the Company. We 
have accordingly submitted our workplace skills plan to the 
Chemical Industries Education and Training Authority to ensure 
the continuous growth of the Group’s skills base and develop-
ment of staff.

SOCIO-ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND SPONSORSHIPS

We, as a Group, continue to be a responsible corporate citizen 
and provide bursaries to historically disadvantaged high-school 
students on an annual basis. We continue to assess various  
opportunities to contribute positively to the socio-economic  
development of the country, especially in the areas in which the 
Group operates.

Since inception, we at Spanjaard have partnered with motor-
sport professionals through various product sponsorships. 
These partnerships include teams and individuals competing at 
the highest level in the global arena such as the Dakar Rally and 
other international cross country racing events. Several sponsor-
ships include:

 — Toyota Motorsport/Toyota Gazoo Racing South Africa
 — Stiaan Kriel Racing (VW Challenge)
 — Willie Hepburn — South African racing legend
 — Blane De Meillon — Formula Vee racing professional

This long affiliation with motorsport reflects our love of adven-
ture and determination to take on any challenge, which under-
pins the very spirit of our Company’s brand.

Tracy Spanjaard
Chairperson of the Social and Ethics Committee 

7 July 2020
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The directors are required by the Companies Act of South Africa, 
71 of 2008 to maintain adequate accounting records and are  
responsible for the content and integrity of the annual financial 
statements and related financial information included in this  
report. It is their responsibility to ensure that the annual financial 
statements fairly present the state of affairs of the Group as at 
the end of the financial year and the results of its operations and 
cash flows for the period then ended, in conformity with Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The external auditors 
are engaged to express an independent opinion on the annual 
financial statements.

The annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with 
IFRS and the Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Finan-
cial Reporting Standards Council and in the manner required by 
the South African Companies Act, 71 of 2008 and are based 
upon appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and 
supported by reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible 
for the system of internal financial control established by the 
Company and place considerable importance on maintaining a 
strong control environment. To enable the directors to meet 
these responsibilities, the directors set standards for internal 
control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost-effec-
tive manner. The standards include the proper delegation of  
responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective  
accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to 
ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored 
throughout the Company and all employees are required to 
maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the Compa-
ny’s business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable  
circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk management 
in the Company is on identifying, assessing, managing and mon-
itoring all known forms of risk across the Company. While operat-
ing risk cannot be fully eliminated, the Company endeavours to 
minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, 
systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within 
predetermined procedures and constraints.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and 
explanations given by management, that the system of internal 
control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records 
may be relied on for the preparation of the annual financial state-
ments. However, any system of internal financial control can  
provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against 
material misstatement or loss. The directors have reviewed the 
Company’s cash flow forecast for the year to 28 February 2021 
and, in light of this review and the current financial position, they 
are satisfied that the Company has access to adequate resources 
to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

The external auditors are responsible for independently review-
ing and reporting on the Company’s annual financial statements. 
The annual financial statements have been audited by the Com-
pany’s external auditors and their report is presented on page 40.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 45 to 85, which 
have been prepared on the going concern basis, were approved 
by the directors on 7 July 2020 and were signed on its behalf by:

Herman Kocks 
Non-executive Director

Tracy Spanjaard
Acting Chief Executive Officer

Sandeep Vassan Makan
Financial Director
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To the Shareholders of Spanjaard Limited

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE 
CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated and separate financial state-
ments of Spanjaard Limited and its subsidiaries (the Group) set 
out on pages 45 to 85, which comprise the consolidated and 
separate statement of financial position as at 29 February 2020, 
and the consolidated and separate statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income, consolidated and separate 
statement of changes in equity and consolidated and separate 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 
consolidated and separate financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial state-
ments present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and 
separate financial position of the Group as at 29 February 2020, 
and its consolidated and separate financial performance and 
consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and 
the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Stand-
ards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those stand-
ards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the group in  
accordance with the sections 290 and 291 of the Independent 
Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of Professional Conduct for 
Registered Auditors (Revised January 2018), parts 1 and 3 of the 
Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of Profession-
al Conduct for Registered Auditors (Revised November 2018) 
(together the IRBA Codes) and other independence require-
ments applicable to performing audits of financial statements in 
South Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities, 
as applicable, in accordance with the IRBA Codes and in accord-
ance with other ethical requirements applicable to performing 

audits in South Africa. The IRBA Codes are consistent with the 
corresponding sections of the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Account-
ants and the International Ethics Standards Board for Account-
ants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(including International Independence Standards) respectively. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judg-
ment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated 
and separate financial statements of the current period. These 
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consoli-
dated and separate financial statements as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 
these matters.

OTHER INFORMATION
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other 
information comprises the information included in the document 
titled “Spanjaard Limited Integrated Annual Report 2020” which 
includes the Directors’ Report, the Audit and Risk Committee  
Report and the Company Secretary’s Certificate as required by 
the Companies Act of South Africa. The other information does 
not include the consolidated or the separate financial statements 
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial state-
ments does not cover the other information and we do not express 
an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate 
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other infor-
mation and, in doing so, consider whether the other information 
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated and separate  
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the 
work we have performed on the other information obtained prior 
to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other information, we are required 
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of right-of-use assets
The valuation of the right-of-use assets in terms of IFRS 16 is sub-
ject to inherent uncertainty and estimation is required.

The Company has entered into various leases for property, plant 
and equipment. The most significant of these is for land and 
buildings. The valuation of this right-of-use asset is dependent on 
assumptions such as the lease term and the incremental borrow-
ing rate, which requires management judgement. We considered 
the valuation of the right-of-use assets to be a matter of signifi-
cance in our audit of the current year due to the judgement ap-
plied by management.

We confirmed that management elected the modified retrospec-
tive approach to transition to the new standard, and ensured that 
the selected approach is applied to the entire lease portfolio.

We inspected the assessment of the right-of-use asset and lease 
liability.

We confirmed the reasonability of the lease term and the incre-
mental borrowing rate.

We confirmed that the right-of-use assets are being depreciated 
in accordance with the accounting policies.

We tested the mathematical accuracy of management’s valuation 
calculation and noted no material differences.

We confirmed the disclosure is in accordance with the reporting 
requirements.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS 
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair pres-
entation of the consolidated and separate financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and 
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary 
to enable the preparation of the consolidated and separate finan-
cial statements that are free from material misstatement, wheth-
er due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, 
the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the 
group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but 
to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED AND 
SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about wheth-
er the consolidated and separate financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstate-
ments can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be  
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise profes-
sional judgement and maintain professional scepticism through-
out the audit. We also:

 — Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated and separate financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures  
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrep-
resentations, or the override of internal control.

 — Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the 
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the group’s internal control.

 — Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related dis-
closures made by the directors.

 — Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the 
going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists  
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclo-
sures in the consolidated and separate financial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 

Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the group to cease to continue as a 
going concern.

 — Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the 
consolidated and separate financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate  
financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

 — Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the  
financial information of the entities or business activities  
within the group to express an opinion on the consolidated 
and separate financial statements. We are responsible for the  
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. 
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and signifi-
cant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in  
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have com-
plied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independ-
ence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our inde-
pendence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we deter-
mine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of 
the consolidated and separate financial statements of the cur-
rent period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation pre-
cludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely 
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the pub-
lic interest benefits of such communication.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND 
REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Num-
ber 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that Nexia SAB&T 
has been the auditor of Spanjaard Limited for 1 year.

Nexia SAB&T

Muhammed Fazel Sulaman
Director

Registered Auditor

7 July 2020

119 Witch-Hazel Avenue
Centurion
0046
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The directors have pleasure in submitting their 
annual Directors’ Report which forms part of 
the audited annual financial statements of the 
Company and of the Group for the year ended 
29 February 2020.

NATURE OF BUSINESS
The Company is a manufacturer and distributor of special lubri-
cants and allied chemical products for the consumer goods,  
automotive, industrial, marine and mining markets. It also pro-
duces an extensive range of food aerosol products for a variety of 
trusted and well-known household brands. Subsidiaries comprise 
one company trading anti-friction powders, one property compa-
ny which supports the business operations and one foreign com-
pany trading in the Netherlands. 

GENERAL REVIEW AND FINANCIAL RESULTS
The financial statements on pages 45 to 85, together with the 
notes thereto, set out fully the financial position, results of oper-
ations and cash flows of the Group for the financial year ended 
29 February 2020 and require no further explanation.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

DIRECTORATE

Mr MJ Siddall, Chairman of the Board at 29 February 2020, resigned 
as a director with effect from 31 March 2020. Mr HF Kocks has 
been appointed as an independent non-executive director on 
25 May 2020.

COVID-19 — CORONAVIRUS

On 30 January 2020, the World Health Organisation declared the 
Coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak a Public Health Emergency. The 
global response had led to travel and import and export restric-
tions which started to impact the Company in the weeks to follow. 
When the South African Government declared a National Disaster 
in response to COVID-19 followed by a national lockdown, the 
Company responded swiftly by identifying risks and developing a 
continuity plan which allowed the Company to operate although 
at a significantly reduced capacity. Furthermore, in response to 
health risks presented by COVID-19, Spanjaard developed a hand 
and surface sanitiser for its staff members. Soon thereafter the 
product was made available to essential service providers in 
order to meet some of the critical demand. The development of 
this product played a significant role in business continuity along 
with Spanjaard’s food manufacturing division.

SHARE CAPITAL
There were no changes in the authorised or issued share capital 
of the Group during the year under review (2019: Nil).

DIVIDENDS
The directors have not declared a dividend in the current finan-
cial year (2019: RNil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
During the year the Group purchased property, plant and equip-
ment amounting to R2 710 287 (2019: R3 094 176 ) and the Compa-
ny purchased plant and equipment amounting to R2 710 287 (2019: 
R3  206 373), consisting mainly of plant and equipment. Future  
capital expenditure will be funded from internal resources and, if  
appropriate, borrowings.

During the year under review the Group and Company showed 
an increase through valuation of R1 336 378 (2019: RNil) on its 
plant and machinery.

During the prior year under review the Group showed an increase 
through valuation of R984 768 on its freehold land and buildings.

HOLDING COMPANY AND  
ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY
The Company’s holding company (and ultimate holding compa-
ny) is Spanjaard Group Limited, which held 71,8% (2019: 71,8%) of 
the issued share capital at year-end.

GOING CONCERN
The financial statements have been prepared using appropriate 
accounting policies, supported by reasonable judgments and 
estimates. The directors have a reasonable expectation that the 
Group has adequate resources to continue as a going concern. 
The directors have performed the required liquidity and solvency 
tests required by the Companies Act of South Africa.

In assessing the going concern, the directors have reviewed the 
potential impact, based on the current information available as at 
date of signature of this report, of COVID-19 on the business as 
explained in subsequent event note above. Please refer to 
note 33 on page 85 for the assessment performed.

SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
See the table on page 66 for information relating to the Group’s 
financial interest in its subsidiaries.

DIRECTORATE
The Board of Directors consists of three independent non-exec-
utive directors and four executive directors.

At the AGM held on 8 August 2019, Prof DP  van der Nest, Mr 
K Welgemoed and Mr I Saunders were not returned to office and 
Ms S Hari resigned from the Board on the same date.

On 20 August 2019, Mr MJ Siddall, Mr M Notrica and Mr S Zikalala 
were appointed to the Board as independent non-executive  
directors, with Mr MJ Siddall elected as Chairman of the Board,  
Mr S Zikalala as Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee,  
Ms TN Spanjaard as Chairperson of the Social and Ethics Commit-
tee and Mr Notrica as Chairman of the Remuneration Committee.
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Ms TN Spanjaard was appointed as Acting CEO on 6 September 
2019 and Mr S Vassan Makan was appointed as Financial Director 
on 10 February 2020.

Post year-end Mr MJ Siddall resigned at the end of March 2020. 
Mr HF Kocks has been appointed to the Board as a non-executive 
on 25 May 2020. The Company is in the process of appointing 
another non-executive director. Refer to pages 12 and 13 for the 
individual biographies of all directors.

The direct interests of senior management totalled 519 401 shares 
(2019: 531 402). Ms TN Spanjaard has an indirect majority interest 
in a further 5 842 556 shares of the Company. There were no con-
tracts during or at the end of the financial year in which the direc-
tors of the Company were interested. No change in the directors’ 
interests have taken place between 29 February 2020 and the 
date of this report.

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS
No special resolutions were passed during or relating to the  
financial year, other than those that were passed at the AGM on 
8 August 2019.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
Directors’ remuneration for the year under review in aggregate 
was as per the table on page 44.

In terms of the MOI of the Company the fees for the services of 
non-executive directors are determined by the Company in 
an AGM.

Terms of executive directors’ contracts are in line with all other 
employees of the Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY
Levitt Kirson Business Services Proprietary Limited was appointed 
on 20 September 2016. The directors are satisfied with the compe-
tence, qualifications and experience of the Company Secretary.

Their business and postal addresses are:
Fourth Floor, Aloe Grove
Houghton Estate Office Park
2 Osborn Road
Houghton
2198

Postal address: 
PO Box 225
Highlands North
2037

AUDITORS
PriceWaterhouseCoopers were re-appointed as auditors for the 
2020 Financial year at the AGM. However, on 9 December 2019, 
PriceWaterhouseCoopers resigned as auditors. After going 
through a formal tender process Nexia SAB&T were appointed as 
auditors for the 2020 financial year.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
The interests of directors in the shares of the Company during the year were as follows:

Direct 
beneficial

Indirect 
beneficial Total %

Director

2020

K Welgemoed *  299 047 —  299 047 3,67

I Saunders *  160 000 —  160 000 1,96

GF Cort  24 422 —  24 422 0,30

TN Spanjaard (Nee Stewart)  35 932  5 842 566  5 878 498 72,19

 519 401  5 842 566  6 361 967 78,13

2019

Estate of the late RJW Spanjaard —  5 842 566  5 842 566 71,75

K Welgemoed  311 048 —  311 048 3,82

I Saunders  160 000 —  160 000 1,96

GF Cort  24 422 —  24 422 0,30

TN Spanjaard (Nee Stewart)  35 932 —  35 932 0,44

 531 402  5 842 566  6 373 968 78,28

* Not returned to office at AGM on 8 August 2019.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
Directors’ remuneration for the year under review in aggregate was as follows: 

Short-term benefits
Post-

employment 
benefits:

Retirement
Total
2020

Total
2019R’000 Fees Basic Allowances Medical Risk Bonus Other #

Executive directors

KWelgemoed *1  — 1 287  150 —  11  —  346  170 1 964  1 817 

I Saunders *1  —  867  —  —  6  —  200 79 1 152  1 082 

TN Spanjaard (nee Stewart)  —  969  —  —  5  —  —  28  1 002  854 

GF Cort  —  1 278  —  95  20  —  —  135  1 528  1 455 

CKT Palmer  —  967  —  —  20  —  —  132  1 119  1 066 

S Vassan Makan ^  —  66  —  —  —  —  —  —  66  — 

 — 5 434 150  95  62  —  546 544 6 831  6 274 

Non-executive directors

DP van der Nest *  86  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  86  195 

S Hari ***  86  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  86  195 

BL Montgomery **  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  98 

MJ Siddall ~  104  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  104  — 

M Notrica ~  104  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  104  — 

S Zikalala ~  104  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  104  — 

 484  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  484  488

* Not returned to office at AGM on 8 August 2019.
** Resigned 31 August 2018.
*** Resigned 8 August 2019.
~ Appointed 20 August 2019.
^ Appointed 10 February 2020.
# Other comprise of leave pay paid out and ex-gratia payment.
1 Mr Welgemoed and Mr Saunders resigned as employees from the Company on 31 December 2019 and 15 December 2019 respectively.
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Group Company

R’000 Notes 2020 2019 2020 2019

Assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 3  27 940  31 047  8 633  11 514 

Right-of-use assets 3  4 601 —  21 587 —

Intangibles 4  1 910  1 886  1 908  1 882 

Goodwill 5  437  437  —  — 

Investment in subsidiaries 6  —  — — —

 34 888  33 370  32 128  13 396 

Current assets

Inventories 7  18 652  20 091  18 358  19 777 

Trade receivables and other receivables 8  16 435  16 531  16 193  15 491 

Cash and cash equivalents 9  1 461  538  781  494 

Amount due by subsidiaries and related companies 10  —  —  7 177  8 113 

 36 548  37 160  42 509  43 875 

Total assets  71 436  70 530  74 637  57 271 

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 11 4 878  5 675 99  1 247 

Borrowings 12  2 217  2 350  19 625  2 350 

7 095  8 025 19 724  3 597 

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 13 11 039  10 524  10 480  10 091 

Bank overdraft 9  4 474  6 780  4 475  4 604 

Borrowings 12  1 375  900  1 626  900 

Amounts due to subsidiaries and related companies 10  —  —  7 189  8 638 

 16 888  18 204  23 770  24 233 

Total liabilities 23 983  26 229 43 494  27 830 

Net assets 47 453  44 301 31 143  29 441 

Equity 

Capital and reserves attributable to the Company’s equity holders

Ordinary shares and premium 14  6 871  6 871  6 871  6 871 

Reserves 15, 16, 17 40 582  37 430 24 272  22 570 

Total equity 47 453  44 301 31 143  29 441
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Group Company

R’000 Notes 2020 2019 2020 2019

Revenue 19 123 731 126 244 121 309 124 071

Cost of sales (77 554) (78 296) (78 156) (78 573)

Gross profit 46 177 47 948 43 153 45 498

Other income 175 792 1 005 1 337

Distribution costs (11 792) (11 345) (11 139) (11 759)

Administrative expenses (32 614) (32 356) (30 771) (30 892)

Finance costs 20 (852) (1 197) (3 030) (1 196)

Profit/(loss) before tax 21 1 094 3 842 (782) 2 988

Taxation 23 1 031 (1 340) 1 522 (771)

Profit for the year 2 125 2 502 740 2 217

Other comprehensive income/(loss)

Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss

Movement in foreign currency translation reserve 15 65 58 — —

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Revaluation on property, plant and equipment 3,16 1 119 985 1 336 —

Tax on revaluation on property, plant and equipment 16 (313) (180) (374) —

Total comprehensive income for the year 2 996 3 365 1 702 2 217

Group

Cents Notes 2020 2019

Basic and diluted earnings per ordinary share 24 26,1 30,7
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R’000
Share 

capital
Share 

premium

Foreign 
currency

 translation
 reserve

Revaluation
 reserve

Share-based
 payment

 compensation
 reserve

Retained 
earnings Total

Group

Balance at 1 March 2018 407 6 464 2 7 621 1 906 24 536 40 936

Total comprehensive income for the year — — 58 805 — 2 502 3 365

— profit — — — — — 2 502 2 502

— foreign currency translation reserve  
— foreign subsidiaries translation — — 58 — — — 58

— revaluation of property, plant and equipment — — — 805 — — 805

Transfer in share-based payment compensation  
reserves (note 17) — — — — (1 906) 1 906 —

Transfer in reserves (note 16) — — — (929) — 929 —

Balance at 28 February 2019 407 6 464 60 7 497 — 29 873 44 301

Total comprehensive income for the year — — 65 806 — 2 281 3 152

— profit — — — — — 2 125 2 125

— foreign currency translation reserve  
— foreign subsidiaries translation — — 65 — — — 65

— revaluation of property, plant and equipment — — — 806 — 156 962

Transfer in share-based payment compensation  
reserves (note 17) — — — — — — —

Transfer in reserves (note 16) — — — 94 — (94) —

Balance at 29 February 2020 407 6 464 125 8 397 — 32 060 47 453

notes 14 14 15 16 17

Company

Balance at 1 March 2018 407 6 464 — 2 118 1 906 16 329 27 224

Total comprehensive income for the year — — — — — 2 217 2 217

— profit — — — — — 2 217 2 217

Transfer in share-based payment compensation reserves 
(note 17) — — — — (1 906) 1 906 —

Transfer in reserves (note 16) — — — (712) — 712 —

Balance at 28 February 2019 407 6 464 — 1 406 1 906 21 164 29 441

Total comprehensive profit for the year — — — 962 — 740 1 702

— profit — — — — — 740 740

— revaluation of property, plant and equipment — — — 962 — — 962

Transfer in share-based payment compensation reserves 
(note 17) — — — — — — —

Transfer in reserves (note 16) — — — (107) 107 —

Balance at 29 February 2020 407 6 464 — 2 261 1 906 22 011 31 143

notes  14  14  15  16  17 

 Spanjaard Integrated Annual Report 2020 47

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 29 FEBRUARY 2020



Group Company

R’000 Notes 2020 2019 2020 2019

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash receipts from customers 122 989 126 214 119 954 124 852

Cash paid to suppliers and employees  (116 465) (123 271) 113 918 (120 804)

Cash generated from operations 25  6 524 2 943 6 036 4 048

Interest paid 20 (852) (1 197) (3 030) (1 196)

Tax received 26 — — — —

Net cash generated from operating activities  5 672 1 746 3 006 2 852

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of property, plant and equipment 3  (347) (138) (347) (250)

Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment 3 — 7 — 3

Proceeds on sale of non current assets held for sale — 90 — —

Purchases of intangible assets 4 (873) (572) (873) (572)

Net cash used in investing activities (1 220) (613) (1 220) (819)

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of lease liability 27 (1 147) (1 024) (1 369) (981)

Loans from subsidiaries and related companies — loans received — — — 89

Loans from subsidiaries and related companies — repayments made — — — (195)

Net cash used in financing activities (1 147) (1 024) (1 369) (1 087)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 3 305 109 417 946

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year (6 242) (6 400) (4 110) (5 056)

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (76) 49 — —

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 9 (3 013) (6 242) (3 693) (4 110)
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these annual financial statements are set out below.

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. Judgements are discussed in point T of the accounting policies.

A. BASIS OF PREPARATION
The annual financial statements of the Group and Company have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and interpretations 
of those standards, as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), the Financial Reporting pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting 
Standards Council, the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited and the Companies Act 71 of South Africa, 2008. The annual financial statements have been prepared using 
a combination of fair value and the historical costs basis of accounting as described in the accounting policies below.

The accounting policies are consistent with those of the prior year, with the exception of IFRS 16. Refer to point W where this is discussed.

The annual financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis and are presented in South African Rands rounded to the nearest thousand unless 
specifically stated otherwise.

B. BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated annual financial statements comprise the statements of financial position, the statements of profit or loss and comprehensive income, the statements of 
changes in equity and the statements of cash flows of the Company and its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. Control is achieved 
when the Company:

 — Exercises power over the investee, which is described as having existing rights that give the current ability to direct the activities of the investee that significantly affect 
the investee’s returns (such activities are referred to as the ‘relevant activities’);

 — has exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee;
 — has the ability to exert power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns.

The Group will reassess whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed 
above. The subsidiaries are 100% owned and therefore there are no minority interests. All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating 
to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

C. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES
Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method whereby the acquirer will measure all identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquiree at fair value 
at date of acquisition. The consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of 
assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interest issued by the Group in exchange for control of 
the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Investment in subsidiaries are recognised at cost. These investments are subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses in the separate annual 
financial statements of the Company.

D. FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

(1) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates 
(“the functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in South African Rands, which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.

(2) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and 
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognised in profit and loss.

(3) Group companies
The results and financial position of all the Group entities that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation 
currency as follows:

 — assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the reporting date;

 — income and expenses for each profit and loss item are translated at average exchange rates for the year (unless the average is not a reasonable approximation of the 
cumulative effects of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions);

 — all resulting exchange differences are recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve.

 Spanjaard Integrated Annual Report 2020 49

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 29 FEBRUARY 2020



1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations are taken to equity through other comprehensive income.

When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are recognised as a reclassification adjustment to profit and loss as part of the gain or loss on sale.

E. BORROWING COSTS
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time 
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. All other 
borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred

F. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:

 — it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the entity; and

 — the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially recognised at cost including amounts incurred initially to acquire an item of property, plant and equipment and to bring the item to 
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Amounts incurred subsequent to initial recognition to add to 
or replace part of an asset or as part of major maintenance are also recognised at cost.

Land and Building and Plant and Machinery are revalued periodically
Land and buildings comprise mainly factories and offices and are shown at revalued amount less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. Land and buildings 
are revalued every two years by an external, independent valuer or more frequently if carrying amount differs materially from its fair value. Plant and machinery is revalued 
every five years or more frequently when the carrying amount differs materially from its fair value. All other property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any impairment.

Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation of land and buildings and plant and equipment is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the 
net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to write off the cost or revalued amount of each asset to their residual values over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings 10 – 50 years

Plant and machinery 3 – 25 years

Motor vehicles 4 – 5 years

Office furniture and equipment 3 – 10 years

Land is not depreciated

Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use and ceases at the earlier of derecognition or when classified as held-for-sale. Depreciation is recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Depreciation relating to the revalued portion of revalued assets are transferred from the revaluation reserve to 
retained earnings.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are included in operating profit. When revalued assets are sold, the amounts 
included in the revaluation reserve are transferred to retained earnings.

Repairs and maintenance are charged to profit and loss during the financial period in which they are incurred. The cost of major renovations are included in the carrying 
amount of the asset when it is probable that future economic benefits of the renovation of the existing asset will flow to the Group. Major renovations are depreciated until 
new renovations are expected. The carrying amount of the replaced component is derecognised.

The residual value of an asset is the estimated amount that an entity would currently obtain from the disposal of the asset, after deducting the estimated cost of disposal,  
if the asset were already of the age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful life.

The residual value of assets are reviewed by management after inspection of the asset on an annual basis and comparisons with market related prices. The assets useful 
lives and depreciation methods are also reviewed by management on an annual basis and adjusted as a change in estimate as appropriate, at each financial year-end.

G. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
An intangible asset is recognised when:

 — it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity; and

 — the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

An intangible asset is derecognised when:

 — it is no longer expected that any future economic benefits will flow to the entity; and

 — when the asset is disposed of.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost and they are subsequently carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed at each financial year-end.

Amortisation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income under the line item administrative expenses.

Artwork consists of product label designs, promotional material designs, logos and similar graphics.

Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight line basis, as follows:

Trademarks 10 years

Computer software 3 years

Artwork 10 years

The residual value of an intangible asset is the estimated amount that an entity would currently obtain from the disposal of the intangible asset, after deducting the estimated 
cost of disposal, if the asset were already of the age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful life.

The residual value of intangible assets are reviewed by management on an annual basis. The assets useful lives and depreciation methods are also reviewed by management 
on an annual basis and adjusted as a change in estimate as appropriate, at each financial year-end.

H. IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the Group estimates the recoverable 
amount of the asset.

Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the Group tests goodwill acquired in a business combination for impairment annually, and at the same time 
each year.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset. If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount 
of the individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs is determined.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.

The value in use is determined as an estimate of future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate as derived from the use of the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount as an impairment loss.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised immediately in profit or loss. Any impairment loss of a revalued 
asset is recognised first against the revaluation reserve and then against profit or loss.

An impairment loss is recognised for cash-generating units if the recoverable amount of the unit is less than the carrying amount of the units. The impairment loss is allocated 
to reduce the carrying amount of the assets of the unit in the following order:

 — first, to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit; and

 — then, to the other assets of the unit, pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods for assets other than goodwill may no longer 
exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts of those assets are estimated.

The increased carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation other than goodwill is recognised immediately in profit or loss. Any 
reversal of an impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation increase.
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

I. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial instruments comprise loans receivable, trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments), investments, cash and cash equivalents, non-current leases and 
loans payable, current leases and loans payable, bank overdrafts, and trade and other payables.

Recognition
Financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the Group’s statement of financial position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments. 
Financial assets are recognised on the date the Group commits to purchase the instruments.

Financial assets are classified as current if expected to be realised or settled within 12 months from the reporting date; if not; they are classified as non-current. Financial 
liabilities are classified as non-current if the Group has an unconditional right to defer payment for more than 12 months from the reporting date.

Classification
The Group classifies financial assets on initial recognition as measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) or fair value through profit 
or loss (FVTPL) based on the Group’s business model for managing the financial asset and the cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

Financial assets are classified as follows:

 — Equity instruments at FVOCI – The assets are not held for trading and the Group has irrevocably elected on initial recognition to recognise the asset as at FVOCI.

 — FVTPL – Instruments that are held for trading and forward exchange contracts.

 — Amortised cost – The asset is held within a business model with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows; and the contractual terms give rise on specified dates 
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding.

Financial assets are not reclassified unless the Group changes its business model. In rare circumstances where the Group does change its business model, reclassifications 
are done prospectively from the date that the Group changes its business model.

Financial liabilities are classified and measured at amortised cost except for those derivative liabilities and contingent consideration that are measured at FVTPL.

Measurement on initial recognition
All financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, including transaction costs, except for those classified as FVTPL which are initially measured 
at fair value excluding transaction costs. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement: Financial assets
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets are measured as described below.

 — FVTPL — These financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value and changes therein (including any interest or dividend income) are recognised in profit or loss.

 — Amortised cost — these financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less impairment losses. Interest income, 
foreign exchange gains and losses and impairments are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

 — Equity investments at FVOCI — these financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised in profit or loss when the right to receive 
payment is established. Other net gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income (OCI). On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in OCI are not 
reclassified to profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement: Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially 
all risks and rewards of ownership. Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligations specified in the contracts are discharged, cancelled or expire. On derecognition 
of a financial asset or liability, any difference between the carrying amount extinguished and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting financial instruments
Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities is applied when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net 
basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The net amount is reported in the statement of financial position.
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

Impairment
The Group calculates its allowance for credit losses based on expected credit losses (ECLs) for financial assets measured at amortised cost, debt instruments measured at 
FVOCI and contract assets.

ECLs are a probability weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of all cash shortfalls (the difference between the cash flows due 
to the Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive). ECLs are discounted at the original effective interest rate (EIR) of the 
financial asset and are presented as part of net impairment losses on financial and other assets in the statement of comprehensive income.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime credit losses to be recognised from initial recognition 
of the receivables. At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there has been a significant change in credit risk since initial recognition.

Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.

The Group considers that there is evidence of impairment if any of the following indicators are present:

 — significant financial difficulties of the debtor; and/or

 — probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation; and/or

 — default or delinquency in payments. (This is identified via the Group’s collection procedures after notification from Credit Guarantee that the debtors due amount cannot 
be recovered.)

Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold in the ordinary course of business and are accounted for at amortised cost. Prepayments and other 
receivables are stated at their nominal values.

Trade and other payables
Trade payables, sundry creditors and accrued expenses are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from 
suppliers. They are accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy for financial liabilities as included above. Other payables are stated at their nominal values.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of 
cash and are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are 
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the cash flow statement.

Borrowings
Borrowings are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method. Any 
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the settlement or redemption of borrowings is recognised over the term of the borrowings in accordance 
with the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs.

Borrowings are categorised as financial liabilities at amortised cost.

J. LEASES
In the 2019 financial year leases were classified as either finance leases or operating leases as per below as per IAS 17.

Finance leases as lessee
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are 
capitalised at the inception of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the leased property or the present value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment is 
allocated between the liability and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the balance outstanding. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, 
are included in other long-term payables. The interest element of the finance cost is charged to profit and loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate 
of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the shorter of the 
useful life of the asset or the lease term if they will be returned.
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

Operating leases as lessee
Leases where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases 
are charged to profit and loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Adoption of IFRS 16 
From 1 March 2019, the Group has accounted for leases under the new IFRS statement issued called IFRS 16 Leases. using the modified retrospective approach i.e. the 
cumulative impact of adopting the new standard is recognised in retained earnings on 1 March 2019. For detailed disclosure as to the impact and practical expedients 
applied on adoption, refer to note V.

For any new contracts entered into on or after 1 March 2019, the Group considers whether a contract is, or contains a lease. A lease is defined as ‘a contract, or part of a 
contract, that conveys the right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for consideration’.

To apply this definition the Group assesses whether the contract meets three key evaluations which are whether:

 — the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly specified by being identified at the time the asset is made 
available to the Group

 — the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified asset throughout the period of use, considering its rights within the 
defined scope of the contract

 — the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the period of use.

The Group assess whether it has the right to direct ‘how and for what purpose’ the asset is used throughout the period of use.

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by the Group. Assets and liabilities arising 
from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following lease payments:

 — fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable

 — variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the measurement of the liability. The lease payments are discounted using the 
interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, 
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic 
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate 
of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

 — the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

 — any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received

 — any initial direct costs; and

 — restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to 
exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life. While the Group revalues its land and buildings that are presented 
within property, plant and equipment, it has chosen not to do so for the right-of-use buildings held by the Group. Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment 
and vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 
12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise IT equipment and small items of office furniture.

K. INVENTORIES
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted average method. The cost includes all expenses directly attributable 
to the manufacturing process as well as suitable portions of related production overheads, based on normal operating capacity, but excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable 
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the costs of completion and selling expenses.

L. SHARE CAPITAL
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental external costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares, are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from 
the proceeds.
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

M. TAXATION
Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the period, except to the extent that the tax arises from:

 — a transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income; or

 — a business combination.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited to other comprehensive income if the tax relates to items that are credited or charged, in the same or a different 
period, to other comprehensive income.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before tax’ as reported in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s 
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability.

N. CURRENT TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
If the amount already paid in respect of current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess is recognised as an asset.

If the amount already paid in respect of current and prior periods is less than the amount due for those periods, the shortfall is recognised as a liability.

Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to (recovered from) the tax authorities, using the tax rates 
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

O. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Deferred taxation is provided, using the statement of financial position liability method, on all temporary differences at the statement of financial position date between the 
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases, except for those that arise on initial recognition of goodwill or initial recognition of an asset or liability 
in a transaction which is not a business combination and at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting profit nor tax profit. Deferred tax assets are recognised to 
the extent that it is probable that the underlying tax loss or deductible temporary difference will be utilised against future taxable income. This is assessed based on the 
Group’s forecast of future operating results, adjusted for significant non-taxable income and expenses and specific limits on the use of any unused tax loss or credit.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates 
and tax law that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date. Deferred taxes are recognised as an income or an expense and 
included in profit or loss for the period except if they relate to a transaction or event which is recognised in either other comprehensive income or directly in equity; or if the 
deferred tax arises from a business combination transaction.

P. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

(1) Short-term employee benefits
The cost of all short-term employee benefits is recognised during the period in which the employee renders the related service. Short-term employee benefit obligations are 
measured on an undiscounted basis. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group has a 
present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

The Group has a leave pay policy that allows for employees to utilise their leave over a 12-month period. This period is utilised by the employees and the leave accrual is 
therefore expected to be settled within a period not exceeding 12 months; leave pay is therefore considered a short-term employee benefit. Short-term employee benefit 
costs are recognised as the employee renders the related service calculated based on current salary rates.

(2) Provident fund obligations
The Group’s employees are members of a scheme that is funded through payments to a defined contribution plan. A defined contribution plan is a provident plan under which 
the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity (a fund) and will have no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold 
sufficient assets to pay all employees benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods. The regular contributions constitute net periodic costs for the 
year in which they are due and as such are included in staff costs as the related service is rendered.

Q. PROVISIONS
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle 
that obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks 
and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the 
present value of those cash flows

R. REVENUE RECOGNITION
Revenue is derived from the sale of goods consisting of various aerosols, fuel additives, greases, car care products and anti-friction powders. 

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group follows a 5-step process:

1. Identifying the contract or purchase order with a customer

2. Identifying the performance obligations

3. Determining the transaction price or goods ordered

4. Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations

5. Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisfied

Sales are recognised when control of the products has transferred, being when the products are delivered to the customer, the customer has full discretion over the channel 
and price to sell the products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customers acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs when the products have 
been shipped to the specific location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the customer, and either the customer has accepted the products in 
accordance with the sales contract, the acceptance provisions has lapsed, or the Group has objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied.

Certain customers have rebate agreements in place. Revenue from sales to these customers is recognised based on the price specified in the contract net of the agreed 
rebate amounts. A rebate liability (Included in trade and other payables) is recognised for expected rebates payable to customers in relation to sales made until the end of 
the reporting period. No element of financing is deemed present as the sales are made with a credit term of 30 days, which is consistent with market practice.

A receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered as this is the point in time that the consideration is unconditional because only the passage of time is required before 
the payment is due.

The need to exercise critical judgement in recognising revenue is limited.

S. GOODWILL
Goodwill is initially recognised and measured as set out below.

Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating 
units (or groups of cash-generating units) expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested 
for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the 
carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit 
pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

On disposal of a cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

T. JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, not always equal the related actual results. 
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 
discussed below:

a) Asset lives and residual values (estimate)
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their useful lives taking into account residual values, where applicable. Management uses judgement in determining the 
future useful lives and residual values using other similar assets useful lives and proceeds received from those assets.

b) Fair value measurement (judgement)
Freehold land and buildings are measured at fair value for financial reporting purposes. Management makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting 
accounting estimates will by definition seldom equal the related actual results. In determining the open market value of freehold land and buildings the Company used the 
services of JC Bokhorst Valuation Services (Pty) Ltd who used a number of valuation approaches in order to value the freehold land and buildings. These valuation techniques 
underlying management’s estimation as well as the fair value hierarchy is provided in note 31.
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

Plant and machinery are measured at fair value for financial reporting purposes. Management makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting 
accounting estimates will by definition seldom equal the related actual results. In determining the open market value of plant and machinery the Company used the services 
of Property Partnership CC who used a number of valuation approaches in order to value the Plant and Machinery. These valuation techniques underlying management’s 
estimation as well as the fair value hierarchy is provided in note 31.

Management reviewed the assumptions applied by the independent valuators for appropriateness and reasonability in assessing the fair value determined by the valuators.

c) Impairment of assets (judgement)
Management is required to make judgements concerning the cause, timing and amount of impairment. In the identification of impairment indicators, management considers 
the impact of changes in current competitive conditions, cost of capital, availability of funding, technological obsolescence, discontinuance of services and other 
circumstances that could indicate that impairment exists. Management’s judgement is also required when assessing whether previously recognised impairment losses 
should be reversed. The future cash flows expected to be generated by the assets are projected taking into account market conditions and the expected useful lives of the 
assets. The present value of these cash flows, determined using an appropriate discount rate, is the asset’s value in use.

All categories of assets are considered for impairment at each year-end. The recoverable amount is determined if there is a reason to believe that impairment may 
be necessary.

d) Deferred tax assets (judgement)
In raising deferred tax assets, management uses judgement in estimating whether future taxable income will be achieved. If the future taxable income is not certain, no 
deferred tax asset will be raised.

e) Lease liability (judgement)
Management has used its judgement in determining the incremental borrowing rate and lease term in order to recognise the right of use asset in Spanjaard Limited for the 
use of the property owned by Torpedo.

f) Expected credit loss (judgement)
Management had to use judgement to determine the expected rate of default resulting from sales to customers. In assessing the estimated default rate percentage, 
management reviewed when the receivable was made for sales for a particular month.

U. STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS AND AMENDMENTS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
Standards issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the Group’s financial statements are listed below. This listing is of standards and interpretations issued, 
which the Group reasonably expects to be applicable at a future date. The Group intends to adopt those standards when they become effective.

Standard or amendment Details of standard or amendment Effective date Impact

Amendment to IAS 1, 
‘Presentation of financial 
statements’ Classification of 
Liabilities as current or 
non-current

In January 2020, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1, which clarify the 
criteria used to determine whether liabilities are classified as current or 
non-current. These amendments clarify that current or non-current 
classification is based on whether an entity has a right at the end of the 
reporting period to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve 
months after the reporting period. The amendments also clarify that 
‘settlement’ includes the transfer of cash, goods, services, or equity 
instruments unless the obligation to transfer equity instruments arises 
from a conversion feature classified as an equity instrument separately 
from the liability component of a compound financial instrument. The 
amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2022. Spanjaard is currently assessing the impact of 
these new accounting standards and amendments. The Group does not 
believe that the amendments to IAS 1 will have a significant impact on 
the classification of its liabilities, as the conversion feature in its 
convertible debt instruments is classified as an equity instrument and 
therefore, does not affect the classification of its convertible debt as a 
non-current liability.

The amendments are 
effective for annual 
reporting periods 
beginning on or after 
1 January 2022

Spanjaard is currently assessing the 
impact of these new accounting 
standards and amendments. The Group 
does not believe that the amendments to 
IAS 1 will have a significant impact on the 
classification of its liabilities, as the 
conversion feature in its convertible debt 
instruments is classified as an equity 
instrument and therefore, does not affect 
the classification of its convertible debt 
as a non-current liability.
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

V. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards on a basis consistent with the prior year except for the 
adoption of the following new or revised standards.

Application of IFRS 16 Leases
As indicated in note 1(J) above, the Group has adopted IFRS 16 Leases on a modified retrospective approach from 1 March 2019, and has not restated comparatives for the 
2019 reporting period, as permitted under the specific transition provisions in the standard. The reclassifications and the adjustments arising from the new leasing rules are 
therefore recognised in the opening balance sheet on 1 March 2019. The only lease identified to be raised is for the use of the Torpedo’s property by Spanjaard in the 
Company’s results as this has no impact on the Group results. Management assessed that 20 years was an appropriate lease term as it is the general useful life of a property. 
The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease liabilities on 1 March 2019 was 12,5% (prime plus 2%). The rate coincides with the borrowing 
rate the Company achieved with financing of its other assets. Due to the initial recognition of this asset occurring on the 1 March 2019, there was no impact on opening 
retained earnings.

As noted in the prior year, the group and company had encumbered Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets under finance leases of R3 586 232 and R436 969 
respectively. As these assets meet the definition of IFRS 16, they have subsequently been reclassified to Right-of-use assets on 1 March 2019 at their lease commencement dates.

The change in the accounting policy has affected the following items on the balance sheet as at 1 March 2019.

Group Company

Property, plant and equipment (3 586) (3 586)

Right-of-use assets 4 023 21 903

Intangibles (437) (437)

Borrowings — long term — 17 658

Borrowings — short term — 222

2. OPERATING SEGMENTS

An operating segment is a component of an entity that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, the operating results of which are 
reviewed regularly by the Group’s Chief Operating Decision Maker. The Chief Operating Decision Maker (CEO) and the Board of Directors assess the business results by the 
different sale segments. Each of these segments have separately identifiable revenue and cost structures which are monitored during the year.

The way in which we have determined our operating segments has been re-evaluated based on recent changes to the organisational structure. We have broken the business 
down into segments based on how management assesses sales performance. 

The Group is organised into five main business segments which are separately staffed and are easily identifiable based on our customer base.

 — Automotive: Comprises of product sales to the South African automotive aftermarket industry such as to aftermarket wholesalers, workshops, automotive spares 
suppliers etc. 

 — Industrial: Comprises of product sales to the industrial hardware, marine, mining, manufacturing and other industries within South Africa. 

 — Exports: Comprises of product sales to all customers outside of South Africa.

 — Consumer goods: Comprises of fast moving consumer goods generally unrelated to our traditional business.

 — Head office, manufacturing and other: Comprises of all other sales and expenses generally not attributable to a specific sales segment. 



2. OPERATING SEGMENTS continued

The Group does not allocate assets and liabilities across the segments as these are assessed as a collective.

This is the level that the Chief Operational Decision Maker reviews results.

R’000 Automotive Industrial Exports
Consumer 

goods

Head office,
 manufacturing 

and other Total

2020

Segment sales 36 415 47 060 15 474 24 666 116 123 731

External foreign customers 4 764 322 15 474 — — 20 560

External local customers 31 651 46 738 — 24 666 116 103 171

Segment cost of sales (20 248) (23 834) (6 254) (19 846) (7 372) (77 554)

External foreign customers (2 534) (163) (6 254) — — (8 951)

External local customers (17 714) (23 671) — (19 846) (7 372) (68 603)

Segment gross profit/(loss) 16 167 23 226 9 220 4 820 (7 256) 46 177

External foreign customers 2 230 159 9 220 — — 11 609

External local customers 14 061 23 067 — 4 820 (7 380) 34 568

Segment other income — — — — (339) (339)

Segment distribution costs (2 540) (3 199) (4 097) (29) (1 927) (11 792)

Segment administrative expenses (5 149) (4 996) (891) — (21 064) (32 100)

Segment finance income/(costs) — — — — (852) (852)

Profit/(loss) before tax 8 478 15 031 4 232 4 791 (31 438) 1 094

Taxation — — 227 — 1 258 1 031

Profit/(loss) for the year 8 478 15 031 4 005 4 791 (30 180) 2 125

2019 

Segment sales 36 177 44 192 19 396 26 163 316 126 244

External foreign customers 4 972 464 19 396  —  — 24 832

External local customers 31 205 43 728  — 26 163 316 101 412

Segment cost of sales (18 405) (20 459) (9 874) (18 822) (10 736) (78 296)

External foreign customers (2 324) (235) (9 874) — — (12 433)

External local customers (16 081) (20 224) — (18 822) (10 736) (65 863)

Segment gross profit/(loss) 17 772 23 733 9 522 7 341 (10 420) 47 948

External foreign customers 2 648 229 9 522 — — 12 399

External local customers 15 124 23 504 — 7 341 (10 420) 35 549

Segment other income — — — — 792 792

Segment distribution costs (1 687) (2 207) (4 451) (287) (2 713) (11 345)

Segment administrative expenses (4 900) (5 631) (1 249) — (20 576) (32 356)

Segment finance costs — 8 — — (1 205) (1 197)

Profit/(loss) before tax 11 185 15 903 3 822 7 054 (34 122) 3 842

Taxation — — (124) — (1 216) (1 340)

Profit/(loss) for the year 11 185 15 903 3 698 7 054 (35 338) 2 502
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

 R’000
 Freehold land 
and buildings 

 Plant and
 equipment 

 Motor 
vehicles 

 Office furniture 
and equipment 

 Total owned
 property, plant 
and equipment

 Right-of-use 
assets 

 Total 
property, plant

 and equipment 

Group
At 28 February 2018

Cost 14 073 13 644 1 790 2 082 31 589 — 31 589

Accumulated depreciation cost (2 097) (10 734) (980) (1 839) (15 650) — (15 650)

Revaluation 6 782 6 273 13 055 — 13 055

Closing net book amount 18 758 9 183 810 243 28 994 — 28 994

At 29 February 2019

Opening net book amount 18 758 9 183 810 243 28 994 — 28 994

Additions — 2 647 — 447 3 094 —  3 094 

Disposal — (62) (3) — (65) — (65)

Revaluations 985 — — — 985 — 985

Depreciation charge (243) (1 426) (128) (164) (1 961) — (1 961)

Closing net book amount 19 500 10 342 679 526 31 047 — 31 047

At 28 February 2019

Cost 14 073 16 049 1 681 2 529 34 332 — 34 332

Accumulated depreciation (2 376) (10 754) (1 002) (2 003) (16 135) — (16 135)

Revaluation 7 803 5 047 12 850 — 12 850

Closing net book amount 19 500 10 342 679 526 31 047 —  31 047 

At 29 February 2020

Opening net book amount 19 500 10 342 679 526 31 047 — 31 047

Transfer PPE — (2 885) (227) (313) (3 425) 3 425 —

Transfer from Intangible — — — — — 437 437

Additions — 246 — 101 347 1 489 1 836

Disposal — (102) (52) — (154) — (154)

Revaluations — 1 336 — — 1 336 — 1 336

Depreciation charge (218) (1 184) (42) 233 (1 211) (750) (1 961)

Closing net book amount 19 282 7 753 358 547 27 940 4 601 32 541

At 29 February 2020

Cost 14 073 12 168 1 170 2 254 29 665 5 774 35 439

Accumulated depreciation (2 654) (9 654) (812) (1 707) (14 827) (1 173) (16 000)

Revaluation 7 863 5 239 — — 13 102 — 13 102

Closing net book amount 19 282 7 753 358 547 27 940 4 601 32 541

The Group’s land and buildings at Wynberg were revalued on 28 February 2019 by JC Bokhorst Valuation Services (Pty) Ltd (independent valuators) using a combination of 
the capitalised rental approach, the depreciated replacement cost approach and the estimated new replacement cost approach. The valuator used factors such as market 
capitalisation rate of 10,5%; vacancy levels in the area of 7,5%; property related expenses ranging from R7,09 to R11,89 per square meter and market related rentals from 
R32,89 to R42,69 per square meter to determine the value of the Land and Buildings. The land portion was valued based on the estimated new replacement cost and 
depreciated replacement cost approach due to the value being the same in both valuation approaches. Management has reviewed the current selling price of properties 
within the area and assessed that the fair value is still appropriate.

The Company’s Plant and Machinery was revalued on 29 February 2020 by The Property Partnership East Rand CC — Chartered Valuation Surveyors (independent 
valuators). The valuator used a combination of the Gross Current Replacement Cost or Estimated New Replacement Value obtained from market on a like for like basis where 
possible or from market pricing of similar Machinery and Equipment. OEM suppliers, trade Journals, similar equipment suppliers and the internet was used to obtain values. 
These values were then depreciated using the reducing balance method based on the age of the current plant and machinery to determine the fair value/market value of the 
plant and machinery. Upon review of the report, management revalued the plant and machinery to its fair value based on the report.
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT continued

During the 2020 financial year new injection moulding was purchased at a cost of R246 000 as well as a new laptops at a cost of R101 000 was purchased in order to replace 
outdated equipment.

During the 2019 financial year a motor vehicle with a cost of R199 000 and accumulated depreciation of R147 000 was disposed. Plant and Machinery with a cost of 
R564 000 and accumulated depreciation of R463 000 was also disposed.

Group assets encumbered by finance leases with a book value of R4 333 046 (2019: R3 586 232), are set out below:

Group

R’000 2020 2019

Plant and equipment  2 668  3 359 

Motor vehicles  448  227 

Office equipment  993 —

Land and buildings  224 —

 4 333  3 586 

Additions include R1 489 331 (2019: R2 775 917) assets leased under finance leases where the Company is the lessee: 

Group

R’000 2020 2019

Plant and equipment —  2 776 

Motor vehicles  301 —

Office equipment  804 —

Land and buildings  384 —

 1 489  2 776 

The right-of-use assets depreciation comprise the following:

Group

R’000 2020 2019

Plant and equipment 217 —

Motor vehicles 80 —

Office equipment 124 —

Computer software 169 —

Land and buildings 160 —

Total 750 —

If freehold land and buildings were stated on the historical cost basis the carrying amount would have been as follows: 

Group

R’000 2020 2019

Cost  14 073  14 073 

Accumulated depreciation  (2 654)  (2 376)

Closing carrying value  11 419  11 697 
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT continued

If plant and equipment were stated on the historical cost basis the carrying amount would have been as follows: 

Group

R’000 2020 2019

Cost  12 168  16 049 

Accumulated depreciation  (9 654) (10 754)

Closing carrying value  2 514  5 295 

R’000
Plant and

 equipment
Motor 

vehicles
Office furniture 
and equipment

 Total owned
 property, plant 
and equipment

Right-of-use 
asset

 Total 
property, plant 
and equipment 

Company

At 28 February 2018

Cost 13 644 1 576 2 082 17 302 — 17 302

Accumulated depreciation (10 734) (892) (1 839) (13 465) — (13 465)

Revaluation 6 233 — — 6 233 — 6 233

Closing net book amount 9 143 684 243 10 070 — 10 070

At 28 February 2019

Opening net book amount 9 143 684 243 10 070 — 10 070

Additions 2 654 105 447 3 206 — 3 206

Disposals (68) — — (68) — (68)

Depreciation charge (1 419) (110) (165) (1 694) — (1 694)

Closing net book amount 10 310 679 525 11 514 — 11 514

At 28 February 2019

Cost 16 049 1 681 2 529 20 259 — 20 259

Accumulated depreciation (10 754) (1 002) (2 004) (13 760) — (13 760)

Revaluation 5 015 — — 5 015 — 5 015

Closing net book amount 10 310 679 525 11 514 — 11 514

At 29 February 2020

Opening net book amount 10 310 679 525 11 514 — 11 514

Transfer PPE (2 886) (227) (312) (3 425) 3 425 —

Transfer from Intangible — — — — 437 437

Additions 246 — 101 347 19 369 19 716

Disposals (102) (52) — (154) — (154)

Revaluation 1 336 — — 1 336 — 1 336

Depreciation charge (1 176) (42) 233 (985) (1 644) (2 629)

Closing net book amount 7 728 358 547 8 633 21 587 30 220

At 29 February 2020

Cost 12 168 1 170 2 254 15 592 23 654 39 246

Accumulated depreciation (9 654) (812) (1 707) (12 173) (2 067) (14 240)

Revaluation 5 214 — — 5 214 — 5 214

Closing net book amount 7 728 358 547 8 633 21 587 30 220
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT continued

Company assets encumbered by instalment sale agreements with a book value of R4 333 046 (2019: R3 586 232), are set out below:

Company

R’000 2020 2019

Plant and equipment 2 762 3 046

Motor vehicles 448 227

Office equipment 899 313

Land and buildings 224 —

4 333 3 586

The Company operates on premises owned by its subsidiary Torpedo Investments (Pty) Ltd and has been included under Right of Use Assets as follows:

Company

R’000 2020 2019

Land and buildings 16 896 —

16 896 —

Additions include R1 489 331 (2019: R2 775 917) assets leased under finance leases where the Company is the lessee:

Company

R’000 2020 2019

Plant and equipment — 2 776

Motor vehicles 301 —

Office equipment 804 —

Land and buildings 384 —

1 489 2 776

The right-of-use assets depreciation comprise the following:

Company

R’000 2020 2019

Plant and equipment 217 —

Motor vehicles 80 —

Office equipment 124 —

Computer software 169 —

Land and buildings 1 054 —

Total 1 644 —

If plant and equipment were stated on the historical cost basis the carrying amount would have been as follows:

Company

R’000 2020 2019

Cost 12 168 16 049

Accumulated depreciation (9 654) (10 754)

Closing carrying value 2 514 5 295

 Spanjaard Integrated Annual Report 2020 63

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 29 FEBRUARY 2020



4. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

R’000 Trademarks Artwork
Computer 

software Total

Group
At 28 February 2018

Cost 1 968 1 153 2 475 5 596

Accumulated amortisation (972) (1 036) (2 447) (4 455)

Closing net book amount 996 117 28 1 141

At 28 February 2019

Opening net book amount 996 117 28 1 141

Additions 144 — 1 012 1 156

Disposals — — (6) (6)

Amortisation charge (212) (31) (162) (405)

Closing net book amount 928 86 872 1 886

At 28 February 2019

Cost 2 008 291 3 418 5 717

Accumulated amortisation (1 080) (205) (2 546) (3 831)

Closing net book amount 928 86 872 1 886

R’000 Trademarks Artwork
Computer 

software Total

At 29 February 2020

Opening net book amount 928 86 872 1 886

Transfer to right-of-use — — (437) (437)

Additions 279 — 594 873

Amortisation charge (221) (27) (164) (412)

Closing net book amount 986 59 865 1 910

At 29 February 2020

Cost 2 287 291 3 505 6 083

Accumulated amortisation (1 301) (232) (2 640) (4 173)

Closing net book amount 986 59 865 1 910
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4. INTANGIBLE ASSETS continued

R’000 Trademarks Artwork
Computer 

software Total

Company
At 28 February 2018

Cost 1 958 1 153 2 475 5 586

Accumulated amortisation (967) (1 036) (2 447) (4 450)

Closing net book amount 991 117 28 1 136

At 28 February 2019

Opening net book amount 991 117 28 1 136

Additions 144 — 1 012 1 156

Disposals — — (6) (6)

Amortisation charge (211) (31) (162) (404)

Closing net book amount 924 86 872 1 882

At 28 February 2019

Cost 1 998 3 418 2 911 5 707

Accumulated amortisation (1 074) (2 546) (2 476) (3 825)

Closing net book amount 924 86 872 1 882

At 29 February 2020

Opening net book amount 924 86 872 1 882

Transfer to right-of-use — — (437) (437)

Additions 279 — 594 873

Disposals — — — —

Amortisation charge (220) (27) (164) (410)

Closing net book amount 983 59 865 1 908

At 29 February 2020

Cost 2 277 291 3 505 6 073

Accumulated amortisation (1 294) (232) (2 640) (4 165)

Closing net book amount 983 59 865 1 908

Trademark additions include various registrations and incorporations of the name Spanjaard and certain logos of the Spanjaard brand.

Group and Company assets encumbered by finance leases with a book value of R267 839 (2019: R436 969), are set out below:

Company

R’000 2020 2019

Computer Software  268  437 

 268  437 
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5. GOODWILL
Group

R’000 2020 2019

Goodwill  437  437

The goodwill relates to the acquisition of Spanjaard EU BV. There was no movement on this balance during the current financial year (2019: R Nil). The recoverable amount of 
the cash generating unit (CGU) was determined based on the value in use, which required the use of assumptions. For impairment testing goodwill is allocated to Spanjaard 
EU BV, as Spanjaard EU BV represents the lowest CGU. Spanjaard EU BV forms an integral part of the operating activities in Europe and management believes that there are 
future growth prospects as the brand awareness increases. Spanjaard EU BV contributed R5 565 307 (2019: R5 282 959) towards the turnover of the Group.

The calculation used cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period.

Cash flow beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rate stated below. These growth rates are consistent with forecasts included in industry 
reports specific to the industry in which the CGU operates. included in industry reports specific to the industry in which the CGU operates. The entity’s weighted average 
cost of capital was used as the discount factor . The below are the key assumptions for the CGU:

% 2020 2019

Sales growth rate 2 2

Discount factor 17 17

Gross margin Constant Constant

As at date of impairment testing, no impairment of Goodwill resulted. The net recoverable amount exceeded the carrying amount by R1 728 682 (2019: R696 825). 
The following numbers in the above assumptions would result in the net recoverable equating to the carrying amount.

% 2020 2019

Sales growth rate (4) (4)

Discount factor 90 79

Gross margin (3) (3)

No impairment loss was recognised.

6. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES
Company

R’000 2020 2019

Investments in unlisted subsidiaries are made up as follows:

Shares at cost 2 — —

— —

The following information relates to the Group’s financial interest in its subsidiaries.

Country of incorporation % interest held 2020 2019

Directly held by company

Coppermet Proprietary Limited South Africa 100  —  — 

Spanjaard EU BV The Netherlands 100 — 1 — 1

Spanjaard UK Limited 2 United Kingdom 100  —  — 

Torpedo Investments Proprietary Limited South Africa 100 — 1 — 1

 —  — 

1 Shareholding less than R1 000 is not reflected.

2 The Board resolved to deregister Spanjaard UK Limited on 10 October 2018 and wrote down the investment to RNil. The Company has since been dissolved on 26 March 2019.

No restrictions exists on the Group’s ability to access or use assets and settle liabilities of the Group.
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7. INVENTORIES
Group Company

R’000 2020 2019 2020 2019

Raw materials (at cost)  9 593  8 423  9 743  8 417 

Finished goods (at cost)  9 059  11 668  8 615  11 360 

 18 652  20 091  18 358  19 777

Damaged and obsolete inventory amounting to RNil (2019: Nil) was provided for during the financial year. 

The write down of stock to its net realisable value in the current year amounted to RNil (2019: R163 630).

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense and included in cost of sales amounted to R66 499 772 (2019: R67 695 080).

8. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Group Company

R’000 2020 2019 2020 2019

Trade receivables  15 831  15 117  15 631  14 305 

Prepayments  421  1 141  404  983 

VAT receivable  10  55 — —

Other  173  218  158  203 

 16 435  16 531  16 193  15 491

Currencies
The carrying amount of trade and other receivables for the Group and the Company are denominated in:

Group Company

R’000 2020 2019 2020 2019

— US Dollars ($) —  1 464 —  1 464 

— Euro (€)  200  812 — —

— South African Rand (ZAR)  15 631  12 841  15 631  12 841 

 15 831  15 117  15 631 14 305

Credit quality of trade and other receivables
The average credit period on sales is 30 days for local customers. The majority of our foreign customers pay in advance before goods are shipped, however certain customers 
are granted extended terms based on their risk profile and banking relationships. Where customers are granted 180 days to pay by letter of credit we discount the bill in 
order to receive payment early. Additional charges are recognised in finance costs. Before accepting a new customer, the credit application has to be approved by the 
divisional managers of the sales department. Before any customer is allowed to buy on credit they have to be approved with a bank code (credit limits smaller than R25 000) 
or by Credit Guarantee (credit limits greater than R25 000). Credit Guarantee receives financial information from market participants and assesses their credit worthiness 
based on their financial records as well as reported defaults and other information that is available in the market. They will assess whether the applied credit limits can be 
satisfactorily insured and will inform the applicant appropriately. Only once the credit limit has been granted by Credit Guarantee can the credit limit be set. Should there be 
a change in the customers credit rating, Credit Guarantee informs us of this and the credit limit is withdrawn or adjusted accordingly. No customer is allowed to buy on credit 
if the account is in arrears or if the order is greater than the approved credit limit. If a customer should default on payment and collection efforts are unsuccessful, the Group 
will be paid out will be paid out between 80% and 90% of the outstanding balance by Credit Guarantee and the maximum cover is R9 million. The concentration of credit risk 
is limited due to the customer base being large and unrelated. This has also resulted in the loss giving default reducing due to the cover provided by Credit guarantee.

The credit quality of trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to historical evidence of low write-offs and the claims 
history with Credit Guarantee and is determined to be good.
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8. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER RECEIVABLES continued

Fair value of trade and other receivables
The carrying amount of the trade receivables approximates its fair value due to the short-term nature of the balances at year-end.

Trade and other receivables past due but not impaired
The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired are as follows:

Group Company

R’000 2020 2019 2020 2019

— 31 to 60 days  2 012  1 590  2 012  1 590 

— 61 to 90 days  1 448  244  1 448  244 

— Over 90 days  407  115  407  115 

Trade and other receivables impaired
An allowance of RNil is made for the impairment of receivables as at 29 February 2020 (2019: RNil).

Loss allowance assessment (IFRS 9)

R’000 Current

More than 
30 days 

past due

More than 
60 days 

past due

More than 
90 days 

past due Total

29 February 2020

Expected loss rate % 0,16 0,17 0,37 8,27

Gross carrying amount — trade receivables  11 964  2 012  1 448  407 

Loss allowance  19,14  3,42  5,36  33,67  62 

28 February 2019

Expected loss rate % 0,14 0,28 2,47 3,38

Gross carrying amount — trade receivables  13 168  1 590  244  115 

Loss allowance  18,44  4,45  6,03  3,89 33

The Group has cover with CGIC thus it was determined that no loss allowance was deemed necessary due to the immaterial amount calculated above for both the 2020 and 
2019 financial year. 

The Group reviewed CGIC’s ability to honour payment and have found that all debtors who have been insured and unable to pay off their debts were subsequently paid by 
CGIC in terms of the contract and there were no refusals of payment during the last 3 years. Based on this management has decided not to provide a loss allowance.
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9. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Group Company

R’000 2020 2019 2020 2019

Overdraft (4 474) (6 780) (4 475) (4 604)

Bank balance 1 457 528 777 484

Cash on hand 4 10 4 10

(3 013) (6 242) (3 693) (4 110)

Current assets 1 461 538 781 494

Current liabilities (4 474) (6 780) (4 475) (4 604)

(3 013) (6 242) (3 693) (4 110)

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, the cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:

Cash and bank balances (3 013) (6 242) (3 693) (4 110)

10. AMOUNT DUE BY (TO) SUBSIDIARIES AND RELATED COMPANIES
Group Company

R’000 2020 2019 2020 2019

Subsidiaries

Spanjaard EU BV  —  — — 239

Torpedo Investments Proprietary Limited  —  — 7 177 7 874

 —  — 7 177 8 113

Coppermet Proprietary Limited  —  — (6 492) (8 638)

Spanjaard EU BV  —  — (697) —

—  — (7 189) (8 638)

Current assets  —  — 7 177 8 113

Current liabilities —  — (7 189) (8 638)

—  — (12) (525)

The amounts granted to and from the fellow subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

These amounts arose from operational transactions.

All amounts due by and to subsidiaries are measured on an amortised cost basis as per policy. Management has assessed that the amounts are at fair value due to the short-
term nature (settlement usually within 3 months) of the transactions.

Management has assessed that the amount owing by Torpedo Investments Proprietary Limited (“Torpedo”) is fully recoverable and has not impaired the amount receivable 
from Torpedo. Torpedo receives a monthly rental for the use of its buildings from Spanjaard Ltd, which allows Torpedo to remain a going concern and profitable, allowing 
Torpedo to repay the amount due to Spanjaard.

 Spanjaard Integrated Annual Report 2020 69

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 29 FEBRUARY 2020



11. DEFERRED TAX
Group Company

R’000 2020 2019 2020 2019

Deferred tax liability comprises:

Property, plant and equipment 299 (1 561) (4 451) 387

Prepaid expenses (42) (131) (37) (127)

Income received in advance 239 — 239 —

Lease liabilities 1 006 — 5 951 —

Deferred tax relating to revaluations (8 209) (5 672) (3 219) (2 856)

Tax loss 1 172 999 762 678

Accruals 657 690 656 671

(4 878) (5 675) (99) (1 247)

Reconciliation of deferred tax balance

Net deferred tax at beginning of year (5 675) (4 164) (1 247) (476)

Deferred tax (expense)/income charged to profit or loss 1 110 (1 331) 1 511 (771)

Aggregate deferred tax charge to equity (313) (180) (363) —

(4 878) (5 675) (99) (1 247)

12. BORROWINGS
Group Company

R’000 2020 2019 2020 2019

Non-current

Finance lease liabilities  2 217  2 350  19 625  2 350 

 2 217  2 350  19 625  2 350 

Current

Finance lease liabilities  1 375  900  1 626  900 

 1 375  900  1 626  900 

Total borrowings  3 592  3 250  21 251  3 250 

Finance lease liabilities
Lease agreements cover certain Group items such as plant and machinery, motor vehicles and office equipment, having a net book value of R4 333 046 (2019:  
R3 586 232), Company R4 333 046 (2019: R3 586 232). Lease agreement on computer software have a net book value of R267 839 (2019: R436 969). 

The Company operates using the premises of its subsidiary, Torpedo Investments (Pty) Ltd paying an annual rental of R2 400 000 per annum. Included in the Company’s 
Finance lease liability is an amount of R17 658 180 (2019: RNil) owing to Torpedo Investments (Pty) Ltd. The carrying amount of the Land and Buildings at year-end was  
R16 986 054 (2019: RNil).

The agreements bear interest at rates between 1,5% below prime overdraft rate and 2,5% above the prime overdraft rate. The current weighted average rate is 11,24% 
(2019: 10,69%).
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12. BORROWINGS continued

Group Company

R’000 2020 2019 2020 2019

Total finance lease liabilities 3 592 3 250 21 251 3 250

Less: Current portion (1 375) (900) (1 626) (900)

2 217 2 350 19 625 2 350

The present value of finance lease liabilities is as follows:

Not later than 1 year 1 375 900 1 626 900

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 2 217 2 350 3 590 2 350

Later than 5 years — — 16 035 —

3 592 3 250 21 251 3 250

Finance lease liabilities — minimum lease payment:

Not later than 1 year 1 691 1 206 4 091 1 206

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 2 506 2 754 12 106 2 754

Later than 5 years — — 33 600 —

4 197 3 960 49 797 3 960

Future finance charges on finance leases (605) (710) (28 546) (710)

3 592 734 21 251 3 250

The contractual payments per month on the above finance leases are: 141 106 341 106

Borrowing facilities
The Group has the following significant facilities with the Bank

Spanjaard Limited and Coppermet (Proprietary) Limited has a combined borrowing facility up to R12 000 000.

Spanjaard Limited has a Forward Exchange Contract Facility of R2 200 000 and Coppermet (Proprietary) Limited has a facility of R3 591 000.

Spanjaard Limited has a Vehicle Asset Finance Facility of R3 040 500 and card facilities of R300 000.

The above facilities are secured by the cession of debtors and providing the building owned by the Group as surety.

The carrying amounts of borrowings are linked to the prime interest rate and market related repayment terms.

The Group’s borrowing powers are unlimited in terms of its Memorandum of Incorporation.

13. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Group Company

R’000 2020 2019 2020 2019

Trade payables  5 138  6 586  4 895  6 295 

Income received in advance  855  276  855  255 

Accrued expenses  2 146  793  1 990  688 

Provisions  786  818  786  818 

VAT payable  423  404  407  388 

Taxation  140 — — —

Accrued payroll expenses  1 547  1 647  1 547  1 647 

 11 035  10 524  10 480  10 091 

Trade and other payables are settled net 30 days. Exceptions are paid on an ad hoc basis.

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables approximate fair value due to their short-term nature.
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14. ORDINARY SHARES
Group Company

R’000 2020 2019 2020 2019

Authorised

15 000 000 ordinary shares of 5 cents each  750  750  750  750 

Issued

8 142 850 ordinary shares of 5 cents each  407  407  407  407 

Share premium  6 464  6 464  6 464  6 464 

 6 871  6 871  6 871  6 871

All issued shares are fully paid.

The unissued ordinary shares are under the control of the Directors. The authority remains in force until the next Annual General Meeting.

Capital Management policy
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are:

 — to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and
 — to provide a return to shareholders by continuing to declare dividends on a regular basis.

The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in the current economic conditions and the risk of characteristics of the 
underlying assets through dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

There have been no changes in the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing capital from the prior year.

The Group believes it has met the objectives of its capital management policy as the Group believes it has the resources to continue trading as a going concern in the 
foreseeable future and also due to the regular dividend payouts to its shareholders.

15. FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION RESERVE
Group Company

R’000 2020 2019 2020 2019

The translation reserve comprises of exchange differences on consolidation of the foreign 
subsidiaries (Spanjaard EU BV and Spanjaard UK Limited):

Opening balance  60  2 — —

Movement for the year  65  58 — —

Closing balance  125  60 — —

16. REVALUATION RESERVE
Group Company

R’000 2020 2019 2020 2019

Opening balance  7 497  7 621  1 406  2 118 

Release due to depreciation charge  94  (929) (107)  (712)

Current year revaluation — Net of tax (note 3)  806  805  962 —

 8 397  7 497  2 261  1 406

The difference between depreciation as calculated on the original cost of property, plant and equipment and depreciation calculated on the revalued amount is transferred 
to retained earnings on an annual basis.
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17. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT COMPENSATION RESERVE
Group Company

R’000 2020 2019 2020 2019

Opening balance —  1 906 —  1 906 

Transfer to retained earnings — (1 906) —  (1 906)

Closing balance — — — —

The share-based payment compensation reserve arose due to certain directors in Spanjaard Limited taking part in an executive share purchase scheme effective 
25 August 2010. The valuation was performed by the Financial Modelling Agency using a Monte Carlo simulation. The share purchase scheme has fully vested and was 
cancelled effective 29 February 2016. 

In the prior financial year the share-based payment compensation reserve was transferred to retained earnings.

18. COMMITMENTS
Group Company

R’000 2020 2019 2020 2019

Short-term leases — as lessee

Minimum lease payments due

— within one year  366  370  165  2 584 

— in second to fifth year inclusive —  115 —  115 

 366  485  165  2 699

Short-term lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its office equipment and property lease rentals. These leases are of low value or are less 
than one year. Leases are negotiated over an average term of one to five years and rentals are fixed for the period of the lease.

19. REVENUE
Group Company

R’000 2020 2019 2020 2019

Automotive 36 415 36 177 36 415 36 177

Industrial 47 060 44 192 47 060 44 192

Exports 15 474 19 396 13 052 17 233

Consumer goods 24 666 26 163 24 666 26 163

Head office, manufacturing and other  116 316  116 306

123 731 126 244 121 309 124 071

Group Company

R’000 2020 2019 2020 2019

South Africa 102 924 101 543 102 924 101 534

Asia 6 751 10 786 6 751 10 733

Africa 7 732 8 383 7 732 8 383

Europe 5 841 5 242 3 419 3 131

Other 484 290 484 290

123 731 126 244 121 309 124 071
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19. REVENUE continued

The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods at a point in time, net of rebates. Rebates are negotiated with customers at contract stage and is a fixed percentage 
reduction on the fixed price list for the year.

Revenue from external customers come from the sale of specialised lubricants and allied chemical products. Sales in the automotive and industrial segments come from 
both the Groups own brand, Spanjaard, as well as other private label brands. Sales in the consumer goods segment relate only to private label brands.

The Group generates revenue primarily from the sale of goods in the industrial and automotive segments. Refer to note 2 for further detail regarding the Group segments.

Revenue from large customers in the 2020 financial year (customers contributing > R10 million to segment sales) comprises R10 million from one customer in the consumer 
goods segment and R12,5 million from one customer operating in both the industrial and automotive segment.

20. FINANCE COSTS
Group Company

R’000 2020 2019 2020 2019

Bank overdraft 416 817 416 817

Lease liability 403 316  2 581 315

Interest paid — discounted bills 37 72 37 72

Interest received (4) (8) (4) (8)

852 1 197  3 030 1 196

21. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX

The following items have been included in arriving at profit/(loss) before tax:

Group Company

R’000 Notes 2020 2019 2020 2019

Cost of sales

Raw materials and consumables used  77 554  78 296  78 156  78 573 

Employment cost  10 684  10 394  10 681  10 086 

Depreciation and amortisation  1 098  1 118  1 098  1 118 

Distribution

Employment cost  3 141  3 559  3 141  3 559 

Depreciation and amortisation  380  239  380  222 

Administration

Employment cost  17 592  17 035  17 592  17 029 

Depreciation and amortisation  895  1 009  1 561  758 

Auditor’s remuneration  896  1 016  753  876 

Foreign exchange profit (76)  (273)  (65)  (289)

Short-term lease expenditure  1 263  1 062  2 865  3 180 

Impairment of investment in subsidiary 6 — — —  228 

Intercompany debt relinquished by subsidiary — — —  (346)

Impairment of non current assets held for sale —  9 — —

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  154  64  154  71 

Loss on disposal of non-current assets held for sale —  27 — —
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21. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX continued

Group Company

R’000 Notes 2020 2019 2020 2019

Depreciation and amortisation 3,4  2 373  2 366  3 039  2 098 

 Cost of sales  1 098  1 118  1 098  1 118 

 Distribution  380  239  380  222 

 Administration  895  1 009  1 561  758 

Employment costs 22  31 417  30 988  31 414  30 674 

 Cost of sales  10 684  10 394  10 681  10 086 

 Distribution  3 141  3 559  3 141  3 559 

 Administration  17 592  17 035  17 592  17 029

22. EMPLOYMENT COSTS
Group Company

R’000 2020 2019 2020 2019

Short-term employee benefits  29 130  28 686  29 127  28 387 

Salaries and wages  28 469  28 218  28 466  27 942 

Leave pay  252  85  252  68 

Statutory contributions  409  383  409  377 

Post employment benefits  2 287  2 302  2 287  2 287 

Provident fund — defined contribution plans 1 743  1 706 1 743  1 691 

Directors’ retirement benefits 544  596  544  596 

 31 417  30 988  31 414  30 674 

Directors’ emoluments 6 831  6 274 6 831  6 274 

Included in above

Short-term employee benefits 6 287  5 678 6 287  5 678 

Post employment benefits  544  596 544  596 

It is compulsory for all employees to be a member of a Provident Fund. The Company’s main Provident fund is Liberty Life Provident Fund. The Company has allowed staff to 
join CINPF (Union Provident Fund) from January 2020. Both funds are governed by the Pensions Fund Act of South Africa.

Refer to page 44 for a detailed breakdown of the Directors’ Emoluments.

23. TAXATION
Group Company

R’000 2020 2019 2020 2019

South African normal tax

Current tax 132 — — —

Deferred tax — current affecting profit and loss (1 163) 1 524 (1 522) 771

Deferred tax — prior affecting profit and loss — (184) — —

Tax charge/(gain) (1 031) 1 340 (1 522) 771
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23. TAXATION continued

The Group has a calculated tax loss available of R3 286 852 (2019: R3 698 119) which management is of the opinion that the loss will be utilised against taxable income in 
the foreseeable future. Coppermet (Pty) Ltd has a tax loss of R2 619 927 (2019: R2 631 699) which management is of the opinion that the loss will not be utilised against 
taxable income in the foreseeable future and thus has not recognised a tax loss on this portion.

The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the South African tax rate as follows:

Group Company

R’000 2020 2019 2020 2019

Profit/(loss) before tax 1 094 3 842 (782) 2 988

Tax at South African normal tax rate of 28% 306 1 076 (219) 837

Tax rate difference of foreign entity (63) — — —

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible (taxable) in calculating taxable income:

Assessed loss gained (261) (706) (85) (547)

Deferred tax differences (1 008) 942  (1 212) 526

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 65 77 65 70

— Loss on disposal of assets 43 26 43 20

— Depreciation on leasehold improvements 22 20 22 20

— Legal costs — 23 — 23

— Other  — 8 — 7

Capital gains tax — — — 26

Learnership allowances (66) (100) (66) (100)

Income not taxable for tax purposes (4) (9) (4) (41)

— Intercompany debt relinquished by subsidiary — — — (32)

— Employment tax incentive (4) (9) (4) (9)

Income tax expense (1 031) 1 340 (1 522) 771

24. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER ORDINARY SHARE

Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per ordinary share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
in issue during the year. The Group has no dilutive potential ordinary shares.

Group

R’000 2020 2019

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 2 125 2 502

Actual and weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (‘000’s) 8 143 8 143

Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents) 26,1  30,7 

The calculation of headline earnings/(loss) per share is based on earnings as calculated below and a weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue of 8 142 850 
(2019: 8 142 850).
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24. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER ORDINARY SHARE continued

2020 2019

R’000 Gross
Income 

tax effect Net Gross
Income

 tax effect Net

Profit for the year attributable to shareholders 2 125 — 2 125 2 502 — 2 502

Adjustments for:

Impairment of non current assets held for sale — — — 9 (3) 6

Loss on disposal of non current assets held for sale — — — 27 (8) 19

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 154 (43) 111 64 (18) 46

Headline (loss)/earnings 2 279 (43) 2 236 2 602 (28) 2 574

Actual and weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (‘000’s) — — 8 143 — — 8 143

Headline and diluted headline earnings per share (cents) — — 27,5 — —  31,6 

25. CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN) OPERATIONS
Group Company

R’000 2020 2019 2020 2019

Profit/(loss) before tax 1 094 3 842 (782) 2 988

Adjustments for:

— Depreciation and amortisation 2 373 2 366  3 039 2 098

— Finance costs 852 1 197  3 030 1 196

— Impairment loss — — — 228

— Intercompany debt relinquished by subsidiary — — — (346)

—  Impairment of non-current assets held for sale — 9 — —

— Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 154 64 154 71

— Loss on disposal of non-current assets held for sale — 27 — —

Changes in working capital:

— Inventories 1 439 (3 323) 1 419 (3 451)

— Trade and other receivables 96 (276) (702) 557

— Trade and other payables 515 (963) 390 (215)

— Amount due by subsidiaries and related companies — — (511) 922

Cash generated from operations  6 524  2 943 6 036 4 048

26. INCOME TAX RECEIVED
Group Company

R’000 2020 2019 2020 2019

Opening balance — — — —

Charge per profit and loss excluding movement in deferred tax 132 — — —

Closing balance (132) — — —

Tax received — — — —
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27. NET DEBT RECONCILIATION

This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the movements in net debt for each of the periods presented.

Group Company

R’000 2020 2019 2020 2019

Net debt

Cash and cash equivalents  1 461 538 781 494

Borrowings — repayable within one year (including overdraft)  (5 849) (7 680) (6 101) (5 504)

Borrowings — repayable after one year (2 217) (2 350) (19 625) (2 350)

Net debt (6 604) (9 492) (24 944) (7 360)

Cash and liquid investments  1 461 538 781 494

Gross debt — variable interest rates  (8 066) (10 030) (25 725) (7 854)

Net debt (6 604) (9 492) (24 944) (7 360)

Other assets Lease liabilities from financing activities

R’000
Cash/bank

 overdraft

Current 
lease 

liability

Long-term 
lease 

liability Total

Group

Net debt as at 1 March 2018 (6 400) (345) (389) (7 134)

Cash flows 102 1 024 — 1 126

Non-cash flow movements relating to finance leases — (1 579) (1 961) (3 540)

Foreign exchange differences 56 — — 56

Net debt as at 28 February 2019 (6 242) (900) (2 350) (9 492)

Cash flows 3 305 1 147 — 4 453

Non-cash flow movements relating to finance leases — (1 622) 133 (1 489)

Foreign exchange differences (76) — — (76)

Net debt as at 29 February 2020 (3 013) (1 375) (2 217) (6 604)

Other assets Lease liabilities from financing activities

R’000
Cash/bank

 overdraft

Current 
lease 

liability

Long-term 
lease 

liability Total

Company

Net debt as at 1 March 2018 (5 056) (302) (389) (5 747)

Cash flows 891 981 — 1 872

Non-cash flow movements relating to finance leases — (1 579) (1 961) (3 540)

Foreign exchange differences 55 — — 55

Net debt as at 28 February 2019 (4 110) (900) (2 350) (7 360)

Cash flows 417 1 369 — 1 786

Non-cash flow movements relating to finance leases — (2 095) (17 275) (19 370)

Net debt as at 29 February 2020 (3 693) (1 626) (19 625) (24 944)
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28. RELATED PARTIES

All transaction prices with related parties are in the normal course of business.

Relationships
Holding company: Spanjaard Group Limited

Subsidiaries: Coppermet Proprietary Limited 

 Spanjaard EU BV

 Spanjaard UK Limited

 Torpedo Investments Proprietary Limited

R’000 2020 2019

Related party balances R’000

Amounts owing by subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries

Amount due by subsidiaries — refer to note 10 7 177 8 113

Amounts owing to subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries

Amount due to subsidiaries — refer to note 10 (7 189) (8 638)

Transactions with subsidiaries

Management fees charged to Torpedo 840 840

Lease rental charged by Torpedo (2 400) (2 400)

Purchase of vehicle from Coppermet — (105)

Purchases of non-current assets held for sale from Spanjaard UK — (14)

Purchases from Coppermet (65) 0

Sales to Spanjaard EU BV 3 384 3 192

Transactions with close family members of key management personnel in Company — —‚

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial risk factors
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including credit risk, foreign currency exchange rate risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall 
risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group 
through mitigating risk. This is managed at Group and Company level by the Board of Directors. The Group currently banks with Standard Bank Group Limited and Ebury Bank 
who have a credit rating of Ba2 and P-1 respectively.

There has been no change to the policies and procedures for managing risk from the prior year.

(i) Credit risk
Credit risk relates mainly to cash deposits, cash equivalents and trade debtors at year end amounting to R17 398 212 (2018: R16 196 249). The Group only deposits cash 
with major banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter-party.

Trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Customers are independently rated by Credit Guarantee and these ratings are used as explained in note 8. 
Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance with limits set.

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk, due to its wide spread of customers. The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales of products are made to 
customers with an appropriate credit history and that partially guarantee the recoverability of trade receivables.
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

(ii) Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with respect to the US Dollar, the Euro and the 
GB Pound. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in foreign operations. To manage their 
foreign exchange risk arising from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities, entities in the Group use derivative financial instruments such as 
forward foreign exchange contracts to reduce certain exposures. Although the Group hedges its foreign currency transactions, this does not qualify as hedging in terms of 
IFRS. There were no foreign exchange contracts open at year-end. Please refer to table below for Exchange rates used. The Group reviews its foreign currency exposure on 
an ongoing basis.

Foreign currency exposure at reporting date

R’000 2020 2019

Group

Unhedged current asset

Accounts receivable ($)  —  104 

Carrying value in rands  —  1 464 

Accounts receivable (€)  12  50 

Carrying value in rands  200  812 

Unhedged current liabilities

Accounts payable ($)  — 30 

Carrying value in rands  —  431 

Accounts payable (€)  21  — 

Carrying value in rands  361  — 

Company

Unhedged current assets

Accounts receivable ($)  —  104 

Carrying value in rands  —  1 464 

Accounts receivable (€)  —  — 

Carrying value in rands  —  — 

R’000 2020 2019

Unhedged current liabilities

Accounts payable ($)  —  30 

Carrying value in rands  —  431 

Exchange rates used for conversion of foreign items were:

United States Dollar — year-end rate 15,627 14,137 

United States Dollar — average rate 14,600 13,544 

Great British Pound — year-end rate* 19,078 18,749 

Great British Pound — average rate* 18,944 17,844 

Euro — year-end rate 17,191 16,084 

Euro — average rate  16,248  15,779 

* The rate for 2020 is as at 31 March 2019.
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

Sensitivity analysis

The table below demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax due 
to changes in the fair value of forward exchange contracts and foreign accounts payable and receivable.

Group Company

R’000 2020 2019 2020 2019

Dollar fluctuation

+5% — 52 — 52

-5% — (52) — (52)

Euro fluctuation

+5% 10 41 — —

-5% (10) (41) — —

(iii) Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through its borrowings (note 12) and cash and cash equivalents (note 9). Management of interest risk is through increased turnover 
and effective controls over cash collections.

Sensitivity analysis

The table below demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax through 
the impact on variable rate borrowings.

Group Company

R’000 2020 2019 2020 2019

Interest rate fluctuation

+5% 180 163 180 163

-5% (180) (163) (180) (163)

(iv) Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities and the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed 
credit facilities. This is managed via daily reconciliations of the cash on hand and cash forecast to ensure the facility limit is not breached.

Refer to note 8 for the disclosure surrounding the trade receivables and other receivables.
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date.

Weighted
 percentage (%)

Less than 
1 year

Between 1 
and 5 years

Over 
5 years Total

Group

At 29 February 2020

Liabilities

Lease liabilities 11,24  1 691  2 506  —  4 197 

Trade and other payables 8 070  —  — 8 070

Overdraft 9,40 4 474  —  — 4 474

14 235  2 506  — 16 741

At 28 February 2019

Liabilities

Lease liabilities 10,69  1 206  2 754 —  3 960 

Trade and other payables 8 197  —  — 8 197

Overdraft 12,08  6 780  —  —  6 780 

16 183  2 754 — 18 937

Company

At 29 February 2020

Liabilities

Lease liabilities 11,24 4 091 12 106  — 16 197

Trade and other payables 7 671  —  — 7 671

Overdraft 9,40  4 475  —  —  4 475 

16 237 12 106  — 28 343

At 28 February 2019

Liabilities

Lease liabilities 10,84  1 206  2 754 —  3 960 

Trade and other payables 7 801  —  — 7 801

Overdraft 12,08  4 604  —  —  4 604 

13 611  2 754 — 16 365
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
 Carrying amount

R’000 2020 2019

Group

Financial assets

Loans and receivables at amortised cost

Trade receivables  15 831  15 117 

Cash and cash equivalents  1 461  538 

 17 292  15 655 

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Borrowings

— Non-current  2 217  2 350 

— Current  1 375  900 

Bank overdraft  4 474  6 780 

Trade and other payables  8 070 8 197

 16 136 18 227

Company

Financial assets

Loans and receivables at amortised cost

Trade receivables  15 631  14 305 

Amount due by related company  7 177  8 113 

Cash and cash equivalents  781  494 

 23 589  22 912 

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Borrowings

— Non-current  19 625  2 350 

— Current  1 626  900 

Amount due to related company  7 189  8 638 

Bank overdraft  4 475  4 604 

Trade and other payables  7 671 7 801

 40 585 24 293

The carrying amounts of short-term instruments are a reasonable estimate of the fair values because of the short maturity of such instruments. The carrying amounts of 
long-term borrowings are a reasonable estimate of fair value as the borrowings are based on floating market rates. The long-term borrowings are amortised over their 
defined term and have been split into their long- and short-term portions based on the capital repayments as calculated using the effective interest rate.
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31. FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

The table below analyses assets and liabilities carried at fair value. The different levels are defined as follows:

Level 1: Quoted unadjusted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Group can access at measurement date.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Levels of fair value measurements

Group Company

R’000 Notes 2020 2019 2020 2019

Level 3

Property, plant and equipment 3

Freehold land and buildings  19 282  19 500 — —

Plant and equipment  7 753  10 342  7 728  10 310 

Total property, plant and equipment  27 035  29 842  7 728  10 310 

Valuation techniques underlying management’s estimation of fair value
Management assessed the conclusion reached on the valuation of JC Bokhorst Valuation Services (Pty) Ltd, which emphasised that the valuation of the freehold land and 
Buildings be set at R19 500 000 and relied on the conclusion in order to value the freehold land and Buildings. The following methodologies is applicable to and used in 
determining the results as set out below:

Estimated new
 replacement 

cost approach

Depreciated
 replacement 

cost approach

Capital 
rental 

approach

Sensitivity on managements estimates:

Year ended 28 February 2019  29 611  19 631  19 700 

5% decrease in land value per square meter  29 180  20 061 —

5% increase in land value per square meter  30 041  19 201 —

0,5% decrease in capitalisation rate — —  20 600 

0,5% increase in capitalisation rate — —  18 900 

Management reviewed the valuation performed by the The Property Partnership East Rand CC on its Plant and Machinery. Management relied on the valuation conclusion 
arrived at by the valuators subject to the adjustments explained below. The following methodologies is applicable to and used in determining the results as set out below:

Gross 
current

 replacement 
cost

Depreciated
 replacement 

cost 

Depreciated
 replacement 

cost 
adjusted *

Net 
fair value

Sensitivity on managements estimates:

Year ended 29 February 2020  56 391  8 879  (1 126)  7 753 

5% increase in exchange rate  59 211  9 323  (1 126)  8 197 

5% decrease in exchange rate  53 571  8 435  (1 126)  7 309

*  The depreciated replacement cost included valuation done on Right-of-use assets. Management assessed that since it only has the right to use the asset it was best to carry the right-of-use assets at their 
original cost and applied the evaluation to owned assets only.
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32. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Directorate
Mr MJ Siddall, Chairman of the Board at 29 February 2020, resigned as a director with effect from 31 March 2020.

Mr HF Kocks has been appointed as an independent non-executive director on 25 May 2020.

COVID-19 — Coronavirus
On 30 January 2020, the World Health Organisation declared the Coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak a Public Health Emergency. The global response had led to travel and 
import and export restrictions which started to impact the Company in the weeks to follow.

When the Government of South Africa declared a National Disaster in response to COVID-19 followed by a national lockdown, the Company responded swiftly by identifying 
risks and developing a continuity plan which allowed the Company to operate although at a significantly reduced capacity. 

Furthermore, in response to health risks presented by COVID-19, Spanjaard developed a hand and surface sanitiser for its staff members. Soon thereafter the product was 
made available to essential service providers in order to meet some of the critical demand. The development of this product played a significant role in business continuity 
along with Spanjaard’s food manufacturing division.

As an essential Service provider, materials utilised in producing the essential service products were available which allowed the business to continue trading during the 
lockdown. Spanjaard EU BV also continued trading during the lockdown period as trading between European Countries were still permitted during the Lockdown period.

As a result, there has been no adjustment made to the Financial Statements.

33. GOING CONCERN

The financial statements have been prepared using appropriate accounting policies, supported by reasonable judgments and estimates. The directors have a reasonable 
expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue as a going concern. The directors have performed the required liquidity and solvency tests required by the 
Companies Act of South Africa.

In assessing the going concern, the directors have reviewed the potential impact, based on the current information available as at date of signature of this report, 
of COVID-19 on the business as explained in subsequent event note 32 and notes below.

Three key factors were identified during the assessment to continue as a going concern during the lockdown namely, being able to continue operating, breaking even and 
strict cash flow management.

In order to continue production, the Company took steps to ensure that all staff exposure to the virus was minimised by implementing policy with the following 
safety protocols:

 — Permit staff to work from home where possible

 — Providing all staff with masks and sanitiser

 — Rearranging of production facilities to maintain social distancing

 — Maintaining staff on site at a minimum

 — Temperature screening and sanitising of all staff and visitors prior to giving access to the premises

 — Increasing the rotation of sanitising all environments

 — Minimising movement between areas

Finances and operations were and continue to be carefully and tightly monitored, managed and controlled during the lockdown and for as long as Covid-19 remains a risk. 

The Company had a profitable March 2020 and managed to break-even in April 2020 and May 2020. With lockdown restrictions having been relaxed at the beginning of 
June  2020, the Company anticipates returning to full production of all its products as many of its pre-lockdown customers commence trading fully and have begun 
ordering goods.  

The Group has sufficient Cash and Cash equivalents to continue as a going concern for the foreseeable future.
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The following information has been extracted from the register of shareholders at 29 February 2020:

Number of
 shareholders

% of total
 shareholders

Number of 
shares held 

‘000
% of total 

shares issued

Share categories

Public

1 — 5 000 shares  400 88,30  144 1,77

5 001 — 10 000 shares  16 3,54  132 1,62

10 001 — 50 000 shares  27 5,96  647 7,95

50 001 — 100 000 shares  5 1,10  309 3,79

100 001 — and over  5 1,10  6 911 84,87

 453 100,00  8 143 100,00

Group categories

Public companies  3 1,23  5 916 72,68

Individuals  379 64,94  2 038 23,82

Nominees and trusts  7 3,46  73 2,38

Private companies  62 22,72  76 1,08

Funds  2 7,65  40 0,04

 453 100,00  8 143 100,00

Shareholding in the Company

Share type

Public  448 98,90  1 781 21,87

Non-public

— Directors  4 0,88  519 6,38

— Holding company  1 0,22  5 843 71,75

 453 100,00  8 143 100,00

The following shareholders directly hold more than five percent of the issued share capital: 

Number of 
shares held 

‘000
% of total 

shares issued

Group categories

Spanjaard Group Limited  5 843 71,75

BV Von Spreckelsen  507 6,23

 6 350 77,98
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SPANJAARD LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa) 
(Registration number: 1960/004393/06) 
JSE Share Code: SPA ISIN: ZAE000006938

NOTICE OF MEETING
Notice is hereby given that the 58th annual general meeting of 
shareholders of the Company (“the meeting”) will be held at The 
Wanderers Club, 21 North Road, Illovo, Johannesburg, at 12:00 
on 15 September 2020.

RECORD DATE, ATTENDANCE AND VOTING
The record date for determining which shareholders are entitled to 
notice of the meeting is Friday, 3 July 2020 and the record date for 
determining which shareholders are entitled to participate in and 
vote at the meeting is Friday, 4 September 2020. The last day to 
trade in order to be eligible to vote at the meeting is accordingly 
Tuesday, 1 September 2020.

If you hold dematerialised shares which are registered in your 
name or if you are the registered holder of certified shares:

 — you may attend the meeting in person;
 — alternatively, you may appoint a proxy to represent you at the 

meeting by completing the attached form of proxy in accord-
ance with the instructions it contains and returning it to Com-
putershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited, 15 Biermann 
Avenue, Rosebank, Johannesburg, 2196 (PO Box 61051, Mar-
shalltown, 2107) (“transfer secretaries”).

If you hold dematerialised shares which are not registered in 
your name:

 — and wish to attend the meeting, you must obtain the nec-
essary letter of representation from your Central Securities 
Depository Participant (“CSDP”) or broker;

 — and do not wish to attend the meeting but would like your vote 
to be recorded at the meeting, you should contact your CSDP 
or broker and furnish them with your voting instructions;

 — you must not complete the attached form of proxy.

All shareholders are entitled to attend, speak and vote at the gen-
eral meeting and to appoint one or more proxies to attend, speak 
and vote or abstain in their stead. On a show of hands, every 
member who is present in person or by proxy shall have one 
vote, and, on a poll, every member present or by proxy shall have 
one vote for each share held by him/her.

A shareholder who is entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is 
entitled, by completing the attached proxy form and delivering it 
to the Company in accordance with the instructions on that 
proxy form, to appoint a proxy to attend, participate in and vote 
at the meeting in that shareholder’s place. A proxy need not be a 
shareholder of the Company.

All meeting participants (including shareholders and proxies) 
may be required to provide satisfactory identification to the 
Chairman of the meeting. Forms of identification include valid 
identity documents, passports and driver’s licences.

PURPOSE OF MEETING
The purpose of this meeting is to consider and, if deemed fit, to 
pass, with or without modification, the resolutions set out below.

VOTING RIGHTS

In order for ordinary resolutions number 1 to 8 to be adopted, the 
support of at least the simple majority (50% plus one share) of the 
total number of votes, which the shareholders present or repre-
sented by proxy at this meeting are entitled to cast, is required. 
The quorum for the meeting is 25% (twenty-five percent) of the 
issued share capital of the Company.

REPORT FROM THE  
SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE

In accordance with Companies Regulation 42(5)(c), issued in 
terms of the Act, the Chairman of the Social and Ethics Commit-
tee, or in the absence of the Chairman any member of the Com-
mittee, will present the Committee’s report to shareholders at the 
Annual General Meeting.

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 1 — 
APPROVAL OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

To receive and adopt the annual financial statements of  
Spanjaard Limited for the year ended 29 February 2020.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 2 —  
RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS

To ratify the appointment and confirm the election of Mr M Notrica, 
Mr SS Zikalala and Mr HF Kocks as Non-executive Directors of the 
Company, and to furthermore place Mr S Vassan Makan (Executive 
Finance Director) before a general meeting of the shareholders for 
election and in accordance with the provisions of the  Memoran-
dum of Incorporation of the Company.

Brief CVs of above mentioned Directors are included in the inte-
grated annual report on pages 12 and 13.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 3 — 
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

To confirm the directors’ remuneration as detailed in the directors’ 
emoluments note in the integrated annual report of the Company 
for the year ended 29 February 2020.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 4 — 
APPOINTMENT AND REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

To appoint Nexia SAB&T as auditors of the Company until the fol-
lowing annual general meeting, and to authorise the Directors to 
determine their remuneration for the past year.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 5 — 
APPOINTMENT OF THE MEMBERS OF THE AUDIT 
COMMITTEE

To appoint, by way of separate resolutions, the Audit Committee 
Chairperson, Mr SS Zikalala and Audit Committee members, 
Mr M Notrica and Mr HF Kocks as required in terms of the Com-
panies Act and as recommended by King IV.
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ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 6 — 
APPOINTMENT OF THE COMPANY SECRETARY

To authorise any person authorised by Levitt Kirson Business  
Services Proprietary Limited to continue in office as Company 
Secretary.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 7 — 
DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

To confirm that in compliance with section 75(5) of the Act, the 
directors have no interest to declare in any contracts entered 
into by the Company during the year under review.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 8 — 
OTHER BUSINESS

To transact such other business as may be transacted at an AGM.

NON-BINDING ADVISORY VOTE — 
REMUNERATION POLICY
King IV recommends that the Company’s remuneration policy be 
tabled for a non-binding advisory vote by shareholders at every 
AGM, thus providing the shareholders with an opportunity to ex-
press their views on the Company’s remuneration policies. The 
report of the Remuneration Committee is set out on pages 32 to 
35 of the integrated annual report.

NON-BINDING ADVISORY VOTE

“Resolved that the Company’s remuneration policy as set out on 
pages 32 to 35 of the integrated annual report, be and is hereby 
endorsed by way of a non-binding advisory vote.”

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS

VOTING RIGHTS

In order for the special resolutions to be adopted, the support of 
at least 75% (seventy-five percent) of the total number of votes, 
which the shareholders present or represented by proxy at this 
meeting are entitled to cast, is required. The quorum for the 
meeting is 25% (twenty-five percent) of the issued share capital 
of the Company.

SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 1 —  
FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE TO RELATED OR  
INTER-RELATED ENTITIES TO THE COMPANY

To resolve that the Board of Directors is authorised, in terms of and 
subject to the provisions of section 45 of the Companies Act, to 
cause the Company to provide financial assistance to any compa-
ny or corporation that is related or inter-related to the Company.

Reason for and effect of this resolution
Special resolution number 1 is required in terms of section 45 of 
the Companies Act to grant the Directors of the Company the 
authority to cause the Company to provide financial assistance 
to any entity which is related or inter-related to the Company, 
and it will have this effect. This special resolution does not  
authorise the provision of financial assistance to a Director or 
Prescribed Officer of the Company.

SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 2 —  
FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE FOR SUBSCRIPTION FOR OR 
PURCHASE OF SECURITIES BY RELATED OR INTER-
RELATED ENTITIES TO THE COMPANY
To resolve that the Board of Directors is authorised, in terms of 
and subject to the provisions of section 44 of the Companies Act, 
to cause the Company to provide financial assistance for subscrip-
tion for or purchase of securities to any entity which is related or 
inter-related to the Company, and it will have this effect.

Reason for and effect of this resolution
Special resolution number 2 is required in terms of section 44 of 
the Companies Act to grant the Directors of the Company the 
authority to cause the Company to provide financial assistance 
for the subscription for or purchase of securities to any entity 
which is related or inter-related to the Company, and it will have 
this effect. This special resolution does not authorise the provi-
sion of financial assistance to a Director or prescribed officer of 
the Company.

SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 3 —  
APPROVAL OF THE REMUNERATION OF NON-EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTORS FOR SERVICES AS DIRECTORS FOR THE 
FOLLOWING YEAR
To resolve that the following remuneration of Directors of the 
Company for their services as Directors of the Company for the 
period from 1 March 2020 to 28 February 2021 be and is hereby 
approved in accordance with section 66(9) of the Companies Act:

 — Chairman of the Board — R195 000 per annum
 — Non-executive members of the Board — R195 000 per annum

Reason for and effect of this resolution
Special resolution number 3 is required in terms of section 66(9) 
of the Companies Act, in order that the Company may, if so  
authorised in terms of a special resolution, pay remuneration to 
its non-executive directors for their services as Directors. The  
effect of this resolution is to approve the remuneration of the 
Directors of the Company for their services as Directors for the 
following year.

INTERPRETATION OF THIS NOTICE
In this notice of AGM, all references to:

 — “Companies Act” means the Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008, 
as amended;

 — “JSE Listings Requirements” means the Listings Requirements 
of the Johannesburg Stock Exchange, as amended from time 
to time;

 — “King IV” means the King IV Report on Corporate Governance 
for South Africa 2016;

 — “MOI” means the Memorandum of Incorporation.

By order of the Board

Levitt Kirson Business Services Proprietary Limited
Company Secretary

Johannesburg — 7 July 2020
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SPANJAARD LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa) 
(Registration number: 1960/004393/06) 
JSE Share Code: SPA ISIN: ZAE000006938

This form of proxy (“form”) is for use by certificated shareholders and dematerialised shareholders whose shares are registered in their own names on Friday, 4 September 2020, 
being the record date for the meeting (see note 1).

This form relates to the annual general meeting of shareholders to be held at The Wanderers Club, 21 North Road, Illovo, Johannesburg, at 12:00, 15 September 2020 (“meeting”)  
(see note 2).

For instructions on the use of this form and a summary of the rights of the shareholders and the proxy, please see the instructions and notes at the end of this form. 

I/We (full names) 

of (address) 

being a shareholder/s of the Company and being the registered owner/s of  
ordinary shares in the Company (see note 3), hereby appoint: 

1.  or failing him/her

2.  or failing him/her

the Chairman of the meeting (see note 4) as my/our proxy to attend, speak and on a poll to vote or abstain from voting on my/our behalf at the meeting of the Company to be held at The 
Wanderers Club, 21 North Road, Illovo, Johannesburg, at 12:00 on 15 September 2020 or at any adjournment thereof (see note 5).

I/We desire my/our proxy to vote as follows (Indicate with a cross how you wish your vote to be cast. If you do not do so, the proxy may vote or abstain at his discretion — see note 6):

In favour of Against Abstain

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS
1. Approval of the annual financial statements

2. Ratification of appointment of Directors

 2.1 To elect Mr M Notrica as Non-executive Director of the Board

 2.2 To elect Mr SS Zikalala as Non-executive Director of the Board

 2.3 To elect Mr HF Kocks as Non-executive Director of the Board

 2.4 To elect Mr S Vassan Makan as Executive Finance Director of the Board

3. Approval of directors’ remuneration

4. Appointment and remuneration of auditors

5. Appointment of the members of the Audit Committee

 5.1  To appoint Mr SS Zikalala as Chairperson of the Audit Committee as required in terms of the Companies Act and as 
recommended by King IV

 5.2  To appoint Mr M Notrica as member of the Audit Committee as required in terms of the Companies Act and as recommended 
by King IV

 5.3   To appoint Mr HF Kocks as a member of the Audit Committee as required in terms of the Companies Act and as recommended 
by King IV

6. To authorise any person authorised by Levitt Kirson Business Services Proprietary Limited to continue in office as Company Secretary

7.  To confirm that in compliance with section 75(5) of the Act, the directors have no interest to declare in any contracts entered into by 
the Company during the year under review

8. To transact such other business as may be transacted at an annual general meeting

NON-BINDING ADVISORY VOTE — REMUNERATION POLICY
SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS
1 Financial assistance to related and inter-related entities to the Company

2. Financial assistance for the subscription for or purchase of securities by related and inter-related entities to the Company

3. Approval of the remuneration of non-executive directors for services as directors for the following year

Signed this  day of   2020

Signature  Number of shares 

Please see the notes on the reverse side hereof for further instructions.
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1. This form is for use by certificated shareholders and dematerialised shareholders 
with “own-name” registration whose shares are registered in their own names on 
the record date and who wish to appoint another person to represent them at the 
meeting. If duly authorised, companies and other corporate bodies which are 
shareholders having shares registered in their own names may appoint a proxy 
using this form, or may appoint a representative in accordance with the last 
paragraph below.

Other shareholders should not use this form. All beneficial holders who have 
dematerialised their shares through a Central Securities Depository Participant 
(CSDP) or broker, and do not have their shares registered in their own name, must 
provide the CSDP or broker with their voting instructions. Alternatively, if they wish 
to attend the meeting in person, they should request the CSDP or broker to provide 
them with a letter of representation in terms of the custody agreement entered into 
between the beneficial owner and the CSDP or broker.

2. Shareholders are encouraged to provide their proxy forms to Computershare 
Investor Services Proprietary Limited, 15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank, 
Johannesburg, 2196, Republic of South Africa at least 48 (forty-eight) hours prior 
to the meeting. Proxy forms will be accepted up and before the start of the 
meeting but not thereafter. If a shareholder does not wish to deliver this form to 
that address, it may also be posted, at the risk of the shareholder, to PO Box 
61051, Marshalltown, 2107.

3. This form shall apply to all the ordinary shares registered in the name of 
shareholders at the record date unless a lesser number of shares is inserted.

4. A shareholder may appoint one person as his proxy by inserting the name of such 
proxy in the space provided. Any such proxy need not be a shareholder of the 
Company. If the name of the proxy is not inserted, the Chairman of the meeting will 
be appointed as proxy. If more than one name is inserted, then the person whose 
name appears first on this form and who is present at the meeting will be entitled to 
act as proxy to the exclusion of any persons whose names follow. The proxy 
appointed in this form may delegate the authority given to him in this proxy by 
delivering to the Company, in the manner required by these instructions, a further 
form which has been completed in a manner consistent with the authority given to 
the proxy of this form.

5. Unless revoked, the appointment of a proxy in terms of this form remains valid until 
the end of the meeting even if the meeting or part thereof is postponed or 
adjourned.

6. Irrespective of the form of instrument used to appoint a proxy, if:

6.1. a shareholder does not indicate on this form that the proxy is to vote in favour 
of or against or to abstain from voting on any resolution; or

6.2. the shareholder gives contrary instructions in relation to any matter; or

6.3. any additional resolution/s are properly put before the meeting; or

6.4. any resolutions listed in the proxy form is modified or amended,

the proxy shall be entitled to vote or abstain from voting, as he thinks fit, in relation 
to the resolution or matter. If, however, the shareholder has provided further 
written instructions which accompany this form and which indicate how the proxy 
should vote or abstain from voting in any of the circumstances referred to in 6.1 to 
6.4, then the proxy shall comply with those instructions.

7. If this form is signed by a person (signatory) on behalf of the shareholder, whether in 
terms of a power of attorney or otherwise, then this form will not be effective unless:

7.1. it is accompanied by a certified copy of the authority given by the shareholder 
to the signatory; or

7.2. the Company has already received a certified copy of that authority.

8. The Chair of the meeting may, at his discretion, accept or reject any form or other 
written appointment of a proxy which is received by the Chairman prior to the time 
when the meeting deals with a resolution or matter to which the appointment of the 
proxy relates, even if that appointment of a proxy has not been completed and/or 
received in accordance with these instructions. However, the Chairman shall not 
accept any such appointment of a proxy unless the Chairman is satisfied that it 
reflects the intention of the shareholder appointing the proxy.

9. Any alternations made in this form must be initialled by the authorised signatory/ies.

10. This form is revoked if the shareholder who granted the proxy:

10.1. gives written notice of such revocation to the Company, so that it is received 
by the Company; or

10.2. appoints another proxy for the meeting; or

10.3. attends the meeting himself in person.

11. All notices which a shareholder is entitled to receive in relation to the Company 
shall continue to be sent to that shareholder and shall not be sent to the proxy.

12. A minor must be assisted by his/her guardian, unless proof of competency is 
provided, signed and has been recorded by the Company.

13. If duly authorised, companies and other corporate bodies which are shareholders  
of the Company having shares registered in their own name may, instead of 
completing this proxy form, appoint a representative to represent them and exercise 
all of their rights at the meeting by giving written notice of the appointment of  
that representative. This notice will not be effective at the meeting unless it is 
accompanied by a duly certified copy of the resolution/s or other authorities in 
terms of which that representative is appointed and is received at the Company’s 
transfer office, Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited,15 Biermann 
Avenue, Rosebank, Johannesburg, 2196, Republic of South Africa.
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SUMMARY OF RIGHTS ESTABLISHED BY SECTION 58 OF THE 
COMPANIES ACT, AS REQUIRED IN TERMS OF SUBSECTION 58(8)(B)(I).
1. A shareholder may at any time appoint any individual, including a non-shareholder 

of the Company, as a proxy to participate in, speak and vote at a shareholders’ 
meeting on his or her behalf (section 58(1)(a)), or to give or withhold consent on 
behalf of the shareholder to a decision in terms of section 60 (shareholders acting 
other than at a meeting) (section 58(1)(b)).

2. A proxy appointment must be in writing, dated and signed by the shareholder, and 
remains valid for one year after the date on which it was signed or any longer or 
shorter period expressly set out in the appointment, unless it is revoked in terms 
of paragraph 6.3 or expires earlier in terms of paragraph 10.4 below 
(section 58(2)).

3. A shareholder may appoint two or more persons concurrently as proxies and may 
appoint more than one proxy to exercise voting rights attached to different 
securities held by the shareholder (section 58(3)(a)).

4. A proxy may delegate his or her authority to act on behalf of the shareholder to 
another person, subject to any restriction set out in the instrument appointing the 
proxy (proxy instrument) (section 58(3)(b)).

5. A copy of the proxy instrument must be delivered to the Company, or to any other 
person acting on behalf of the Company, before the proxy exercises any rights of 
the shareholder at a shareholders’ meeting (section 58(3)(c)) and in terms of the 
Memorandum of Incorporation (MOI) of the Company.

6. Irrespective of the form of instrument used to appoint a proxy:

6.1. the appointment is suspended at any time and to the extent that the 
shareholder chooses to act directly and in person in the exercise of any rights 
as a shareholder (section 58(4)(a));

6.2. the appointment is revocable unless the proxy appointment states otherwise 
(section 58(4)(b)); and

6.3. if the appointment is revocable, a shareholder may revoke the proxy 
appointment by cancelling it in writing or by making a later, inconsistent 
appointment of a proxy, and delivering a copy of the revocation instrument 
to the proxy and to the Company (section 58(4)(c)).

7. The revocation of a proxy appointment constitutes a complete and final 
cancellation of the proxy’s authority to act on behalf of the shareholder as of the 
later of the date stated in the revocation instrument, if any, or the date on which 
the revocation instrument was delivered as contemplated in paragraph 6.3 above 
(section 58(5)).

8. If the proxy instrument has been delivered to a Company, as long as that 
appointment remains in effect, any notice required by the Companies Act or the 
Company’s MOI to be delivered by the Company to the shareholders must be 
delivered by the Company to the shareholders (section 58(6)(a)), or the proxy or 
proxies, if the shareholder has directed the Company to do so in writing and paid 
any reasonable fee charged by the Company for doing so (section 58(6)(b)).

9. A proxy is entitled to exercise, or abstain from exercising, any voting right of the 
shareholder without direction, except to the extent that the MOI or proxy 
instrument provides otherwise (section 58(7)).

10. If a Company issues an invitation to shareholders to appoint one or more persons 
named by the Company as a proxy, or supplies a form of proxy instrument:

10.1. the invitation must be sent to every shareholder entitled to notice of the 
meeting at which the proxy is intended to be exercised (section 58(8)(a)).

10.2. the invitation or form of proxy instrument supplied by the Company must:

10.2.1. bear a reasonably prominent summary of the rights established in 
section 58 of the Companies Act (section 58(8)(b)(i));

10.2.2. contain adequate blank space, immediately preceding the name(s) 
of any person(s) named in it, to enable a shareholder to write the 
name, and if desired, an alternative name of a proxy chosen by the 
shareholder (section 58(8)(b)(ii)); and

10.2.3. provide adequate space for the shareholder to indicate whether 
the appointed proxy is to vote in favour of or against any 
resolution(s), to be put at the meeting,

10.2.4. or is to abstain from voting (section 58(8)(b)(iii));

10.3. the Company must not require that the proxy appointment be made 
irrevocable (section 58(8)( c )); and

10.4. the proxy appointment remains valid only until the end of the meeting at which 
it was intended to be used, subject to paragraph 7 above (section 58(8)(d)).
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REGISTERED OFFICE
SPANJAARD LIMITED
748 — 750 Fifth Street
Wynberg
Sandton
2090

REGISTRATION NUMBER
1960/004393/06

COMPANY SECRETARY
Levitt Kirson Business Services Proprietary Limited
4th Floor, Aloe Grove
Houghton Estate Office Park
2 Osborn Road
Houghton
2198

DOMICILE
Republic of South Africa

TRANSFER SECRETARIES
Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited
Rosebank Towers
15 Biermann Avenue
Rosebank, Johannesburg
2196

AUDITORS
Nexia SAB&T
119 Witch-Hazel Avenue
Highveld Technopark
Centurion
0046

SPONSOR
Arbor Capital Sponsors 
20 Stirrup Lane
Woodmead Office Park
Corner Woodmead Drive and 
Van Reenens Avenue
Woodmead
2191
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